
BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 
 

22 May 2013 
 
 
A Meeting of the CABINET will be held on Thursday, 30th May, 2013, 6.00 pm in 
Committee Room 1 Marmion House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
NON CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Corporate Update  

 Title: Agile Working Update 
 
 Presenter: Director (Transformation & Corporate Performances) 
 

3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary) 
in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 
 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of such interest.  
Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   
 

5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 None 
 

6 Write Offs (Pages 7 - 16) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 
 
 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



7 Welfare Benefit Reform Discretionary Payments (Pages 17 - 36) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Public Housing and Vulnerable People and 
Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 

8 2014 Arts and Events Programme (Pages 37 - 58) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets and Portfolio Holder for 
Economy and Education) 
 

9 Tamworth Golf Course Future Options- Project Initiation (Pages 59 - 96) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Education) 
 

10 Planning Applications - Streamlining Information Requirements and 
Validation (Pages 97 - 116) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Education) 
 

 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
People who have a disability and who would like to attend the meeting should contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709264 or e-mail committees@tamworth.gov.uk 
preferably 24 hours prior to the meeting.  We can then endeavour to ensure that any 
particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
 
 
 
To Councillors: D Cook, R Pritchard, S Claymore, S Doyle, M Greatorex and J Oates 



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

CABINET 

HELD ON 10th APRIL 2013 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor D Cook (Chair), Councillors R Pritchard, S Claymore, 

S Doyle, M Greatorex and J Oates 

 
The following officers were present: Anthony E Goodwin (Chief Executive), John 
Wheatley (Executive Director Corporate Services), Jane Hackett (Solicitor to the 
Council and Monitoring Officer), Rob Barnes (Director - Housing and Health), 
Andrew Barratt (Director - Assets and Environment), Stefan Garner (Director of 
Finance), Anica Goodwin (Director - Transformation/Corporate Performance) 
and Robert Mitchell (Director - Communities, Planning and Partnerships) 
 
 
 
 

140 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
None 
 

141 CORPORATE UPDATE  

 
Cabinet agreed that the Director for Transformation and Corporate Performances’ 
update on Agile Working be postponed to the next Cabinet meeting. 
 

142 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 March 2013 were approved and signed as 
a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor J Oates and seconded by Councillor S Doyle) 
 

143 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

144 MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  

 
None. 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Cabinet 10 April 2013 

 

 

2 
 

145 ANNUAL REVIEW 2012/13 AND CORPORATE PLAN 2013/14  

 
The Report of the Leader of the Council informing Cabinet of the contents of the 
Annual Review and Corporate Plan was considered. 
 
RESOLVED:   That: 
 1 The Annual Review and Corporate Plan be approved, 

and; 
 2 The Leader in conjunction with the Chief Executive sign 

off the final proof prior to printing. 
 (Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R 

Pritchard) 
 
 

146 TEMPORARY RESERVES, RETAINED FUNDS AND PROVISIONS  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and Assets seeking 
Member approval for the establishment or retention of Temporary Reserves, 
Retained Funds and provisions, to write back to balances those reserves that 
have been identified as no longer being required was considered. 
 
RESOLVED:  That: 
 1 In principle the creation/retention of Temporary Reserves 

as detailed in the report  be approved, and consideration 
given as to whether a spending plan against each of the 
individual reserves will be required, and; 

 2 Should  the actual outturn level adversely vary from the 
predicted outturn, adjustments will be made and Members 
may be asked to review the creation of these reserves, 
and; 

 3 The write-back of reserves identified at Appendix D as no 
longer being required in the sum of £92,381 to General 
Fund Balances, to support the Medium –Term Financial 
strategy. 

  (Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by 
Councillor S Claymore) 

 
 

147 SCHEME OF DELEGATION DECISIONS  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and Assets seeking to 
comply with the Local Government Act 2000 and the Localism Act 2011 and any 
subordinate legislation which provide good governance for Local Authorities was 
considered. 
 
RESOLVED: That the list of decisions taken in terms of the Scheme of 

Delegation for the period 13 June 2012 to 3 April 2013 be 
endorsed. 

 (Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by 
Councillor D Cook) 

 

Page 2



Cabinet 10 April 2013 

 

 

3 
 

 
148 NORTH WARWICKSHIRE BOROUGH COUNCIL SITE ALLOCATIONS 

CONSULTATION  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise 
seeking to inform Members on the Site Allocations Plan Preferred Options of the 
North Warwickshire Local Plan in accordance with Regulations 18, 19 and 20 of 
the Town and country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012 and particular 
the Duty to Co-operate (Localism Act 2011), and seeking Cabinet approval of the 
comments to be made in response to the Site Allocations Plan Preferred Options 
of the North Warwickshire Local Plan was considered. 
 
RESOLVED:  That: 
 1 Comments to be made on the Site Allocations Plan 

Preferred Options (including Issues and Options) of the 
North Warwickshire Local Plan be approved, and; 

 2 North Warwickshire Borough Council be advised of 
Tamworth Borough Council’s desire to work with them on 
the further development of their plan. 

  (Moved by Councillor  S Claymore and seconded by 
Councillor R Pritchard) 

 
 

149 HIGHER LEVEL STEWARDSHIP ACTION PLAN  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Waste Management 
informing Members of the successful application for Higher Level Stewardship 
and of the subsequent delivery action plan, and seeking to approve the receipt 
and expenditure of the grant over the 10 year grant period was considered. 
 
RESOLVED: That the 10 year Higher Level Stewardship (HLS) action plan 

be endorsed, and the creation of necessary capital and 
revenue budgets applicable to this grant be approved. 

 (Moved by Councillor S Doyle and seconded by Councillor S 
Claymore) 

 
 

150 PROPOSED BROADMEADOW LOCAL NATURE RESERVE  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Waste Management 
informing members of the recent transfer of the Broadmeadow site into Council 
ownership and seeking to approve the attainment of Local Nature Reserve Status 
and future environmental improvements was considered. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the details of the report be noted, and; 
 1 The commencement of the tender process to create 

access to the land be approved and authority delegated to 
the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and 
Enterprise and the Director of Assets and Environment to 
enter into contract with the most viable tender and to 
obtain all necessary statutory approvals to facilitate this, 

Page 3



Cabinet 10 April 2013 

 

 

4 
 

and; 
 2 The Portfolio Holder and the Director of Assets and 

Environment be authorised to make the necessary 
arrangements for the designation process for 
Broadmeadow to attain Local Nature Reserve status, and; 

 3 The release of all of the Section 106 monies, currently 
£128,220 attributable to the site be authorised to enable 
the access works and environmental improvement to be 
undertaken. 

  (Moved by Councillor S Doyle and seconded by Councillor 
R Pritchard) 

 
 

151 PROPOSED RE-RELOCATION OF THE AMINGTON AND STONYDELPH 

LOCALITY WORKING COMMUNITY HUBS  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Community Development informing Cabinet 
of issues relating to Locality Working hub use to date and the business case 
supporting the need to move from the present hub locations and seeking approval 
to implement the proposed moves for the Amington and Stonydelph Locality 
Working hubs from their current locations and to reflect on and update the role of 
a community hub within the Locality Working (LW) model was considered. 
 
RESOLVED:  That: 
 1 The Report and progress to date be endorsed, and; 
 2 The proposed move of the Stonydelph hub from the 

Craven location to St. Martins Church (subject to final 
agreement from the Church) be approved, and; 

 3 The proposed move of the Amington Hub from the Kerria 
shop unit to the Kerria Youth Centre building (subject to 
final agreement from partner agencies) be approved. 

  (Moved by Councillor J Oates and seconded by Councillor 
D Cook) 

 
 
 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED: That members of the press and public be now excluded 

from the meeting during consideration of the following item 
on the grounds that the business involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 1 
and 3, Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
 
 

152 MEARS PERFORMANCE 2012/13  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing was considered. 
 

Page 4



Cabinet 10 April 2013 

 

 

5 
 

RESOLVED:  That the recommendations as contained in the report be 
approved. 

(Moved by Councillor M Greatorex and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 
 

  

 Leader  
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

30 May 2013 
 

 
REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 

 
 

WRITE OFFS 
 

 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
 
To provide members with details of write offs from 01 April 2012 to 31 March 2013 and to 
seek approval to write off irrecoverable debt. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That members endorse the amount of debt written off for the previous financial year and 
approve the write off of irrecoverable debt for Business Rates of £159,395.00 and Sundry 
Income of £54,038.97 respectively.   
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Heads of Service are responsible for the regular review of debts and consider the 
need for write off and authorise where necessary appropriate write offs in line with the 
Corporate Credit Policy. The first part of this report shows the position for the last financial 
year. Further updates will continue to be produced on a quarterly basis. 
 

Type     01/04/12-31/03/13 

Council Tax £34,385.68 

Business Rates                                                                       £538,110.39 

Sundry Income £26,045.94 

Housing Benefit Overpayments                                              £82,887.14 

 
The second part of the report is in respect of debts which are in excess of £10,000. 
 
Under Financial Regulations, debts for write-off greater than £10k require Cabinet 
authorisation and this report details such accounts. The amounts for Business Rates are 
attached in Appendix E and Sundry Income Appendix F. 
 
In light of the implementation of Business Rates Retention arrangements with effect from 01 
April 2013 and that the pre-April 2013 debts are due and collectable under the agency 
arrangement with the Government, it would seem appropriate to carry out a robust review for 
2012/13 (as part of any of those debts not collected in 2013/14 will fall on the Council).  A 
revised approach to the calculation of Business Rates bad debt has been developed which 
involves a review of all of the outstanding debts to ascertain whether they are likely to be 
collectable. This has then been used to determine the balance to apply the usual aged 
debtor percentage.  
 
With respect to the Sundry Income balance for write off of £54,038.97, provision has been 
made in full as part of the year end Bad Debt Provision calculation.         

Agenda Item 6

Page 7



 
Financial Implications 
 

Business Rates  

Bad Debt provision 778,833.35 

Less amount of write offs in this report 159,395.00 

Less amount written off to date under delegated powers 0.00 

Amount remaining 619,438.35 
 

 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The write offs detailed are subject to approval in line with the Corporate Credit 
Policy/Financial Regulations amended to reflect the revised calculation outlined above.  
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
Not applicable  
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Not applicable 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
This forms part of the Council’s Corporate Credit Policy and effective management of debt. 
 
The Council is committed to ensuring that debt write offs are kept to a minimum by taking 
all reasonable steps to collect monies due. There will be situations where the debt 
recovery process fails to recover some or all of the debt and will need to be considered for 
write off in accordance with the schemes of delegation prescribed in the Corporate Credit 
Policy. 
 
The Council views such cases very much as exceptions. Before writing off debt, the 
Council will satisfy itself that all reasonable steps have been taken to collect it and that no 
further recovery action is possible or practicable. It will take into account the age, size and 
types of debt together with any factors that it feels are relevant to the individual case. 
 
 
 
Debt Write Off 
 
Authorisations are needed to write off debt: 
 

Authority     Account Value   
Chief Officer     up to £5,000 
(or authorised delegated officer) 
Executive Director Corporate Services £5,001 - £10,000 
Cabinet     over £10,000 
 
These limits apply to each transaction. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
Bad Debt Provision 
 
The level of the provision must be reviewed jointly by the unit and Accountancy on at least 
a quarterly basis as part of the management performance review, and the table below 
gives the mandatory calculation. 
Where the debt is less than 6 months old it will be written back to the service unit. 
 
Debt Outstanding                                               Provision (net of VAT) 
Between 6 and 12 months old                                                       50% 
Between 12 and 24 months old                                                     75% 
Over 24 months old                                                                     100% 
 
The financial effects of providing for Bad Debts will be reflected in the Council’s accounts 
at Service Unit level. 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Michael Buckland, Head of Revenues, Tel 709523 
e-mail michael-buckland@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Corporate Credit Policy - effective management of debt 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendices A to D give details of write offs completed for Revenues and Benefits Services 
for 01 April 2012 to 31March 2013 
Appendix E gives details of national non domestic rate write offs 
Appendix F gives details of sundry income write offs  
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 A
- 

C
o

u
n

c
il
 T

a
x
 

Page 11



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 B
- 

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 R

a
te

s
 

Page 12



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 C
- 

M
is

c
e
ll
a
n

e
o

u
s
 I

n
c
o

m
e
 

Page 13



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 D
- 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 B

e
n

e
fi

t 
O

v
e

rp
a

y
m

e
n

ts
 

Page 14



N
N

D
R

 P
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
W

ri
te

 O
ff

s
 O

v
e

r 
£

1
0

,0
0

0

In
s

o
lv

e
n

c
ie

s
N

a
m

e
R

e
f

Y
e

a
r 

o
f 

L
ia

b
il

it
y

L
ia

b
le

F
ro

m

L
ia

b
le

 T
o

B
a

la
n

c
e

 

(p
e

ri
o

d
)

B
a

la
n

c
e

 (
o

v
e

ra
ll

)
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

G
u

lf
c
a

p
e

 L
td

2
0

0
1

2
1

5
2

1
2

0
1

1
/1

2
1

9
/0

1
/1

2
0

1
/0

4
/1

2
8

,4
6

2
.2

5
£

  
  

  
  

  

2
0

1
2

/1
3

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

2
9

/0
9

/1
2

2
2

,0
3

0
.4

3
£

  
  

  
  

3
0

,4
9

2
.6

8
£

  
  

  
  

  
C

e
a

s
e

d
 t

ra
d

in
g

, 
u

n
a

b
le

 t
o

 t
ra

c
e

H
e

a
rt

la
n

d
s
 T

ra
v
e

l 
L

td
2

0
0

1
0

8
3

6
5

2
0

0
8

/0
9

0
9

/1
0

/0
8

0
1

/0
4

/0
9

4
,0

3
4

.3
4

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
0

0
9

/1
0

0
1

/0
4

/0
9

0
1

/0
6

/0
9

1
,5

2
8

.9
9

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
0

0
1

1
5

6
5

1
2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

1
/0

8
/1

0
0

1
/0

4
/1

1
1

5
,3

9
2

.6
9

£
  

  
  

  

2
0

1
1

/1
2

0
1

/0
4

/1
1

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

2
3

,4
1

7
.7

5
£

  
  

  
  

2
0

1
2

/1
3

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

2
1

/0
5

/1
2

3
,2

3
1

.7
0

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
0

0
1

0
5

5
9

2
2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

1
/0

4
/1

0
0

1
/0

4
/1

1
7

4
6

.9
9

£
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

2
0

1
1

/1
2

0
1

/0
4

/1
1

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

1
,2

1
2

.4
0

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
0

1
2

/1
3

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

2
1

/0
5

/1
2

1
7

2
.6

0
£

  
  

  
  

  
  
 

4
9

,7
3

7
.4

6
£

  
  

  
  

  
C

o
m

p
u

ls
o

ry
 l
iq

u
id

a
ti
o

n
 2

1
/0

5
/2

0
1

2

K
is

s
 C

a
rd

s
 L

td
2

0
0

1
1

9
1

3
4

2
0

1
2

/1
3

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

0
6

/0
8

/1
2

1
0

,0
4

4
.9

3
£

  
  

  
  

1
0

,0
4

4
.9

3
£

  
  

  
  

  
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 c

re
d

it
o

rs
 l
iq

u
id

a
ti
o

n
 

2
1

/0
1

/2
0

1
3

2
0

0
1

0
9

6
4

7
2

0
0

8
/0

9
0

4
/0

3
/0

9
0

1
/0

4
/0

9
1

,9
4

8
.3

8
£

  
  

  
  

  

2
0

0
9

/1
0

0
1

/0
4

/0
9

0
4

/0
1

/1
0

1
9

,5
7

8
.0

5
£

  
  

  
  

2
1

,5
2

6
.4

3
£

  
  

  
  

  
C

e
a

s
e

d
 t

ra
d

in
g

, 
u

n
a

b
le

 t
o

 t
ra

c
e

2
0

0
1

2
3

9
3

4
2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

1
/1

1
/1

0
0

1
/0

4
/1

1
1

,7
8

2
.9

6
£

  
  

  
  

  

2
0

1
1

/1
2

0
1

/0
4

/1
1

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

4
,8

4
8

.0
0

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
0

1
2

/1
3

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

0
4

/0
3

/1
3

4
,6

5
5

.2
7

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
0

0
1

0
0

1
2

9
2

0
1

1
/1

2
2

6
/0

8
/1

1
2

4
/1

1
/1

1
8

4
0

.9
8

£
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
4

/1
1

/1
1

1
9

/0
1

/1
2

4
7

0
.3

9
£

  
  

  
  

  
  
 

1
2

,5
9

7
.6

0
£

  
  

  
  

  
B

a
n

k
ru

p
tc

y
 0

4
/0

3
/2

0
1

3

2
0

0
1

0
4

1
5

8
2

0
0

8
/0

9
2

3
/1

0
/0

8
0

1
/0

4
/0

9
1

,2
5

5
.9

0
£

  
  

  
  

  

2
0

0
9

/1
0

0
1

/0
4

/0
9

0
1

/0
3

/1
0

8
,1

6
9

.5
0

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
0

0
9

/1
0

0
1

/0
3

/1
0

0
1

/0
4

/1
0

7
5

1
.7

5
£

  
  

  
  

  
  
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

0
1

/0
4

/1
0

0
7

/0
4

/1
0

1
1

5
.5

7
£

  
  

  
  

  
  
 

2
0

0
1

1
9

3
4

X
2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

7
/0

4
/1

0
0

8
/0

4
/1

0
1

9
.2

7
£

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
0

,3
1

1
.9

9
£

  
  

  
  

  
C

e
a

s
e

d
 t

ra
d

in
g

, 
u

n
a

b
le

 t
o

 t
ra

c
e

T
a

m
w

o
rt

h
 G

o
lf
 C

e
n

tr
e

 L
td

2
0

0
0

9
9

5
0

3
2

0
1

1
/1

2
0

1
/0

4
/1

1
0

1
/0

4
/1

2
1

,1
5

1
.4

6
£

  
  

  
  

  

2
0

1
1

/1
2

0
1

/0
4

/1
1

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

1
6

,5
4

1
.0

0
£

  
  

  
  

2
0

1
2

/1
3

0
1

/0
4

/1
2

0
6

/0
2

/1
3

6
,9

9
1

.4
5

£
  

  
  

  
  

2
4

,6
8

3
.9

1
£

  
  

  
  

  
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 c

re
d

it
o

rs
 l
iq

u
id

a
ti
o

n
 

2
1

/0
3

/2
0

1
3

T
o

ta
l 

fo
r 

w
ri

te
 o

ff
:

1
5

9
,3

9
5

.0
0

£
  

 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 E

Page 15



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 F
- 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

W
ri

te
 O

ff
 o

f 
S

u
n

d
ry

 I
n

c
o

m
e
 D

e
b

t 
o

v
e
r 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
 

Page 16



CABINET 
 

 
30TH May 2013 

 
 
REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR HOUSING & VULNERABLE PEOPLE AND 

PORTFOLIO FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 

 
 

Welfare Benefit Reform Discretionary Awards  
 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
 
PURPOSE 
To update Cabinet on the discretionary schemes provided by the Council to temporarily 
mitigate the impact of and support the transition for some vulnerable residents in 
implementing changes required by the Government’s Welfare Benefit Reform programme. 
 
To seek approval for a proposed Discretionary Award for Council Tax scheme to be 
introduced. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet approve: 
 
1. the implementation of the Discretionary Award for Council Tax Scheme; 
 
2. the landlord hardship fund as a separate fund available to council tenants, for 

the commercial interests of the HRA; and  
 

3. a Direction be sought from the Department for Communities & Local 
Government (DCLG) on this basis.  

 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On 25th July 2012 Cabinet received a report detailing the impact of Welfare Benefit Reform. 
Members have also had the opportunity to attend two seminars on this subject. 
 
It has been recognised that the implementation of Welfare Benefit Reform will lead to a 
significant change in circumstances for many households.  This may require a period of 
transition for some households during which time it is envisaged that additional support may 
be required from the Council and other agencies to mitigate negative social and economic 
impacts. 
 
It is important to note that any additional support provided does not undermine the intentions 
of Government policy in implementing the reforms but are measures which support the 
transition, particularly for the most vulnerable households. 
 
As part to the Council’s approach to this it is intended that there will be three areas where 
financial support will be provided. 
 
Firstly, a ‘hardship fund’ has been established specifically for Council tenants. This limited 
resource is intended to mitigate particular impacts to Council tenants arising from Welfare 
Benefit Reform. By providing temporary support to qualifying tenants the fund is intended to 
mitigate social consequences from debt and potential homelessness and reduce costs to the 
Local Authority arising from court action and void costs. Current resources allocated for this 

Agenda Item 7

Page 17



purpose are £20k. This scheme has been subject to a Scheme of Delegation item for 
approval and details of the Landlord Services Hardship fund are set out at Annex One. 
 
In addition, through a Government funded scheme, the Council has the ability to make 
Discretionary Housing Benefit Payments (DHP) in certain circumstances.  This represents a 
temporary topping up of housing benefit to reduce the gap between rental costs and the level 
of benefit awarded.  In considering applications the Council will consider the individual 
circumstances of the applicant including health and wellbeing issues and impact of making 
an award. The majority of awards are made to private sector tenants where the risks of 
eviction are considered greater.  The total amount available for this is £111k.  The 
Discretionary Housing Payment policy is attached at Annex Two. 
 
Approval is also now sought for a scheme to provide discretionary awards in relation to 
Council Tax.  As a result of the Welfare Reform Act in 2012 the Government announced it's 
proposal to reduce the amount it would spend on Council Tax Benefit. They requested that 
Councils run their own Local Council Tax Support Schemes. 
 
The Local Council Tax Support Scheme for Tamworth was endorsed by the Council on 13 
December 2012. 

On 1st April 2013 the new Local Council Tax Support Scheme replaced the Council Tax 
Benefit scheme for working age claimants.  Reductions to Local Government grants means 
that the new scheme for working age claimants is not as generous as the old rules. The 
Government has said that Councils must protect pensioners in the scheme. Those of State 
Pension Credit age and not in receipt of any working age benefits are protected from any 
reductions to entitlement. 

Under Section 13A(1)(a) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as inserted by Section 
76 of the Local Government Act 2003), the Council has the power to reduce liability for 
Council Tax in relation to individual cases or class(es) of cases that it may determine and 
where national discounts and exemptions cannot be applied. 

The scheme is unconnected to Universal Credit and the Council does not expect to use 
Discretionary Council Tax awards as a general supplement to the level of Universal Credit 
paid.  
       
The Council will only consider using its powers to reduce Council Tax liability for any Council 
Tax payer in exceptional circumstances. The Council will treat all applications on their 
individual merits. However, there must be evidence of financial hardship or personal 
circumstances that justifies a reduction in the Council Tax liability. 
 
Any award given will reduce income levels for the Council and its preceptors and will 
therefore be granted sparingly.  The Local Council Tax Support Scheme for Tamworth policy 
is attached at Annex Three. 
 
In administering the above schemes the teams will coordinate activity and exchange 
information to ensure the best use is made of these limited resources.  Qualifying criteria for 
the schemes have been developed to be complementary.  For example households who 
have already received an award of discretionary housing benefit will not qualify for 
assistance from the Tenants Hardship Fund. 
 
The funds available are limited and awards will be dependent on the availability of budget. As 
a result these resources will be aimed to mitigate the impacts for the most vulnerable 
households. 
 
These funds are not intended to diminish the outcomes of Government policy or to subsidise 
reductions in the overall cost of welfare benefits. As a result the intention is that any support 
will be time limited to support a transition for the affected household. 
 

Page 18



In addition to the above, households who are affected by homelessness will have access to 
support through the Council’s homelessness prevention services. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
A budget of £20k has been provided to fund awards to Council Tenants under the Landlord 
Services Hardship fund. 
 
The Government has indicated that it will provide grant funding up to a maximum of c. £111k 
to fund Discretionary Housing Payments in 2013/14 – and costs in addition to this will fall on 
the Council’s budgets, up to an overall limit set by the Department for Work & Pensions 
(DWP) of c. £279k. 
 
Any awards given to reduce Council Tax liabilities will reduce income levels for the Council 
and its preceptors (through the Collection Fund) and will therefore be granted sparingly. 
Overall collection fund income levels are monitored regularly and any significant variances 
will be reported by exception as part of the Quarterly Performance Healthcheck report. 
 
By making available discretionary awards to support households in making the transition 
required by Welfare Benefit Reform the Council is able to reduce other potential costs for 
example Void Costs, legal costs etc.  In addition the Council is able to maintain the ability for 
the resident to make further payments in the future.  
 
Correspondence has recently been received from the DCLG regarding the situation where 
some local housing authorities may wish to make payments under the Discretionary Housing 
Payments scheme, in exceptional cases, to tenants living in the council’s own housing stock.  

The legislation underpinning the operation of the housing revenue account is not clear on the 
issue of making such payments to the council’s own tenants from the housing revenue 
account, though payments may continue to be made from the council’s general fund.  

It goes on to say that where a local housing authority wishes to make DHP available to its 
own tenants through the housing revenue account, the Department is prepared, upon receipt 
of a written application, to issue a Direction (under Item 9 Credit and Item 10 Debit), putting 
the matter beyond doubt for individual authorities. The view of the DCLG is that many 
Council’s DHP funds are being exhausted and this Direction would allow Council’s to 
formulate local arrangements. 

It is not recommended that a Direction be sought to extend the DHP scheme using HRA 
funds, however, the landlord hardship fund was established by relying on existing legislation 
and such a Direction whilst considered unnecessary, is now prudent to support the delivery 
of a separate hardship fund within the HRA.  
 
The Council would need to address issues of equity if it includes HRA subsidy of the DHP 
within its hardship schemes.  However the HRA landlord Fund and DHP are separate funds 
available for those experiencing economic hardship.  An additional test for the HRA funded 
scheme will be the commercial impact on the HRA also.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
There are some key risks related to the implementation of these schemes.  Although the 
detailed risks vary between the schemes there are some consistent issues: 
 

 Risk Mitigation 
 

There may be an expectation from 
customers that the Council will be able to 
entirely bridge any reduction in benefits. 

The qualifying criteria are clearly set out for 
each scheme to ensure that customers are 
clear of the circumstances which would 
result in an award.  It will be made clear to 
applicants at every stage that any award is 
for a limited period. 

Some customers may receive two or more 
awards and keep coming back for more.   

For each of the schemes there will be no 
repeat qualification for support in the year.  
In addition although it may be that a 
customer may receive both support with 
Council Tax and support with rental 
payments no customer will be supported 
through both the Discretionary Benefit 
Payment and Landlord Hardship fund. 

Some households will miss out because the 
available resources are limited. 

Unfortunately the Council has only limited 
resources available with which to seek to 
mitigate the impact of Welfare Benefit 
Reform. This will be communicated to 
customers and the Council will maintain 
discretion to target the resources to the 
most vulnerable. 

Even with these schemes in place some 
households will be impacted by Welfare 
Benefit Reform including even losing their 
homes. 

It should be noted that these schemes will 
have a limited impact in reducing the impact 
of Welfare Benefit Reform.  However it is 
not possible or desirable for the Council to 
seek to undermine the intentions of 
Government policy. 

  
 

 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
The impact of debt is well documented and the provision of these schemes is part of the 
Council’s approach to mitigating some of these impacts.  The risks to many households 
arising from the implementation of Welfare Benefit Reform includes homelessness which has 
a range of health and wellbeing impacts which undermine the Council’s Corporate objectives.  
The provision of support to households will help to reduce these risks. 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR   
Director Housing and Health, Director Finance 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Annex One: Landlord Hardship Fund Policy 
Annex Two: Discretionary Housing Payments Policy 

Page 20



Annex Three: Local Council Tax Support Scheme Policy 
 

 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

  March 2013 

 
 

 
LANDLORD SERVICES HARDSHIP FUND 

 
Introduction 
 
A hardship fund is available to alleviate some of the problems associated with extreme 
indebtedness and poverty. The fund is currently £20,000 per annum and will be awarded 
on a basis of need until such time that the fund is exhausted.   This will be met from the 
Housing Revenue Account under such will be paid as a payment and not a loan.  
 
Tamworth Borough Council recognises that some of its council tenants suffer severe 
hardship, putting their home and family at risk, without the means to help themselves 
especially with the changes in welfare benefits. 
 
This scheme is open to all Tamworth Borough Council tenants and will be managed by the 
income team. 
 
 
Purpose of the scheme 
 

• To assist council tenants who have severe debt issues affecting the payment of 
monies to Tamworth Borough Council.  

 

• To assist council tenants in reducing debts by arranging to match customer 
payments. 

 

• To assist council tenants on a one off basis. 
 

• To encourage the ownership of financial matters for council tenants and develop 
financial capability in individuals (payments conditional on customers engaging in 
budgeting skills training). 

 

• To assist council tenants with non dependants for a period of up to 3 months as 
long as they are working with the Tamworth Borough Council to engage the non 
dependant in making the required payments.  

 

• To assist council tenants who are subject to a under occupancy charge and  have a 
maximum of 3 months until their circumstance will meet the bedroom requirements 
and they have no means of paying the charge. 

 

• To assist emerging Tamworth Borough Council households up to a maximum of 3 
months until their circumstances will meet the appropriate bedroom need. 

 

• To assist council tenants who have been affected by the welfare reforms 
particularly those who have had their benefit capped in seeking and preparing for 
work.  

 

Page 23



 

  March 2013 

• To identify other hardship funds that may be beneficial to the council tenant. 
 

• To assist council tenants to move to smaller accommodation. 
 

• To alleviate poverty. 
 
 
Who can apply? 
 
Tamworth Borough Council tenants 
 

•  Who owe Tamworth Borough Council more than £400 
 

•  Who have combined debts of amounts in excess of £3,000  
(In addition to the debt owed to Tamworth Borough Council) 

 

• Are excluded from applying if they are the subject of any investigation in relation to 
any breach of tenancy condition or the debt has arisen because of a deliberate act 
of the tenant (vandalism of the property, fraudulent activity) 

 
Employees of Tamworth Borough Council are not eligible to apply to the Hardship Fund. 
Employees in hardship should contact their Human Resource Department.  
 
Exceptions 
 

If an application does not meet the required criteria, but the Tamworth Borough 
Council tenant has suffered hardship due to illness, loss of partner, redundancy or 
any other life changing event and it is felt that a one off payment may help the 
tenant sustain their accommodation then an application should be submitted. 
These applications will be assessed on an individual basis. 
 

Who can complete the application? 
 

• The  Tamworth Borough Council tenant 
 

• By a representative of the council tenant (including employees of Tamworth 
Borough Council) subject to signed consent being granted by the tenant. 

 

• And any other Advocate or Money Mate 
 

Representatives should advise the council tenant of other funds/charities that may 
be able to assist.  

 
Outcome 
 
Successful applicants may receive assistance up to a maximum level of £250 either by: 
 

• Matching payments off arrears for a period of 13 weeks up to a maximum of £250 
in total (the assistance being payable at the end of the period if the council tenant 

Page 24



 

  March 2013 

maintains agreed repayments arrangements).  If the council tenant is on a limited 
income and can only pay minimal amounts, the full award will be given. The less 
well off in an arrears matching process would otherwise receive less help towards 
the debt.  Failure to maintain the repayment agreement will render the agreement 
void. 

 

• The arrangement will be subject to a 4 weekly review with the Income Maximisation 
Co ordinator through pre arranged appointments. Failure to participate in reviews 
will render the agreement void. 

 

• A one off payment up to the value of £250 to the account in exceptional 
circumstances (exceptional circumstances may be any of the following debts: 
preventing access to housing; preventing homelessness; major trauma; no 
disposable income; high proportion of expenditure for essential items where this is 
an example of value for money i.e. cheaper funding than more expensive options). 

 
 
Conditions 
 
 
 Tamworth Council tenants must: 
 

• Complete an income and expenditure form 
 

• Consider Debt Counselling 
 

• Participate in a Welfare Benefit assessment to identify unclaimed benefits 
 

• Provide proof of ‘other’ debts 
 

• Disclose if an application has been made to any other Hardship Fund 
 

• Supply all information within 3 months of the date of the application otherwise 
application will be closed. 

 

• Agree to undertake training for budgeting skills as determined by the panel 
assessing the application. 

 

• Successful claims will require the council tenant to demonstrate that they will make 
every effort to maintain regular payments until such time as the debt(s) owed to 
Tamworth Borough Council are cleared in full.  Evidence will be a commitment to 
the Income Maximisation Co ordinator, referral to Citizens Advice Bureau, or any 
other partner agency and proof of attendance at budgeting skills training session. 

 

• Only one application per household can be made. 
 
Assessing the Claim 
 

• The Income Maximisation Co ordinator will ensure that the qualifying criteria is met 

Page 25



 

  March 2013 

 

• A letter will be sent to the council tenant acknowledging the application with a 
timescale of expected decision. 

 

• The application is assessed for any income maximisation opportunities. 
 

• A Panel consisting of 1 member from the Tenancy Sustainment Team and an 
officer at Housing Manager Level 7 will consider the application for council tenants.  
This must be officers who have had no dealings with account.   

 

• The application needs to be considered as soon as possible after receipt and in any 
event within 10 working days of a completed application. 

 

• Following the decision, the council tenant will be informed in writing within 5 days of 
the decision being made.  The Income Maximisation Co ordinator will retain files 
and inform relevant staff of the outcome.  The decision will include requirements of 
the applicant to undertake necessary debt advice and/or budget skill training. 

 

• In the case of successful application from a tenant, the Housing Officer will monitor 
the account if an arrears repayment match is approved.  Where payment is 
required to the account, the Tenancy Sustainment Team will process payment to 
the account 

 
The panel will consider the application taking into account: 
 

• The reason for the debt 
 

• Attempts to reduce the debt  
 

• Attempts to find smaller accommodation 
 

• Attempts to find work or training  
 

• Mitigating circumstances such as ill health or trauma 
 

• Vulnerability 
 

• A  request for a Discretionary Housing Payment has been refused 
 

• Determine the contract details for the applicant to meet, for example, debt advice, 
budget skill training  

 
 
Authority 
 

• The Panel has the discretion to award any amount up to the maximum of £250 via 
‘match arrears repayments’ or one off grant 

 

Page 26



 

  March 2013 

• There will be no right of appeal as the fund is a voluntary arrangement offered by 
Tamworth Borough Council Housing and Health department to Tamworth Council 
Tenants. 

 
 
 
 
Sue Philp 
Tenancy Sustainment Manager 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



TBC Discretionary Housing Payment Policy - last updated April 2013 

Tamworth Borough Council  
- POLICY  -  

DISCRETIONARY HOUSING 

PAYMENTS 

 
 

Table of Contents  
1. Background  
2. Benefits Team Policy  
3. Statement of objectives  
4. Claiming a DHP  
5. Period of award  
6. Awarding a DHP  
7. Changes of circumstances  
8. Method of payment  
9. Notification  
10. The right to request reconsideration  
11. Overpayments  
12. Publicity  
13. Fraud 
 
1. BACKGROUND  
1.1. Discretionary Housing Payments are not payments of benefit. They are 
separate to the Housing Benefit scheme, to be made at the discretion of the 
Local Authority and are subject to an annual cash limit. Every customer entitled 
to at least £0.50 Housing Benefit can make a claim for help to meet the shortfall 
in their liability.  
1.2 The main features of the scheme are that  

 ♦  it is discretionary; a customer does not have a statutory right to a 
payment 

 ♦  the amount that can be paid out by an authority in any financial year is 
cash limited by the Secretary of State  

 ♦  the administration of the scheme is for the Benefits Team to make 
decisions upon  

 ♦  DHPs are not a payment of Housing Benefit. However the minimum 
amount of Housing Benefit (£0.50) must be in payment in the benefit 
week that a DHP is requested for 

 
 
 
 

Page 29



TBC Discretionary Housing Payment Policy - last updated April 2013 

2. BENEFITS TEAM POLICY  
2.1 The purpose of the policy is to specify how Tamworth Borough Council’s 
Benefits Team will operate the scheme and to indicate some of the factors that 
will be considered when deciding if a DHP can be made. Each case will be 
treated strictly on its merits and all customers will be treated equally and fairly 
when the scheme is administered.  
 
2.2 The Benefits Team is committed to working with the local voluntary sector 
and social landlords to maximise entitlement to all available state benefits and 
this will be reflected in the administration of the DHP schemes. 
  
3. STATEMENT OF OBJECTIVES  
3.1 The Benefits Team Leaders will consider making a payment of DHP to all 
customers who meet the qualifying criteria as specified in this policy. They will 
treat all applications on their individual merits and will seek through the operation 
of this policy to:  

 ♦  alleviate poverty  
 ♦  support vulnerable young people in the transition to adult life  
 ♦  encourage residents of the Council to obtain and sustain employment  
 ♦  safeguard Council residents in their homes  
 ♦  help those who are trying to help themselves  
 ♦  keep families together  
 ♦  support the vulnerable in the local community  
 ♦  help claimants through personal crises and difficult events  

 
3.2 The DHP scheme should be seen as a short-term emergency fund. It is not 
and should not be considered as a way round any current or future entitlement 
restrictions set out within the Housing Benefit legislation.  
 
4. CLAIMING A DHP  
4.1 A claim for a DHP must be made in writing using one of Tamworth Borough 
Council’s specially designed application forms, and signed by the customer. The 
form will be date stamped and will count as the date of claim. The customer will 
be required to submit the form to the Benefits Team without delay and will be 
encouraged to include any relevant supporting evidence.  

 ♦  The Benefits Team Leaders may make written requests for any 
evidence in support of an application for DHP. The customer will be 
asked to provide the evidence within 14 days of such a request 
although this will be extended in appropriate circumstances.  

 ♦  If the customer is unable to or does not provide the required 
evidence, the Benefits Team Leaders will still consider the 
application and will in any event take into account any other available 
evidence including that held on the benefit file.  

♦    A one-off lump sum payment can be awarded – e.g for removal      
costs, rent deposits or rent in advance  

  

Page 30



TBC Discretionary Housing Payment Policy - last updated April 2013 

 ♦  The Benefits Team reserves the right to verify any information or 
evidence provided by the customer in appropriate circumstances.  

 
5. PERIOD OF AWARD  

 
5.1 In all cases the Benefits Team Leaders will decide the length of time for 
which a DHP will be awarded on the basis of the evidence supplied and the facts 
known.  
 
5.2 The start date of an award will normally be the Monday after the claim for a 
DHP is received by the Benefits Team. The Team cannot award a DHP for any 
period outside an existing Housing Benefit period granted under the Housing 
Benefit scheme.  

 ♦  The minimum period for which the Benefits Team will award a DHP is 
one week.  

 ♦  The maximum period for which the Benefits Team will award a DHP 
is at the discretion of Benefits Team Leaders, depending on the 
circumstances of the applicant. 

 ♦  The Benefits Team will consider any reasonable request for 
backdating an award of DHP but such consideration will be limited to 
the current financial year.  

 
6. AWARDING A DHP  

 
6.1 In deciding whether to award a DHP the Benefits Team Leaders will take into 
account:  

 ♦  the shortfall between Housing Benefit and rent liability;  
 ♦  any steps taken by the customer to reduce the rental liability;  
 ♦  the medical circumstances (ie. ill health and disabilities) of the 

claimant, their partner and any other occupants of the customer’s 
home;  

 ♦  the customer’s income, including any benefits disregarded for 
Housing Benefit purposes, their partner’s income and that of any 
other occupants of their home;  

 ♦ the customer’s outgoings where they are reasonable and necessary 
for day to day living (money spent on luxury items will not be 
allowable expenditure).  Some elements of a customer’s rent are 
ineligible for consideration, e.g charges for water, sewerage and 
environmental services, and any increase in rent due to outstanding 
rent arrears   

 ♦  any savings or capital that might be held by the customer or their 
family;  

 ♦  the level of indebtedness of the customer or their family  
 ♦  the exceptional nature of the customer and their family's 

circumstances;  

Page 31



TBC Discretionary Housing Payment Policy - last updated April 2013 

 ♦  the amount available in the DHP budget at the time of the 
application;  

 ♦  the possible impact on the Council of not making such an award, 
eg. the pressure on priority homeless accommodation;  

♦  whether or not a DHP has previously been paid. 
 ♦  any other special circumstances brought to the attention of the 

Benefits Team.  
 
6.2 The Benefits Team Leaders will decide how much to award based on all of 
the circumstances. This may be an amount below the difference between the 
rent liability and the payment of Housing Benefit. An award of a DHP does not 
guarantee that a further award will be made at a later date even if the customer’s 
circumstances have not changed. 
             
7. CHANGES OF CIRCUMSTANCES  

 
7.1 The Benefits Team Leaders will need to reconsider an award of a DHP where 
the customer's circumstances have materially changed.  
 
8. METHOD OF PAYMENT  

 
8.1 The Benefits Team Leaders will decide the most appropriate person to pay 
based upon the circumstances of each case. This could include paying:  

 ♦  the customer  
 ♦  their partner  
 ♦  an appointee  
 ♦  their landlord (or an agent of the landlord), or  

any third party to whom it might be most appropriate to make 
payment  
 

8.2 The Benefits Team will pay an award of DHP by the most appropriate means 
available in each case. This could include payment:  

♦  by BACS (private tenants)  
♦  by cheque  (private tenants)  

 
8.3 The payment frequency for Private tenants will be as per the payment cycle 
for Housing Benefit. The payment frequency for Council tenants will be weekly.   
 
9. NOTIFICATION  

 
9.1 The Benefits Team Leaders will inform the customer in writing of the outcome 
of their application within 14 days of receipt of all relevant information, where 
requested. If the application is unsuccessful the Benefits Team leaders will set 
out the reasons why this decision was made and explain the process to request a 
review of the decision. Where the application is successful the Benefits team 
Leader will advise:  

Page 32



TBC Discretionary Housing Payment Policy - last updated April 2013 

 ♦  the weekly amount of DHP awarded  
 ♦  the period of the award  
 ♦  how, when and to whom the award will be paid  
 ♦  the requirement to report a change of circumstances  

 
10. THE RIGHT TO REQUEST A RECONSIDERATION  

 
10.1 Discretionary Housing Payments are not payments of Housing Benefit and 
so are not subject to the statutory appeals mechanism.  
 
10.2 The Benefits Team will adhere to the following policy for dealing with 
reconsiderations about unsuccessful requests for a DHP, a decision to award a 
reduced amount of DHP, a decision not to backdate a DHP or a decision that 
there has been an overpayment of a DHP.  
 
10.3 A customer (or their appointee or agent) who disagrees with a DHP decision 
may dispute the decision. A request for reconsideration should be made in 
writing to the Benefits Team within a calendar month of the written notification of 
decision being issued to the customer. Where this has not already been done the 
Benefits Team will explain the DHP decision to the customer by telephone, at 
interview or in writing and will seek to resolve the matter.  
 
10.4 Where agreement cannot be reached, the other Benefits Team Leader will 
consider the case. The second Benefits Team Leader will review all the evidence 
held and will make a decision within 14 days of the referral or as soon as 
practicable thereafter.  
 
10.5 Where the second Benefits Team Leader upholds the original decision, 
he/she will notify the customer of their decision, in writing, setting out the reasons 
for their decision. This decision is final and binding and may only be challenged 
via the judicial process or by complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.  
 
10.6 In exceptional circumstances only, all of the above time periods for 
reconsideration may be extended.  
 
10.7 Unless a change of circumstances has occurred, the Benefits Team Leader 
may not recommend a reduction in an award already notified.  
 
11. OVERPAYMENTS  

 
11.1 The Benefits Team Leader will seek to recover any DHP found to be 
overpaid. Normally this will involve issuing an invoice to the customer or the 
person to whom the award was paid. Recovery of Official Error Local Authority 
overpayments will not be sought.   
 
 

Page 33



TBC Discretionary Housing Payment Policy - last updated April 2013 

 
 
 
12. PUBLICITY  

 
12.1 The Benefits Team will publicise the scheme and will work with all interested 
parties to achieve this. A copy of this policy statement is available for inspection 
and is posted on Tamworth Borough Council’s web site. Information about the 
amount spent will be publicised at the end of the financial year.  
 
13. FRAUD  

 
13.1 The Benefits Team is committed to the fight against fraud in. A customer 
who tries to fraudulently claim a DHP by falsely declaring their circumstances or 
by providing a false statement or evidence in support of their application may 
have committed an offence under the Theft Act 1968. Where the Benefits Team 
suspects that such a fraud may have occurred, the matter will be investigated as 
appropriate and this may lead to criminal proceedings being instigated.  

 

Page 34



Tamworth Borough Council 
-Policy- 

Council Tax Discretionary Awards 

 
Background 
 
A Discretionary Award of Council Tax is made at the discretion of the Local 
Authority under Section 13A(1)(a) of Local Government Finance Act 1992.  
 
It is a lowering of your Council Tax liability for a short period to help customers 
pay their Council Tax. Any award given will reduce income levels for the 
Council and its preceptors and will therefore be granted sparingly. 
 
It is not a payment under the Local Council Tax Reduction scheme, which is 
claimed via the Benefits Team. 
 
The Council will consider all claims for a Discretionary Award on their 
individual merits and all customers will be treated equally and fairly. 
 
How to claim a Discretionary Award  
 
A claim for a Discretionary Award must be made in writing using one of 
Tamworth Borough Council’s specially designed application forms, and signed 
by the customer. The form will be date stamped and will count as the date of 
claim. The customer will be required to submit the form to the Benefits Team 
without delay and will be encouraged to include any relevant supporting 
evidence.  
 
We may make written requests for any evidence in support of an application 
and reserve the right to verify any information or evidence provided by the 
customer in appropriate circumstances. 
 
How do we decide whether or not to award a Discretionary Award?  
 
. Some or all of the following criteria should be met:  
 

• There must be evidence of financial hardship or personal 
circumstances that justifies a reduction in the Council Tax liability.  

• The taxpayer must satisfy the Council that they have taken all 
reasonable steps to resolve their situation prior to the claim.  

• The taxpayer must have claimed a Local Council Tax Reduction and 
supplied any information or evidence requested by the Benefit Section 
in respect of that claim.  

• The taxpayer must have applied for any appropriate discount or 
exemption and supplied any information or evidence requested by the 
Council Tax section in respect of that application  

• The taxpayer does not have access to other assets that could be used 
to pay Council Tax.  

• The Council's finances allow for a reduction to be made.  
 

Page 35



The initial decision regarding whether a reduction is awarded, and the level of 
the reduction will be made by the Benefits Team and endorsed by the 
Revenues Team. 
 
Period of Award 
 
It depends on the circumstances because the amount of money available is 
limited. Anyone who is awarded a Discretionary Award for Council Tax cannot 
be guaranteed to be reconsidered for any further payments when their 
Discretionary Award period ends. Repeat applications within twelve months 
will not be considered for an award. 
 
Change of Circumstances 
 
We will need to reconsider an award where the customer's circumstances 
have materially changed. 
 
Notification of decision 
 
We will write to the customer to give them a decision, normally within 14 days 
of receiving the application and full supporting information. 
 
Appeals about discretionary awards  
 
There is no formal right of appeal against the Council's use of its discretionary 
powers in individual cases. However, we will accept a written request within 
one month of the decision if it is supported by further information or evidence. 
The review will be made by a different person to whoever considered the 
original application. 

Fraud 

The Council is committed to the fight against fraud. A customer who tries to 
fraudulently claim a Discretionary Award by falsely declaring their 
circumstances or by providing a false statement or evidence in support of their 
application may have committed an offence under the Theft Act 1968. Where 
we suspect that such a fraud may have occurred, the matter will be 
investigated as appropriate and this may lead to criminal proceedings being 
instigated.  

 
 
 
  

Page 36



CABINET 
 

May 30th 2013  
 

 
 
JOINT REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS AND 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ECONOMY AND EDUCATION 

 
 

2014 Arts and Events Programme Proposal  
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
To seek approval for the proposed Arts and Events programme in 2014 and seek approval to 
submit a bid to the Arts Council.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Members; 
1) Approve the 2014 Arts and Events programme. 
2) Authorise the Director Communities Planning and Partnerships in consultation 

with the Portfolio Holder Operations and Assets to submit a bid to the Arts 
Council England Grants for the Arts Scheme.  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
2014 marks the 125th Anniversary of Tamworth Assembly Rooms, the home of arts and 
events in Tamworth. To mark this occasion we are proposing a year long structured 
programme of activities and projects to delight and engage Tamworth audiences and visitors 
from across the Midlands region. A copy of the proposed programme is attached in the 
appendices. The project will be focused on the community of Tamworth. It will be about 
people. The re-development of Tamworth Assembly Rooms is just part of moving Tamworth 
Assembly Rooms and the Cultural quarter concept forward. We want to change the way the 
arts are viewed and accessed in Tamworth and the public are a vital element of that. By 
developing an interest and awareness of the arts in the area it will benefit the future use of 
the building and cultural quarter.  
 
Figures provided by the Arts Council as part of the Active People and Places Survey show 
that Tamworth currently has one of the lowest arts engagement levels in the country. 
Through a targeted action research project the Arts and Events team have identified a range 
of barriers and misconceptions that are affecting people’s attendance at arts activities. The 
proposal is to use the 125 year anniversary as a platform that will allow the Arts and Events 
team to tackle these issues on a larger scale, opening doors for the community to access a 
range of arts provision and re-igniting relationships with the arts in the area. However 
obviously whilst participation in the arts is a positive outcome in itself,  it is important to note 
that studies have shown that regular access to quality arts provision has wide reaching 
benefits both of a social and economic nature. The arts and event activities in Tamworth 
currently contribute just under £1 million of secondary spend in the area. Recent studies 
(Understanding the Impact of Engagement in Culture and Sport and Measuring National 
Wellbeing) have detailed that the social benefits of arts activities include improvements to 
physical and metal health, improvements to community pride, awareness and social 
understanding. Arts engagement in young people significantly improves their social skills, 
academic attainment and behaviour.  
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 37



Furthermore we want to showcase what is already happening in Tamworth. The aim is to 
show people what we have in Tamworth, what our community is about and what it is capable 
of. The project will attract a lot of public attention and help dispel misconceptions about the 
area and re-focus our sense of community and pride. This objective is shared with the Place 
Group and our Locality Working Agenda and we therefore propose to incorporate the T 
branding developed to promote local community pride and to promote Tamworth to visitors.  
 
In addition we wish to provide our community and local artists with opportunities to work with 
a range of high quality arts organisations from across the region. To not only bring quality 
arts provision to Tamworth but also to bridge the gap between Tamworth and the region; 
forging lasting and long term relationships.  

 
 
Objectives and Outcomes  

 
� To create a strong platform for the arts in Tamworth to grow and flourish from.  
� To increase community pride and cohesion.  
� To breakdown barriers and change perceptions of arts activities.  
� To increase longer term participation levels in the arts. 
� To act as a stimulus for local artists. 
� To create stronger regional working partnerships.  
� To showcase the current artistic talent in Tamworth Borough Council  
� To expose Tamworth audiences to a diverse and wide ranging high quality arts 
programme.   

� Every resident of Tamworth will have access to two free arts activities.  
� Promoting greater collaboration between organisations to increase efficiency and 
innovation 

� Strengthening business models in the arts, helping arts organisations to diversify their 
income streams including private giving. 

� Attracting new audiences.  
� Improving the delivery of arts opportunities for children and young people. 

 
We will develop an evaluation system to monitor the above objectives around usage figures, 
new business development, and regular contact with participants over a continued period. 
We will also programme in a customer satisfaction after each individual project and an exit 
strategy for participants to enable them to continue their participation and strengthen other 
groups in the area.  
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
Total Project Costs  (inc existing Outdoor Events budget)  £187,228  Of this £79,500 will be 
met from the provisional budget for 2014/2015 identified in the medium term financial 
strategy.  £35,728 will be obtained through income generation and In-Kind sources such as 
free use of business premises already committed by local organisations.  Funding will be sort 
from the Arts council to secure the balance of £74k.    
 
Should the bid be successful a further report with be presented to members to seek approval 
to spend the grant.           
 
If the bid was to fail the project would need  to be scaled down and contained within 
earmarked budget as no additional funding will be sort form TBC. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
Please see risk assessment  
 
 
 
 

Page 38



SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
All elements of the programme will include research of what our communities want from the 
authorities’ arts provision. It will inform our future programme and work with developing 
audiences. We will aim to ensure exit strategies for all projects to ensure people can 
continue with arts activities. It will also impact on income generation due to an increased 
interested in arts and therefore an increase in ticket sales and venue usage.  
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
See appendices  
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Elanor Thompson Arts and Events Manager 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None  
 
 
APPENDICES 
Programme Outline 
Risk Assessment  
 

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



R
is

k
 1

 F
o

r
m

 
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
N
o
: 

T
a
s
k
 R

is
k
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
F

o
r
m

 
 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
/D
e
p
t 

C
P
P
 

D
a
te
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

3
0
th
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
 

A
s
s
e

s
s
o

r 
E
la
n
o
r 
T
h
o
m
p
s
o
n
  

 T
a
s
k
 o
r 
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 

2
0
1
4
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
  

 
W
h
o
 I
s
 A
t 
R
is
k
 

(t
ic
k
 a
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
) 

E
m

p
lo

y
e

e
 

Y
 
O
th
e
r 
(p
le
a
s
e
 s
p
e
c
if
y
) 

 
O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti

o
n

  
Y
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

P
u

b
li

c
  

Y
 

 

H
a
z
a
rd
s
 I
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 &
 I
n
ju
ry
 

N
o
t 
O
b
ta
in
in
g
 E
x
te
rn
a
l 
F
u
n
d
in
g
  

T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 b
u
t 
in
 a
 m
u
c
h
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 f
o
rm
a
t.
 

N
o
t 
B
ri
n
g
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 I
n
c
o
m
e
 t
o
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

W
ill
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 b
u
t 
th
e
 r
e
lia
n
c
e
 o
n
 

in
c
o
m
e
 i
s
 l
o
w
. 
 

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 

P
o
o
r 
ta
k
e
 u
p
. 
P
o
o
r 
R
e
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

P
o
o
r 
M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
  

N
o
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
fi
le
 s
tr
o
n
g
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 a
tt
ra
c
t 

th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
. 
P
o
o
r 
R
e
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
. 

 E
x
a
m
in
e
 e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 r
is
k
s
 w
it
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
s
k
 a
n
d
 n
o
te
 d
o
w
n
 a
n
y
 p
re
v
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 o
r 
s
a
fe
ty
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 y
o
u
 a
re
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 

p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
. 

 
C
o
n
tr
o
l 
M
e
a
s
u
re
s
 I
n
 P
la
c
e
 t
o
 A
d
d
re
s
s
 A
b
o
v
e
 R
is
k
s
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

S
e
v
e
ri
ty
 

R
is
k
 R
a
ti
n
g
 

N
o

t 
O

b
ta

in
in

g
 E

x
te

rn
a
l 
F

u
n

d
in

g
  

•
 
P
re
-A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
rm
 A
rt
s
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
E
n
g
la
n
d
  

2
 

3
 

H
ig
h
  

Page 41



•
 
A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
v
ie
w
 b
y
 S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

•
 
A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
s
o
u
rc
e
s
  

 N
o

t 
B

ri
n

g
in

g
 i
n

 t
h

e
 I
n

c
o

m
e

 t
o

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
  

•
 
E
a
rl
y
 a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
 t
ic
k
e
t 
p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
. 
 

•
 
L
a
rg
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 f
o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
. 
 

•
 
L
a
rg
e
 p
re
s
s
 p
re
s
e
n
c
e
 

 2
 

 1
 

 
L
o
w
 

L
a

c
k
 o

f 
P

u
b

li
c
 E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
  

•
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
tr
o
n
g
 a
n
d
 c
le
a
r 
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
. 
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 a
rt
s
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 t
a
k
in
g
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 a
ll 
w
a
rd
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
tr
o
n
g
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 p
ro
fi
le
. 
 

•
 
R
e
d
u
c
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
. 
 

2
 

3
 

H
ig
h
 

P
o

o
r 

M
a
rk

e
ti

n
g

  

•
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 s
tr
o
n
g
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
b
ra
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 p
la
n
. 
 

•
 
S
ta
rt
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 e
a
rl
y
. 
 

•
 
In
v
e
s
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
. 
 

2
 

1
 

L
o
w
 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
c
ti
o
n
 N
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 D
e
c
re
a
s
e
 R
is
k
s
 

P
e
rs
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

D
a
te
 R
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

D
a
te
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

S
e
v
e
ri
ty
 

R
is
k
 

R
a
ti
n
g
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
D
a
te
 

 
A

s
s
e

s
s
o

r 
S

ig
n

a
tu

re
 

  
 R
e
v
ie
w
s
 

(I
f 
th
e
re
 a
re
 n
o
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 j
u
s
t 
b
e
 s
ig
n
e
d
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
if
 a
n
y
th
in
g
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 a
 n
e
w
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
m
u
s
t 
b
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
) 

1
s
t  
R
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
D
a
te
 

 
A

s
s
e

s
s
o

r 
S

ig
n

a
tu

re
 

 
2
n
d
 R
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
D
a
te
 

 
A

s
s
e

s
s
o

r 
S

ig
n

a
tu

re
 

 

Page 42



  

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



I
 A

M
 T

A
M

W
O

R
T

H

1
2
5
th
A
n
n
iv
e
rs
a
ry

Page 45



W
h
a
t 
a
n
d
 W

h
y
? 

�
2
0
1
4
 m
a
rk
s
 t
h
e
 1
2
5
th
 A
n
n
iv
e
rs
a
ry
 o
f 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 R
o
o
m
s
, 
th
e
 h
o
m
e
 o
f 

a
rt
s
 a
n
d
 e
v
e
n
ts
 i
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
. 
T
o
 m
a
rk
 

th
is
 o
c
c
a
s
io
n
 w
e
 a
re
 p
ro
p
o
s
in
g
 a
 y
e
a
r 

lo
n
g
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 t
o
 d
e
lig
h
t 
a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 v
is
it
o
rs
 f
ro
m
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 M
id
la
n
d
s
 r
e
g
io
n
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 

w
ill
 b
e
 f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 o
f 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
. 
It
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
b
o
u
t 
p
e
o
p
le
.

�
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 h
a
s
 o
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 l
o
w
e
s
t 

a
rt
s
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
le
v
e
ls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
tr
y
. 

T
h
ro
u
g
h
 a
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 p
ro
je
c
t 

th
e
 t
e
a
m
 h
a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

b
a
rr
ie
rs
 a
n
d
 m
is
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a
t 
a
rt
s
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
. 
T
h
e
 a
im
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 1
2
5
 y
e
a
r 

p
la
tf
o
rm

 w
ill
 a
llo
w
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 

th
e
s
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o
n
 a
 l
a
rg
e
r 
s
c
a
le
, 
o
p
e
n
in
g
 

d
o
o
rs
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
a
rt
s
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
-i
g
n
it
in
g
 

re
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
rt
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
.

�
W
e
 w
a
n
t 
to
 s
h
o
w
 o
ff
! 
T
h
e
 a
im
 i
s
 t
o
 s
h
o
w
 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
a
t 
w
e
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
, 
w
h
a
t 

o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
d
 w
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 

c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f.
 T
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
w
ill
 a
tt
ra
c
t 
a
 l
o
t 
o
f 

p
u
b
lic
 a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 h
e
lp
 d
is
p
e
l 

m
is
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 r
e
-

fo
c
u
s
 o
u
r 
s
e
n
s
e
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 p
ri
d
e
. 

�
In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 w
e
 w
is
h
 t
o
 e
x
p
o
s
e
 o
u
r 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
rt
is
ts
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
h
ig
h
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 a
rt
s
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

re
g
io
n
. 
T
o
 n
o
t 
o
n
ly
 b
ri
n
g
 q
u
a
lit
y
 a
rt
s
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 b
u
t 
a
ls
o
 b
ri
d
g
e
 t
h
e
 g
a
p
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
g
io
n
 f
o
rg
in
g
 l
a
s
ti
n
g
 

a
n
d
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 l
in
k
s
. 

Page 46



O
u
tc
o
m
e
s 
a
n
d
 O
b
je
ct
iv
e
s

�
T
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
 s
tr
o
n
g
 p
la
tf
o
rm

 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
rt
s
 i
n
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 t
o
 g
ro
w
 a
n
d
 f
lo
u
ri
s
h
 f
ro
m
. 

�
T
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 p
ri
d
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
h
e
s
io
n
. 

�
T
o
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
rt
s
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
. 

�
T
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
te
rm

 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 l
e
v
e
ls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
rt
s
.

�
T
o
 a
c
t 
a
s
 a
 s
ti
m
u
lu
s
 f
o
r 
lo
c
a
l 
a
rt
is
ts
.

�
T
o
 c
re
a
te
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
re
g
io
n
a
l 
w
o
rk
in
g
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
. 

�
T
o
 s
h
o
w
c
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
rt
is
ti
c
 t
a
le
n
t 
in
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

�
T
o
 e
x
p
o
s
e
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
s
 t
o
 a
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 a
n
d
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
in
g
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 a
rt
s
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
 

�
E
v
e
ry
 r
e
s
id
e
n
t 
o
f 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
w
o
 f
re
e
 a
rt
s
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
. 

�
P
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 g
re
a
te
r 
c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
o
n
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n

�
S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
in
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 m
o
d
e
ls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
rt
s
, 
h
e
lp
in
g
 a
rt
s
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 d
iv
e
rs
if
y
 t
h
e
ir
 

in
c
o
m
e
 s
tr
e
a
m
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
ri
v
a
te
 g
iv
in
g
.

�
A
tt
ra
c
ti
n
g
 n
e
w
 a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
s
. 

�
Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
rt
s
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

fo
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
.

Page 47



H
a
v
e
 a
 g
o
…
..

T
a

s
te

r
 S

e
s

s
io

n
s

�
E

v
e

ry
 r

e
s
id

e
n

t 
in

 T
a

m
w

o
rt

h
 w

ill
 

h
a

v
e

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 t
o

 a
 m

in
im

u
m

 o
f 

tw
o

 
fr

e
e

 w
o

rk
s
h

o
p

s
 t

a
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
ir

 
w

a
rd

. 

�
E

v
e

ry
 m

o
n

th
 1

4
 f

re
e

 a
rt

s
 t

a
s
te

r 
s
e

s
s
io

n
s
 w

ill
 r

u
n

 a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 

p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 a

c
ti
v
e

 l
if
e

s
ty

le
, 

s
o

c
ia

lis
in

g
, 
le

a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 a

rt
s
 

p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
. 

�
A

ft
e

r 
th

e
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 t
h

e
 a

im
 i
s
 t
o

 
in

tr
o

d
u

c
e

 t
h

e
m

 t
o

 g
ro

u
p

s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h

e
 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
r 

s
ta

rt
 u

p
 n

e
w

 g
ro

u
p

s
 i
n

 
th

a
t 

a
re

a
.
 

D
a
n

c
e
 

B
a
llr

o
o
m

 D
a
n
c
in

g
 T

a
s
te

rs

S
tr

e
e
t 
D

a
n
c
e
 T

a
s
te

r

S
a
ls

a
 T

a
s
te

r

C
o
n
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 D

a
n
c
e

W
o
rl
d
 D

a
n
c
e

D
ra

m
a
 

D
ra

m
a
 

M
u

s
ic

 

S
in

g
in

g
 S

e
s
s
io

n
s
 

S
o
n
g
 W

ri
ti
n
g
 S

e
s
s
io

n
 

In
s
tr

u
m

e
n
t 
S

e
s
s
io

n
s

W
ri

ti
n

g
P

o
e
tr

y 
a
n
d
 S

to
ry

 T
e
lli

n
g
 S

e
s
s
io

n
s

A
rt

s
 a

n
d

 C
ra

ft
s

S
ta

y 
a
n
d
 P

la
y 

S
e
s
s
io

n
s

A
rt

 T
a
s
te

r

Page 48



O
u
td
o
o
r 
E
v
e
n
ts
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

�
T
h
e
 o
u
td
o
o
r 
e
v
e
n
ts
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
ill
 p
la
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
 s
ta
g
e
. 
W
e
 a
im
 

to
 s
h
o
w
c
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
o
 a
 w
id
e
r 
a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
. 

�
W
e
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 o
u
r 
k
e
y
 e
v
e
n
ts
, 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
v
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

e
v
e
n
ts
. 

Page 49



K
e
y
 E
v
e
n
ts
 

�
(A
p
ri
l)
 S
t 
G
e
o
rg
e
’s
 D
a
y

�
M

e
d
ie

v
a
l 
re

-e
n
a
c
tm

e
n
t 

�
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

: 
T

a
m

w
o
rt

h
 C

a
s
tl
e

�
(A
u
g
u
s
t)
 W

W
1
 C
e
n
te
n
a
ry
 E
v
e
n
t

�
T

o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 k

e
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
o
 c

re
a
te

 a
 r

e
m

e
m

b
ra

n
c
e
 e

v
e
n
t 
th

ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 t
o
w

n
 w

it
h
 d

is
p
la

y
s
, 
e
x
h
ib

it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 

d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
ti
o
n
s
.

�
T

h
e
 p

in
n
a
c
le

 o
f 
th

e
 d

a
y
 i
s
 t
h
e
 F

re
e
d
o
m

 o
f 
F

la
g
s
 p

re
s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
 b

y
 a

ll 
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
n
ts

�
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

: 
R

e
g
im

e
n
t 
M

u
s
e
u
m

/ 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 S

o
c
ie

ty
/ 
S

c
h
o
o
ls

/C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 G

ro
u
p
s
/ 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
M

e
m

o
ri
a
l 
A

rb
o
re

tu
m

/ 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 G

ro
u
p
s
 /
S

c
h
o
o
ls

 

�
(S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r)
 W
e
 L
O
V
E
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 E
v
e
n
t

�
T

h
is

 e
v
e
n
t 
w

ill
 c

e
le

b
ra

te
 T

a
m

w
o
rt

h
’s

 P
a
s
t,
 P

re
s
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 F

u
tu

re
.

�
P

a
s
t:
 O

p
e
n
 u

p
 a

ll 
h
e
ri
ta

g
e
 s

it
e
s
 f
o
r 
fr

e
e
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
/R

e
-e

n
a
c
tm

e
n
t 

�
P

re
s
e
n
t:
 t
o
 s

h
o
w

c
a
s
e
 t
o
w

n
s
 a

tt
ri
b
u
te

s
. 
A

rt
s
 G

ro
u
p
s
/S

p
o
rt

s
 G

ro
u
p
s
/C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 G

ro
u
p
s

�
F

u
tu

re
: 
E

x
h
ib

it
io

n
 o

f 
A

rt
 p

ro
je

c
t 
to

 r
e
p
re

s
e
n
t 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
’s

 v
is

io
n
 o

f 
T

a
m

w
o
rt

h
’s

 f
u
tu

re
.

�
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

: 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 G

ro
u
p
s
/ 
S

c
h
o
o
ls

/ 
P

e
e
l 
S

o
c
ie

ty

�
F
ir
e
w
o
rk
s
 N
ig
h
t

�
F

re
e
 f
ir
e
w

o
rk

s
 d

is
p
la

y

�
C
h
ri
s
tm

a
s
 L
ig
h
ts

�
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

: 
C

h
ri
s
tm

a
s
 L

ig
h
ts

 C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 a

n
d
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s

Page 50



D
a
n
ce
 

�
I 
a
m
 D

a
n
c
e

A
 s
it
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

in
v
o
lv
in
g
 M

o
ti
o
n
h
o
u
s
e
, 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 C

o
n
te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 D

a
n
c
e
 

g
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 

to
o
 –

a
n
im

a
ti
n
g
 a
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
p
a
c
e
 s
o
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
e
 i
t 
in
 a
 

n
e
w
 w

a
y
/p
ri
d
e
 a
n
d
 o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
; 

ra
is
in
g
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 

d
a
n
c
e
rs
 i
n
 y
o
u
r 
lo
c
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
, 
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

m
a
te
ri
a
l 
th
e
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
it
h
 

p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
ls
 i
n
 a
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
 p
ro
fi
le
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
. 

�
I 
a
m
 B
a
lle
t 

W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
B
a
lle
t 

C
o
m
p
a
n
y
 B
a
lle
t 
U
K
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 

w
ill
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

to
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 b
a
lle
t,
 i
n
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 m

e
n
. 
B
re
a
k
in
g
 

d
o
w
n
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 a
n
d
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 

p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
lo
c
a
l 
d
a
n
c
e
rs
.

Page 51



M
u
si
c 

�
I 
a
m
 t
h
e
 B
e
a
t

D
ru
m
m
in
g
 E
v
e
n
ts
 

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
. 

C
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
ru
m
m
in
g
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 n
e
w
 

s
k
ill
s
. 
F
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 f
a
m
ily
 

le
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
 f
a
m
ily
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
. 

�
I 
a
m
 M
u
s
ic
 

C
re
a
ti
n
g
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 L
iv
e
 

M
u
s
ic
 T
ra
il.
 L
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 

v
e
n
u
e
s
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 

c
e
n
tr
e
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
a
 

w
e
a
lt
h
 o
f 
m
u
s
ic
a
l 
g
e
n
re
s
.

�
I 
a
m
 O
p
e
ra

O
p
e
n
in
g
 u
p
 o
p
e
ra
 t
o
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 

o
f 
a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
s
 b
y
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

a
 g
ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
re
a
k
 d
o
w
n
 

m
is
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
O
p
e
ra
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 t
o
 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
. 
T
o
 g
a
in
 a
n
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 
O
p
e
ra
 

is
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 i
t 
re
la
te
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
m
. 

Page 52



D
ra
m
a
 

�
I 
A

m
 D

ra
m

a

S
ir
 R
o
b
e
rt
 P
e
e
l-
S
ta
n
d
 a
n
d
 

D
e
liv
e
r.
 W
ri
tt
e
n
, 
p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 m
u
lt
i-

d
is
c
ip
lin
e
 g
ro
u
p
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 

R
e
p
e
rt
o
ry
 C
o
m
p
a
n
y
.

Page 53



A
rt
 

�
I 
A
m
 V
is
u
a
l 
A
rt

T
u
rn
in
g
 e
m
p
ty
 s
h
o
p
s
 a
n
d
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 i
n
 t
o
 

a
rt
s
 s
p
a
c
e
s
. 
U
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 I
 a
m
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 t
h
e
m
e
 a
 p
o
rt
ra
it
 

tr
a
il 
w
ill
 b
e
 c
re
a
te
d
. 
T
u
rn
in
g
 

s
a
d
 d
is
u
s
e
d
 s
p
a
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
o
 

b
ri
g
h
t 
c
o
lo
u
rf
u
l 
c
a
n
v
a
s
e
s
 

a
n
d
 l
if
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
.

�
T
ro
tt
e
rs
 T
ra
il 

P
o
p
 U
p
 P
IG
S
! 
U
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 t
w
o
 a
s
 i
n
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
 

w
e
 a
im
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
 a
rt
s
 t
ra
il 

o
f 
p
ig
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
. 

T
h
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ig
s
 b
y
 l
o
c
a
l 

a
rt
is
ts
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 e
v
e
n
 

lo
c
a
l 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
.

Page 54



W
W
1

�
F
la
g
s
 o
f 
F
re
e
d
o
m

S
c
h
o
o
l/
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
je
c
t.
 

T
o
 m
a
rk
 a
n
d
 g
iv
e
 t
h
a
n
k
s
 t
o
 

th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 g
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 l
if
e
 i
n
 

W
W
1
 a
n
d
 w
h
a
t 
w
e
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
w
 

to
 t
h
a
n
k
 t
h
e
m
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir

s
a
c
ri
fi
c
e
.

�
I 
a
m
 H
e
ro
e
s
 

W
W
1
 p
ro
je
c
t 
lo
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 

s
ta
in
 g
la
s
s
 w
in
d
o
w
s
 l
o
c
a
te
d
 

in
 S
t.
 E
d
it
h
a
's
. 
W
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
 c
re
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 

a
rt
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 n
e
w
 

s
k
ill
s
. 
T
o
 b
e
 d
is
p
la
y
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 

N
M
A
.

Page 55



S
h
o
w
ca
se

�
I 
A

m
 T

a
m

w
o

rt
h

T
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 s
h
o
w
c
a
s
e
 o
f 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 a
rt
is
ts
 a
n
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

a
t 
S
y
m
p
h
o
n
y
 H
a
ll 

B
ir
m
in
g
h
a
m
. 
It
 a
im
s
 t
o
 

c
re
a
te
 p
ri
d
e
 a
n
d
 a
 s
e
n
s
e
 o
f 

o
c
c
a
s
io
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 w
o
rk
 t
h
e
y
 

a
re
 c
re
a
ti
n
g
.

�
I 
A

m
 A

rt

L
a
rg
e
 C
lo
s
in
g
 e
v
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
w
ill
 

b
ri
n
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
a
n
d
 s
h
o
w
c
a
s
e
 

a
ll 
th
e
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 

h
a
p
p
e
n
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 

h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
fu
tu
re
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
.

Page 56



F
in
a
n
ce

�
T
o
ta
l 
P
ro
je
c
t 
C
o
s
ts
 

(i
n
c
 O
u
td
o
o
r 
E
v
e
n
ts
) 

£
1
8
7
,2
2
8
 

�
N
o
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
 

fr
o
m
 T
B
C

�
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

ti
m
e
 f
ro
m
 S
C
C

�
R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
to
 s
u
b
m
it
 A
rt
s
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
B
id
 t
o
 G
ra
n
ts
 

fo
r 
th
e
 A
rt
s
 f
o
r 
£
7
4
,0
0
0

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

30th May 2013 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ECONOMY AND EDUCATION 

 
 

TAMWORTH GOLF COURSE FUTURE OPTIONS 
 

 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
N/A 
 
PURPOSE 
To update Members on progress since the Cabinet meeting on the 26/03/13 which approved 
the interim management of the Golf Course by the Council and authorised the initiation of a 
project to review the future sustainability options.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Members approve the project outcomes and long list of options for 
appraisal in stage two of the project 

2. That Members authorise the release of £50,000 from the general fund 
contingency budget to support the delivery of the project  

3. That Members Authorise the Portfolio Holder Economy and Education in 
collaboration with the Portfolio Holder Community Development and Voluntary 
Sector to progress the project  

4. That  Members authorise the waiver of financial regulations in order to appoint 
FMG Consulting to support the second stage options appraisal process  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Council has taken on the operational management of the Golf Course for a period of two 
years while in parallel considering the future options for the golf course. The Council has 
funded the subsidy (budgeted at £80k pa) required to operate the golf course together with 
the lost rental income (budgeted at £36k pa) from contingency budgets which is 
unsustainable in the longer term. Given the financial position of the Council it is imperative 
that the Council progresses a project to review the future options.  
 
Since taking on the operation of the Course the Council has through a competitive pricing 
policy coupled with excellent customer services achieved 211 annual green fee members 
and has a regular number of pay and play golfers. However it remains to be seen if the 
summer season will achieve the level of income needed to hit our budgeted targets. The 
Council has improved the course with regular mowing and additional sand for the bunkers. 
The Council has also set about the remedial course works which are of a good standard and 
being well received. Essential maintenance is being completed at the club house and the 
ground floor of the club house will be available for use by customers soon. Staff have been 
recruited to the new positions and this will allow the Sports Development team to refocus on 
their substantive roles. It should be noted that the Sports Development Team have been 
proactive and positive throughout the process and have provided excellent customer service 
in difficult circumstances.   
 
Alongside the work to operate the course officers have in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder initiated work streams to progress the Golf Course Future Options project. The 
purpose of the project is to review the Golf Course as a public asset and to determine what is 
the best option when considered against our strategic needs.  
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 59



The project will be led by the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Education in collaboration 
with the Portfolio Holder for Community Development and Voluntary Sector.  Officer support 
will be provided by the Director for Communities Planning and Partnerships and Director of 
Assets and Environment. The Portfolio Holder Economy and Education will have regular 
meetings with the Leader of the Opposition (or their nominated representative) to consult on 
the progress of the project. An officer working group will be established to undertake the 
project and this will be supported by external consultancy to provide additional capacity and 
specialist advice. The project will report to Cabinet on each stage seeking approval and 
endorsement. 
 
The project has been divided into three stages; 
 

1) Needs Assessment – April 13 to June 13 
2) Options Appraisal – June 13 to January 14 
3) Implementation – January 14 to March 15 

 
Community and user engagement 
 
The project will seek to include residents and customers in the review. This will be done 
through; 
 

• Regular meetings with the Golf Club Committee 

• Customer surveys and/or focus groups 

• Non users surveys and/or focus groups 

• Appropriate media and public communications 
 
Stage 1 Needs assessment 
 
The needs assessment stage is currently being completed and has reviewed the key 
strategic needs for the Council based on a high level review of existing strategic documents 
and assessments. Appendix A provides a report summarising the Needs Assessment.  
 
The needs assessment stage has identified a number of key outcomes for the Golf Course 
Future Options Project to deliver on.  
 

Priority Project Outcome Draft Weighting  

1. Potential for and likely level of contribution to the Council’s 
annual revenue deficit from 2016/17 onwards. 

20%* 

2. Contribution to economic regeneration and growth in the Borough 
(including the provision of new housing development). 

15% 

3. Potential for the option to generate a capital receipt for the 
Council and likely level of capital receipt. 

15% 

4. Promotion of exercise and healthy lifestyles and contribution to 
increasing participation and reducing obesity. 

15% 

5. Ability to meet the leisure needs of the Borough’s residents and 
the Council’s wider vision / strategy for sport and leisure 
provision. 

15% 

6. Cost and timescales of implementation and level of risk involved / 
likelihood of delivery. 

10%* 

7. Contribution to the delivery of the Council’s environmental and 
sustainability objectives including protecting green and blue 
spaces. 

10% 

Page 60



 
 
More specific evaluation criteria under each heading will be required to help assess the 
options. 
 
* Items 1 and 6 on the outcomes list have been highlighted as key criteria and options 
that score low in these elements may be unsuitable to implement given our key 
constraints – time and money. 
 
The following long list of options will be reviewed under stage two of the project.  
 
 
Options appraisal – long list 
 
The options are split between physical development options and management options. 

• Physical development options: 

− Option A –retention of 18-hole golf course (status quo); 

− Option B – retention of 18-hole golf course, plus development of ancillary 
provision (clubhouse / health & fitness gym / complimentary leisure facilities); 

− Option C – disposal of front 9 holes for development, with retention of back 9 
holes; 

− Option D – disposal of front 9 holes for development, with retention of back 9 
holes plus development of ancillary provision using part of any capital receipt 
(clubhouse / health & fitness gym / complimentary leisure facilities); 

− Option E – disposal of back 9 holes for development, with retention of front 9 
holes;  

− Option F – disposal of back 9 holes for development, with retention of front 9 
holes plus development of ancillary provision using part of any capital receipt 
(clubhouse / health & fitness gym / complimentary leisure facilities); 

− Option G – part disposal of site, retention of 18-hole golf course through 
remodelling of holes to reduce land-take; 

− Option H – part disposal of site for development, but retention of 18-hole golf 
course through purchase of additional land adjacent to eastern boundary of 
the course and re provision of lost holes; 

− Option I – complete disposal of entire site to generate capital receipt to be 
utilised for wider strategic aims such as the development of a new leisure 
centre or other regeneration schemes in the town centre. 

• Management options: 

− Option 1 - Continued in-house management of the golf course; 

− Option 2 - Outsourced management of the golf course via a lease  / 
management contract; 

− Option 3– set up of a local social enterprise management vehicle (Company 
Limited by Guarantee / Charitable Incorporated Organisation / Community 
Interest Company). 

Page 61



 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
There are significant resource implications associated with this project. As stated the Golf 
Course costs are unfunded from April 2015 and given the Councils funding constraints it is 
unlikely to be in a position to subsidise golf in the future. Therefore the future options project 
needs to identify a financially sustainable future option for the course.  
 
The project will draw on existing officer time and also require a project budget to fund specific 
pieces of work. The project methodology has been established to balance the need for a 
robust project against the amount of available resource. The methodology outlined in this 
document is considered proportionate.  
.  
 
 
Stage 1 FMG - Needs assessment consultancy support £2,000 
Needs MyTime Golf -Spatial assessment £2,000 
   
Stage 2 Options appraisal support  (FMG) £8,000 
Options Legal advice £1,000 
 Master planning and development options support £15,000 
 Public Consultation  £5,000 
   

Stage 3 
To be determined by option selected 
(estimated)  

Implementation Tender and procurement support  £15,000 
 Legal advice £2,000 
   
Total   £50,000 
 
This report seeks the release of £50k from the general fund revenue contingency (from the 
current balance of £150k) to support the delivery of the project. The budget is indicative and 
actual amounts are subject to change based on the requirements of the project.  
 
The report also seeks the waiver of financial regulations to appoint FMG consulting to 
support the second stage options appraisal (£8k). The wavier can be justified because:  

• FMG have previously worked with the Council and have a good track record in 
producing quality support; 

• They are able to bring existing knowledge and insight; 

• FMG have previously been awarded work following a competitive process; and 

• A tender or quotation process would result in time delays and is unlikely to yield any 
significant saving.  

 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
There will be significant legal risk involved in the process specifically at the implementation 
stage. These risks will be determined by the nature of the option selected but good project 
management and consideration of future implications can be used to help mitigate such 
risks. Specialist legal and procurement advice will be sought at the appropriate stages. There 
is also a significant risk to the Councils reputation and this will be managed by operating a 
transparent process with appropriate communication and consultation with stakeholders and 
the public.  
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
There are clearly sustainability issues arising from the options which are to be addressed 
and considered by the project and in the decision making process. 
 
 

Page 62



REPORT AUTHOR 
Robert Mitchell – Director Communities Planning and Partnerships 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Cabinet 26/3/13 
 
 
APPENDICES 
FMG – Needs Analysis  
 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

GOLF COURSE FUTURE OPTIONS APPRAISAL   

STAGE 1 NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

  

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

  

 

 

 

A 

 DRAFT REPORT  

 BY 

 FMG CONSULTING  

 

 

 MAY 2013 

 

 

Page 65



 

       

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................... 1 

 
2. National and Local Strategic Context ................................................................. 3 

 
3. Needs Analysis ............................................................................................ 21 

 
4. Project Outcomes and Options Identification ....................................................... 28 

  

 

Appendix A – Tamworth Market Segmentation Data 

 

 

Page 66



 

Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 1 

01 

1. Introduction 

1.1 FMG Consulting Ltd (‘FMG’) was commissioned by Tamworth Borough Council (‘the Council’) 
to carry out a needs assessment and initial options appraisal for the future management of 
Tamworth Golf Course (‘the Golf Course’).  

1.2 The Golf Course is owned by the Council and was leased by the Council to Tamworth Golf 
Centre Ltd in 2006 but the course closed in February 2013 after the management company 
went into liquidation. The Council re-opened the course and is currently managing it on a 
short-term, in-house management basis. 

1.3 FMG has been commissioned to help identify the most suitable option for the future long-
term management of the golf course. This report provides the first stage in that process, 
namely a Needs Assessment (Stage 1). The needs assessment sets out a summary of the 
following: 

• National and local strategic context; 

• Current and future financial constraints and need; and 

• Local sport and leisure needs. 

1.4 This information is then used to prioritise the needs, define the outcomes required from the 
project (which will form the project drivers against which options can be assessed in Stage 2) 
and determine a long-list of options for the future delivery of the golf course. 

1.5 Following Officer and Member approval of this Stage 1 report, Stage 2 will provide an Options 
Appraisal containing a more specific analysis of the long-list options against the key project 
drivers, from which a shortlist can be identified and tested in more detail. The long list 
testing will comprise a weighted scoring of the options against the project drivers, whilst the 
short list testing will involve financial modelling of each shortlisted option to understand the 
capital and revenue costs / incomes and overall financial impact on the Council. A preferred 
option will then be recommended for approval and implementation. 

1.6 This Stage 1 work has been carried out on the basis of a desktop review of available 
information and consultations with key Council Officers to ensure that the background and 
context to the project is fully understood. 

1.7 The remainder of this report is structured as follows: 

• Section 2 – National and local strategic context; 

• Section 3 – Needs analysis; and 

• Section 4 – Project outcomes and options identification. 

 

 

Page 67



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 2 

Basis of information 

1.8 It is not possible to guarantee the fulfilment of any estimates or forecasts contained within 
this report, although they have been conscientiously prepared on the basis of our research 
and information made available to us at the time of the study. Neither FMG as a company 
nor the authors will be held liable to any party for any direct or indirect losses, financial or 
otherwise, associated with any contents of this report. We have relied in a number of areas 
on information provided by the client, and have not undertaken additional independent 
verification of this data.

Page 68



 

Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 3 

02 

2. National and Local Strategic Context 

Introduction 

2.1 This section sets out an overview of the national and local strategic context with the aim of identifying the strategic drivers that 
will inform the development of the long-list of potential management / delivery options for the golf course. Relevant documents / 
information are structured in the following strategic areas: 

• Housing;  

• Health and wellbeing; 

• Community safety;  

• Economic development; and 

• Environmental sustainability. 

2.2 Table 2.1 summarises the relevant national and local strategic priorities which will impact on the decision on the future 
management / delivery model for the golf course i.e. what strategic priorities will the options be required to deliver against and 
which options are best placed to operate successfully in this strategic environment.   

2.3 The first part of table 2.1 covers a small number of overarching strategic documents, before focusing more specifically on the five 
areas noted in paragraph 2.1 above. 

P
age 69



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 4 

Table 2.1 – Summary of National and Local Strategic Context 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

Overarching 

Sport England 

Strategy (2011 

– 2015) 

Its vision is for England to be a world leading sporting nation where many more 

people choose to play sport. 

 

The mission is to deliver a world leading community sport system. They will make 

participation in sport a regular habit for many more people, and ensure the delivery 

of sporting opportunities in the ways and places that people want. The strategy is to 

be delivered through the following 5 themes: 

 

• Maximising the value delivered from current investment in NGBs – to help them 

grow and achieve their potential 

• Delivering Places People Play - to deliver new facilities 

• Developing the right criteria and support system for the next round of NGB 

investment – to help increase participation 

• Creating an environment in which the key providers continue to invest in sport 

e.g. making sport a better investment opportunity for the private sector and 

helping local authorities make positive decisions about their sports provision 

• Providing strategic direction and market intelligence - collecting and sharing 

evidence and knowledge. 

 

Sport England’s overall ambition is to increase the number of people who play sports 

regularly and reduce the number of young people who stop playing when they finish 

school. Funding for governing bodies is tied into their own specific targets however is 

focussed (60%) on the 14-25 year old age group.  

 

Potential for capital funding if the Council is 

looking to invest in a new leisure facility (see 

Section 3 – leisure needs), through the Places 

People Play funding stream. Places People Play is 

a £135m initiative that aims to bring the 

inspiration and magic of a home Olympic Games 

and Paralympic Games into the heart of local 

communities. 

 

NGBs are a key delivery vehicle for Sport England 

and therefore the ability to work with Golf 

England needs to be considered as part of any 

future strategy for service delivery at the golf 

course. 

 

Any potential plan to dispose of the site would 

be likely to attract opposition from Sport 

England and Golf England. Sport England would 

be a statutory consultee from a planning 

perspective due to the loss of playing space.    

 

England Golf, 

Whole Sport 

Plan for Golf 

Development in 

England (2009 – 

2013) 

New plans were submitted to Sport England by Governing Bodies of Sport for 2013 – 

2017 funding however the latest plan is not publically available so we have 

summarised the existing Whole Sport Plan, which includes the vision for English golf 

to 2020, which is ‘to allow England to become the leading golf nation in the world by 

providing more opportunities for participants to start, stay and succeed in the 

game’.  

The key outcomes and strategic policies that sit beneath the vision are set out 

below: 

• Grow - “Giving Golf A Go” - The opportunity for all to experience golf. 

− Increase the number of people over 16 playing more golf. 

Any potential plan to dispose of the site would 

have a negative impact on golf participation and 

be likely to attract opposition from Sport 

England and Golf England (unless it can be 

proven that the course is surplus to requirements 

from a supply and demand perspective). 

 

P
age 70



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 5 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

− Increase the number of 5-16 year olds playing golf at accredited clubs. 

− Increase the number of 5-19 year olds involved in leadership and 

volunteering roles. 

− Grow golf in schools and local clubs. 

− Work with and encourage community based golf partnerships. 

− Increase golf participation regardless of age, gender or ethnic background. 

− Support education and training to develop people in key areas of relevance 

to the plan. 

• Sustain - “Once In A Game For Life” - Increasing the number of regular players 

and providing them with a quality experience of golf. 

− Maintain the current high levels of satisfaction expressed by golf participants 

with the quality of their experience. 

• Excel - “Being The Best” - Creating a system through which English players 

optimise their capabilities and perform to their potential. 

− Improve the skills and performances of those in the talent pool. 

− Enable talented players to develop their potential. 

 

Department of 

Culture, Media 

and Sport 

(DCMS) 

Business Plan 

(2011 – 2015) 

The DCMS’ vision is to help create the conditions for growth in the creative, 

communications, cultural, tourism and leisure economies, removing barriers to 

innovation and levelling the playing field. It wants to encourage the Big Society and 

will no longer hold onto power at a national level, over-regulate and spend as much 

money on administration. The plan sets out six key reform priorities: 

 

• Delivering a successful Olympic and Paralympic Games 

• Creating the conditions for growth in the tourism, media, leisure, creative and 

cultural institutions, by stripping away red tape and stimulating private sector 

investment 

• Boosting the Big Society  

• Facilitating the delivery of universal broadband 

• Creating a sporting legacy from the Olympic and Paralympic Games 

• Strengthening cultural organisations. 

 

A focus on Big Society highlights the potential for 

devolved local management, potentially by 

Trusts, CICs or other community-based vehicles. 

This may have an impact on the eventual 

management model for the golf course if the 

facility is retained. 

 

 

Localism Act, 

Communities 

and Local 

Government 

(2011) 

The Act devolves decision making to local councils and neighbourhood forums. This 

gives local councils the opportunity to form planning policy at a local level. It 

removes the regional tier of planning and replaces it with the statutory requirement 

of the Duty To Co-operate between local planning authorities and statutory bodies. 

 

Changes to planning, Community Infrastructure 

Levy, Council tax and rate relief legislation all 

need to be considered in the context of the 

Council’s budget and potential future capital 

developments. 

P
age 71



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 6 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

The key provisions relating to councils that could impact on this study are: 

• Giving residents the power to instigate local referendums on any local issue and 

the power to veto excessive council tax increases 

• Allowing councils more discretion over business rate relief 

• Giving community groups the right to bid for assets of community value, which 

may include leisure facilities 

• Providing new powers to help save local facilities and services threatened with 

closure, and giving voluntary and community groups the right to challenge local 

authorities over their services 

• Requires Local Authorities to work together to address strategic issues such as 

housing and employment.  

 

 

Potential for local challenges in relation to the 

provision and management of community 

facilities, such as leisure and cultural facilities 

and including the golf course. 

 

Tamworth 

Borough 

Council 

Corporate Plan 

(2013/14)  

The vision for Tamworth is ‘One Tamworth, perfectly Placed’. The corporate 

priorities of this vision for Tamworth are ‘to Aspire and Prosper in Tamworth’ and 

‘to be Healthier and Safer in Tamworth’. 

 

The Council’s plans focus on ‘people’, ‘place’ and ‘organisation’.  The headline 

issues relating to all three have been captured within a series of ‘Statements of 

Intent’ set out below. 

 

Place – the Council will: 
• Recognise that Tamworth the Place is a valuable and attractive asset that will 

provide a desirable residential and cultural option within the region; 

• Aspire to be a place of choice for individuals and families to live or to visit 

because of its vibrant nature, historic pride and a leisure and retail offer second 

only to the city. 

 

People – the Council will: 
• Recognise that raised aspirations and improved educational attainment will result 

in ultimately, the greatest legacy of all; 

• In achieving the vision that every child in Tamworth can read and write by age 11, 

it will impact upon most, if not all other People related priorities e.g.; 

skills/employability; health/well-being; confident, more rounded citizen 

• Support individuals and communities to be healthier, safer, more confident and 

independent whilst, at the same time, recognise the need to support the most 

vulnerable in our communities; 

• Acknowledge the changing needs of our citizens; their expectations and indeed, 

Any potential delivery model / management 

vehicle for the golf course needs to be evaluated 

against its contribution to the Council’s 

corporate priorities. In particular the golf course 

can impact on the health and wellbeing of local 

people.  

 

The key question to address will be whether the 

eventual use for the golf course meets the needs 

of local residents’ best i.e. is there demand for 

the continued provision of golf at the site or is 

there a better use for the site or associated 

monies that will make Tamworth a better place 

to live. 

P
age 72



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 7 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

their rights under legislation. 

 

Organisation – the Council will: 

• Seek to ensure that the organisation is connected by performance and reputation; 

to Government, to Business, to those able to influence policy & resource and 

most of all, to our customers; 

• Ensure that services are demand led, accessible, integrated, seamless and 

supported by technology; 

• Recognise that an ‘agile’, highly skilled and motivated workforce will be key to 

the legacy; 

• Acknowledge that the achievements of the above will influence future resource 

requires, investment needs and use of assets. 

 

A number of strategic outcomes are identified for the Council in 2013/14. 

  

‘To Aspire and Prosper in Tamworth’ 
• Raise the aspiration and attainment levels of young people; 

• Create opportunities for business growth through developing and using skills and 

talent; 

• Promote private sector growth and create quality employment locally; 

• Brand and market “Tamworth” as a great place to “live life to the full” 

• Create the physical and technological infrastructure necessary to support the 

achievement of this primary outcome. 

 
“To be Healthier and Safer in Tamworth” 

• Address the causes of poor health in children and young people; 

• Improve the health and well-being of older people by supporting them to live 

active, independent lives; 

• Reduce the harm and wider consequences of alcohol abuse on individuals, 

families and society; 

• Implement ‘Total Place’ solutions to tackling crime and ASB in designated 

localities; 

• Develop innovative early interventions to tackle youth crime and ASB; 

• Create an integrated approach to protecting those most vulnerable in our local 

communities. 

 

These priorities are mirrored in the Tamworth Sustainable Community Strategy. 

P
age 73



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 8 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

Housing 

National 

Planning Policy 

Framework 

(2012) 

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. It provides a framework 
within which local people and their accountable councils can produce their own 
distinctive local and neighbourhood plans, which reflect the needs and priorities of 
their communities. 

 
At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through 
both plan-making and decision-taking. 
 
For plan-making this means that: 

• local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 

development needs of their area; 

• Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to 

adapt to rapid change, unless: 

− any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 

taken as a whole; or 

− specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 

restricted. 

 
For decision-taking this means: 

• approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay; and 

• where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 

granting permission unless: 

− any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 

taken as a whole; or 

− specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 

restricted. 

 
There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental. These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning 
system to perform a number of roles: 

• an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 

Providing high quality, affordable homes is a key 

requirement throughout the country. The Council 

must ensure that its Local Plan meets the full 

need for affordable housing in the area and must 

identify specific, deliverable sites for 

development.  

 

Ensuring the vitality of town centres through 

sequential testing is a key aim but in a small, 

largely urban area such as Tamworth it may be 

that the golf course might have to contribute to 

meeting the demand for new housing due to a 

lack of available alternative sites.  

 

The Plan states that existing open space, sports 

and recreational buildings and land, including 

playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

• an assessment has been undertaken which 

has clearly shown the open space, buildings 

or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

• the loss resulting from the proposed 

development would be replaced by 

equivalent or better provision in terms of 

quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

• the development is for alternative sports and 

recreational provision, the needs for which 

clearly outweigh the loss. 

 

If the golf course is to be considered for housing 

development one of these key requirements 

must be fulfilled.  

 

P
age 74



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 9 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 

places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying 

and coordinating development requirements, including the provision of 

infrastructure; 

• a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing 

the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 

generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible 

local services that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social 

and cultural well-being; and 

• an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, 

built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 

biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and 

mitigate and adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy. 

 
Tamworth Local 

Plan (Currently 

being revised 

2012) 

The Tamworth Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State in November 2012. 
Following two sets of questions and an Exploratory Meeting in February the 
appointed planning Inspector recommended the Council to withdraw the Local Plan 
from examination. The Inspector had concerns over the delivery of the Anker Valley 
allocation and the delivery of housing in the Borough. The proposed changes put 
forward by the Council could have resulted in legal challenges arising from the 
Sustainability Appraisal and consultation process. Tamworth Borough Council 
withdrew the Local Plan in March 2013 and we have begun the process of revising the 
Local Plan and working towards a draft consultation later this year.  
 
One of the more significant changes to the Local Plan will be the inclusion of land 
use allocations. The Council will be undertaking work over the next few months to 
ensure that the Council chooses the most appropriate, sustainable and viable 
allocations. We will be asking statutory bodies and other organisations to provide us 
with comments on these potential land use allocations. The Council will take these 
comments into consideration when choosing which sites to allocate. In addition to 
this, the Council is working with Lichfield Council, Staffordshire County Council and 
the ATLAS team of Homes and Communities Agency on a spatial framework and 

master plan for the Anker Valley Sustainable Urban Extension. This work will examine 
infrastructure requirements and the viability of the site.  
 

Tamworth Local Plan will set out the spatial planning strategy for the borough over at 

least the next 15 years from 2015. It will set out the spatial planning strategy for the 

Within the Borough of Tamworth there will be a 

net increase of up to 4,500 dwellings. At least 

1,150 dwellings will be provided for at a 

sustainable centre in the Anker urban 

neighbourhood to the north east of the town 

Valley. The remaining will be provided within the 

existing urban area taking the opportunity to 

maximise the effective use of land in sustainable 

locations. Through working with adjoining 

authorities, a minimum of 1,000 dwellings will be 

provided to meet Tamworth’s needs. There is a 

clear priority within the Local Plan to focus on 

developing in urban areas and the town centre 

first. Whilst it is acknowledged that the Borough 

is predominantly ‘urban’, this policy would 

suggest that there are other areas to be 

prioritised for development (if available) prior to 

considering development on the golf course. 

 

If the Anker Valley spatial framework and master 

planning work shows the site to be unviable, or 

cannot deliver all of the 1,150 homes and 1,000 

in Lichfield (total of 1,650 to meet Tamworth’s 

P
age 75



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 10 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

area, in terms of what type of development is required to meet local community and 

business needs, its scale and locations well as the policies that will apply to ensure 

that development is sustainable. It also includes policies to ensure that appropriate 

supporting infrastructure is delivered and the area’s built and natural environment is 

protected and enhanced. 

 

The Local Plan’s spatial vision is closely aligned to Tamworth’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy’s vision/priorities.  

 

Tamworth is expected to experience a high level of housing and economic growth in 

order to meet its needs and aspirations of the town and create sustainable 

communities. However, opportunities for expansion of the town are constrained by a 

tight administrative boundary and environmental constraints (i.e. the flood plain, the 

Greenbelt). 

 

The Local Plan will set out an overall housing need for a minimum of 5,500 homes. 

Through work carried out between Tamworth, Lichfield and North Warwickshire the 

need to provide 1,000 homes outside of Tamworth has been established, 500 in 

Lichfield, 500 in North Warwickshire. The 500 in Lichfield will be delivered to the 

North of the Anker Valley SUE in Tamworth.   

 

Regarding the environment, the key challenge will be the need to balance growth 

with the protection of natural and built assets to ensure it will not have detrimental 

impact on the quality of life for Tamworth’s communities. 

 

Regarding infrastructure, the key challenge for the Local Plan is to ensure that the 

existing infrastructure is utilised efficiently and it is delivered in locations where 

there is demand, in order to support the creation of sustainable communities and the 

growth of the town. 

 

With regards to sport and leisure facilities, the vision states that ‘investment in 

health and education facilities and improvements to open spaces and leisure/sports 

facilities, combined with greater outdoor opportunities and ensuring development is 

located in sustainable locations, will have helped make the town healthier and safer 

whilst improving qualification and aspiration levels’. One of the strategic spatial 

priorities is ‘to encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing a network of 

high quality, accessible green and blue linkages and open spaces and formal indoor 

needs), then additional work will need to be 

carried out to look at alternative options. The 

land at the Golf Course could be considered a 

suitable alternative.  

 

Tamworth’s network of green and blue 

infrastructure, including the green linkages 

which contribute to Tamworth’s character as 

‘Urban Green’ along with countryside and green 

belt, will be protected, managed and enhanced. 

The emphasis will be on making the best use of 

existing open space through enhancement and 

appropriate management. The golf course is 

characterised as ‘urban green’ within the Local 

Plan. 

 

The Spatial Policy in relation to Sport and Leisure 

identifies the need for a new community leisure 

centre (as evidenced in the Joint Indoor and 

Outdoor Sports Strategy – see Section 3 of this 

report) and highlights the need to protect the 

existing network of sport and recreation facilities 

(including playing pitches) alongside improving 

their quality. It therefore recommends 

that any additional development which results in 

loss or displacement to other uses provides 

adequate compensatory provision, of equal 

accessibility and available prior to the loss of 

existing facilities. 

 

Amington Employment Area which borders the 

golf courses identified as a potential location for 

Office use that cannot be accommodated in the 

town centre however its proximity to the golf 

course is identified as an attraction to potential 

company head offices. In addition, the 

allocations map indicates that the golf course is 

P
age 76



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 11 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

and outdoor recreation facilities that meet identified need and link neighbourhoods 

to each other and the wider countryside’. 

 

The Council’s spatial strategy (Spatial Policy 1) is to provide development in the most 

accessible and sustainable locations, including within and around the town centre, 

within the network of local and neighbourhood centres, regeneration priority areas 

and employment areas. This will meet most of the borough’s housing and 

employment needs whilst safeguarding natural and built assets and addressing social 

and economic deprivation and exclusion. 

 

Existing green belt, countryside, high quality open spaces, sport and leisure facilities 

will be retained, and wherever possible, enhanced. This will help to project a 

positive image of the borough as being ‘urban green’ and to provide opportunities for 

improving biodiversity and recreation thus improving health and wellbeing. 

 

Many of the other Spatial Policies listed reflect the town-centre first approach to 

planning incorporated throughout the Local Plan. 

 

bordered by sites of local nature conservation 

importance and specific scientific interest. Both 

of these factors would suggest that development 

of the golf course would not be straightforward 

within the context of the Local Plan for the 

Borough, although potentially it may be 

acceptable for a proportion of the golf course to 

be developed so providing additional housing / 

employment, whilst retaining golf course 

provision and the important ‘urban green’ 

aspects. 

 

National Census 

Data, Office for 

National 

Statistics 

(2011) 

Data from the 2011 national census from the Office for National Statistics revealed 
that Tamworth is one of the most densely populated local authority areas in the 
country. Tamworth currently has 24.9 people per hectare. This compares to an 
average in Staffordshire of 3.2 people per hectare, 4.3 people per hectare in the 
West Midlands and 4.1 people per hectare in England.  

This data evidences the existing pressure on land 

in the Borough and the difficulty of identifying 

development sites for new housing. 

Health and Wellbeing 

Public Health 

England – 

Priorities for 

2013/14 

Public Health England (PHE) is the expert national public health agency which fulfils 

the Secretary of State for Health’s statutory duty to protect health and address 

inequalities, and executes his power to promote the health and wellbeing of the 

nation. 

 

It has identified 5 high-level priorities: 

1. Helping people to live longer and more healthy lives by reducing preventable 

deaths and the burden of ill health associated with smoking, high blood pressure, 

obesity, poor diet, poor mental health, insufficient exercise, and alcohol 

2. Reducing the burden of disease and disability in life by focusing on preventing 

and recovering from the conditions with the greatest impact, including 

dementia, anxiety, depression and drug dependency 

 

Encouraging people to exercise and take part in 

physical activity is key to meeting these 

priorities and improving the health of the 

population. Retaining the golf course could 

contribute to this aim.   

P
age 77



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 12 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

3. Protecting the country from infectious diseases and environmental hazards, 

including the growing problem of infections that resist treatment with antibiotics 

4. Supporting families to give children and young people the best start in life, 

through working with health visiting and school nursing, family nurse 

partnerships and the Troubled Families programme 

5. Improving health in the workplace by encouraging employers to support their 

staff, and those moving into and out of the workforce, to lead healthier lives. 

 

Tamworth 

Health and 

wellbeing 

profile (2012) 

There are lower proportions of adults aged 20-24 and 30-34 years in Tamworth but 

larger proportion of adults aged 55-64 years. Population projections for Tamworth 

from 2010 to 2035 suggest there will be an overall growth in population (14%). There 

will be an increase in the number of children under 16 (7%) and no change in people 

aged 16-64. The population is however projected to see significant growth in people 

aged 65 and over (91%) and in particular those aged 75 and over (145%). 

 

Overall life expectancy at birth has increased both nationally and locally. Men and 

women in Tamworth have similar life expectancy to the national average. 

However inequalities in the Borough exist. For both men and women, the gap 

between the ward with the lowest life expectancy and the ward with the highest life 

expectancy is six years. Men and women in Belgrave ward have shorter life 

expectancy than the England average. Women in Spital ward also have shorter life 

expectancy. 

 

Healthy life expectancy is estimated to be 68 years for men and 71 years for women 

in Tamworth. Both men and women live significantly more time in ill or poor health 

compared to the national average of 69 and 72 years respectively. 

 

Trends for Tamworth show that overall mortality is reducing for both men and 

women. All-age all-cause mortality (AAACM) rates in Tamworth are similar to the 

England average. AAACM rates are high in Belgrave ward. 

 

The rates of people dying before the age of 75 (which are considered to be 

preventable) continue to decline in Tamworth. Rates have reduced by 34% between 

1995-1997 and 2008-2010, compared with 30% for Staffordshire and 29% for England. 

Also over this time period premature mortality rates from cardiovascular disease 

have been halved (54%) whilst cancer rates have reduced by almost a third (31%). 

This compares with 52% and 22% respectively for England. However there are 

Tamworth has a large elderly population which is 

projected to increase further still by 2035. 

Helping elderly people to stay active is 

extremely important from a health perspective. 

As a game often popular with retired people, 

golf has an important part to play in ensuring 

that they stay active. 

 

Tamworth has a major issue with adult obesity 

and, whilst many of the overall health statistics 

for the Borough are in line with national 

averages, there are major discrepancies across 

different wards. Ensuring people remain active 

should therefore be a major focus for the Council 

and the provision of the golf course could play a 

role in this, particularly encouraging adults to 

become active as it is a form of physical activity 

that is less intensive than many other sports. 

P
age 78



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 13 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

inequalities within Tamworth with Belgrave and Bolehall wards having particularly 

high levels of premature mortality from cardiovascular disease. 

 

The health deprivation and disability domain from the Indices of Deprivation 2010 

identifies areas where there are higher rates of people dying prematurely or where 

their quality of life has been impaired by poor health or disability. Only 4% (2,800 

people) of Tamworth’s population live in the 20% most deprived areas in England for 

health deprivation and disability. However a further 20,600 people (27%) live in the 

second most deprived quintile. 

 

The 2001 Census found that the proportion of people with a limiting long-term illness 

in Tamworth was lower than the England average. However Spital, Castle and 

Bolehall wards have levels higher than England. With an ageing population, Tamworth 

is also predicted to see an increase in numbers of long-term conditions. This will 

place an increased burden on future health and social care resources. 

 

The latest data from the Integrated Household Survey suggest that the smoking 

prevalence in Tamworth was 27% - meaning 16,000 people aged 18 and over smoke. 

Estimates suggest that this percentage varies across areas of Tamworth from 17% to 

40% and that the percentage of the routine and manual groups that smoke is about 

34%, thus contributing to increases in health inequalities. 

 

Estimates suggest approximately 12,100 (20%) adults in Tamworth consume alcohol at 

‘increasing risk’ and a further 4,700 (8%) at ‘higher risk’. Estimates also suggest that 

10,300 (17%) adults are binge drinkers. Across different areas of Tamworth the 

proportion of binge drinkers ranges from 20% to 24%. Although alcohol related 

mortality rates and crimes are similar to England averages. 

 

Using figures from the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP), the 

proportion of obese children in Tamworth in Reception year remained at 10% in 

2010/11. Levels of obesity are much higher (20%) for children in Year 6 and although 

the rise is not statistically significant, the rate has increased from the previous year. 

The percentage of obese children in Reception and Year 6 is similar to the England 

average. 

 

 

 

P
age 79



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 14 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

Estimates suggest that 31% of Tamworth adults are obese, which is significantly 

higher than the England average of 24%. The prevalence of obesity across Tamworth 

varies with the percentage estimated to range between 28% and 34%. 

 

Data from the Active People Survey (2009/10) shows that only 9% of men and women 

in Tamworth achieved the recommended levels of physical activity, which although 

similar to the national average is still too low and is the lowest in Staffordshire. In 

addition, over half (57%) of men and women were inactive, which is significantly 

higher than the national average. 

 

Staffordshire 

Joint Strategic 

Needs 

Assessment 

(2012) 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) has been a statutory responsibility 

jointly held by the NHS and upper-tier local authorities since 2007. The aim of a JSNA 

is to identify the “big picture” in relation to health and wellbeing needs and 

inequalities of the local population. The key findings in relation to Tamworth are as 

follows: 

 

• Both men and women in Tamworth spend more time in poor health compared to 

the national average. 

• Around 25% of adults aged 18 and over are smokers in Tamworth. Significantly 

more smokers are from routine and manual groups contributing to increases in 

health inequalities. 

• Whilst alcohol-related admissions are lower than the national average, the rate of 

increase between 2002/03 and 2010/11 in Tamworth is 120%, lower than 

Staffordshire (164%) but higher than England (104%) 

• Levels of alcohol-related crime and alcohol-related violent crimes are higher than 

the national average in Tamworth 

• Estimates for obesity show Tamworth to be higher than the England average. 

• Tamworth has a higher teenage pregnancy rate than both Staffordshire and 

England. 

 

Tamworth has a problem with obesity, poor 

health and alcohol related issues. Ensuring 

people remain active should therefore be a 

major focus for the Council and the provision of 

the golf course could play a role in this in terms 

of increasing participation and positively 

impacting on obesity and other health issues. 

Sport England 

Local Sport 

Profiles 

Sport England has commissioned data from the British Heart Foundation to estimate 

the health costs of physical inactivity. It estimated that the health costs of physical 

inactivity in Tamworth were £2.014m per 100,000 population. This compared 

unfavourably with a West Midlands average of £1.923m and a national average for 

England of £1.817m.  

 

 

This data highlights the issues faced by Tamworth 

and the importance of physical activity to 

improving health. The provision of the golf 

course can contribute towards this, particularly 

in the adult population. 

P
age 80



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 15 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

Community Safety 

Strategic 

Assessment 

(2012) 

The aim of the Strategic Assessment is to provide the Community Safety Partnership 

with a review of their current safety priorities. Following the previous Strategic 

Assessment, Tamworth CSP has adopted the following high level 

priorities for 2011-14: 

 

1. Tackling priorities pertinent to each of the following 5 locality areas: 

• Tamworth Town Centre, Amington, Glascote, Stonydelph and Belgrave, with 

emphasis on reducing alcohol related crime, violent crime, antisocial 

behaviour, criminal damage, deliberate fires, serious acquisitive crime and 

environmental issues. 

2. Young people as offenders/perpetrators and victims of crime and anti-social 

behaviour: 

• With emphasis on tackling violent crime, teen abuse, criminal damage, 

shoplifting and substance misuse, in particular alcohol. 

3. To reduce re-offending of adults and young people: 

• With emphasis on reducing acquisitive crime and related substance misuse 

issues. 

4. Protecting vulnerable people: 

• With emphasis on protecting those who are most vulnerable, including victims 

of antisocial behaviour, domestic abuse and sexual offences, and other violent 

crimes. 

 

The key findings indicate that crime and anti-social behaviour are improving but that 

violent crime is an important issue and alcohol is a major risk factor relating to this. 

Re-offending trends are down but serious acquisitive crime has started to increase. 

 

As a result of a resident survey of opinions on their local area, the following 

recommendations were made: 

 

• Relevant information about crime, safety and partnership activities is published 

in a manner that meets the needs of local communities, in order to reassure that 

action is being taken. 

• The previously identified priority locations remain, as they are still the hotspot 

locations for crime and disorder. There are no other areas of Tamworth that 

currently require a strategic focus. 

 

The golf course is located on the border of the 

Amington and Stonydelph wards so could play an 

important role in tackling priorities in at least 

two of the five named priority locality wards 

through giving people an opportunity to take part 

in a positive activity rather than anti-social 

behaviour. However, it could also be seen as a 

key strategic location for development in order 

to help regenerate these areas.  

P
age 81



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 16 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

• Problems with ASB and the associated environmental consequences continue to be 

prioritised, with particular emphasis on protecting vulnerable communities and 

repeat locations. 

• Violent crime continues to be prioritised in Tamworth and the misuse of alcohol in 

young people and adults targeted to address levels of violent crime, anti-social 

behaviour and the associated environmental consequences. 

• Tamworth Borough continues to work to increase domestic violence reporting 

through raising awareness of services available to victims and their families. 

• Reducing crime, particularly serious acquisitive crime, continue to be prioritised 

and tackled through a partnership approach to Integrated Offender Management 

at a county level. 

 

Economic Development 

Economic data 

from the 

Staffordshire 

Observatory 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 (IMD 2010) is a way of identifying deprived 

areas. There are seven Local Super Output Areas in Tamworth that fall within the 

most deprived fifth of areas in England making up 13% of its population. These areas 

fall within Glascote, Belgrave, Amington, Castle and Stonydelph. 

 

The child wellbeing index (CWI) 2009 provides useful information at a small area 

level for the wellbeing of children. In Tamworth, seven of the 50 LSOAs fall within 

the fifth most deprived areas in England making up 17% (about 2,600 children) of the 

child population (aged under 16). These areas fall within Amington, Belgrave, 

Glascote and Stonydelph. 

 

Areas of low educational attainment and skills are often associated with high levels 

of worklessness, deprivation and poor health. In 2011, 49% of Tamworth pupils 

achieved five or more A*-C grades at GCSE level including English and Maths. This is 

ten percentage points lower than the England average and seven percentage points 

lower than the Staffordshire average. In addition there are inequalities within the 

district with achievement ranging from 34% in Glascote ward to 57% in Amington 

ward. 

 

Young people not in education, employment or training (NEET) between the ages of 

16-18 is seen as a major predictor of later unemployment, low income, depression, 

involvement in crime and poor physical and mental health. The proportion of young 

people who were NEET during the winter of 2010/11 for Tamworth was 5%. This is 

below the England average. 

The golf course is located on the border of the 

Amington and Stonydelph wards so could play an 

important role in tackling priorities in two of the 

most deprived areas through giving people an 

opportunity to take part in a positive activity 

rather than anti-social behaviour. However, it 

could also be seen as a key strategic location for 

development in order to help regenerate these 

areas. 

P
age 82



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 17 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

 

The unemployment rate in Tamworth in 2011 was 13.2% compared to a national 

average of 8.1% and a Staffordshire average of 8.2%. 

 

69.8% of the working age (16-64) population were economically active compared to a 

national average of 76.2% and a Staffordshire average of 77.3%. 

 

Child poverty is defined as the proportion of children under 16 living in families in 

receipt of out of work benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less 

than 60% median income. In 2009, one in five children in Tamworth were defined as 

living in poverty. This is lower than the national average although it varies 

significantly across the district from 7% in Trinity to 36% in Glascote. 

 

The Indices of Deprivation 2010 found that 10,200 people (14%) were deemed to be 

living in income deprived households. 

 

The average household income for Tamworth was £36,800. However there are 

inequalities with average income ranging from £27,000 in Glascote to £43,700 in 

Trinity ward. 

 

Around 3,400 (21%) people aged 60 and over in Tamworth are deemed to be living in 

income deprived households. This is higher than the Staffordshire (15%) and England 

averages (18%). 

 

Around 4,200 people (9%) in Tamworth live in employment deprivation as measured 

by the numbers of people who would like to work but are unable to do so because of 

unemployment, sickness or disability. This is slightly lower than the England average 

of 10%. 

 

The number of Jobseeker’s Allowance claimants in Tamworth has doubled between 

2008 (1,000 claimants) and 2012 (1,900 claimants). In addition there are inequalities 

across the district with high proportions of claimants in Glascote ward. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 83



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 18 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

Environmental Sustainability 

Tamworth 

Sustainable 

Community 

Strategy (2008 

– 2021) 

The vision is that by 2021 Tamworth will be regarded regionally for: 

 

• Being an attractive place for businesses to locate and invest 

• Provision of educational and skills development opportunities, meeting the needs 

of local people and employers 

• Exceptional historic and natural environments that are well protected 

• Quality leisure and entertainment facilities 

 

And known locally for: 

 

• Provision of affordable housing options in the Borough, which meets the needs of 

a changing population 

• Good access to community facilities and shops 

• Strong, healthy, vibrant and more sustainable communities, with opportunities for 

all to engage in community life 

• Provision of responsive services which meet local need, supporting both 

individuals and families. 

 

In relation to environmental sustainability, the Borough will be cleaner with 

continued opportunities to recycle and with more people encouraged to reduce and 

reuse unwanted waste and household products. 

 

Local people and businesses will be made aware of the importance of their actions 

and the impact of these on the environment, and supported to improve their quality 

of life by taking measures to reduce their carbon footprint and become more energy 

efficient. 

 

Good quality open space is an important resource for local people and improving 

access to it can have a positive impact on people’s mental and physical health and 

well-being. The focus on providing well maintained, clean and safe open spaces will 

continue to ensure increased recreational use of these areas which offer 

opportunities for play, exercise and social interaction. Opportunities to embrace new 

recreational open spaces will also be welcomed. 

 

One of the key priorities is to enhance provision and access to priority habitats and 

local nature reserves. 

The future use of the site should help to meet 
these environmental objectives wherever 
possible and its ability to do this should be 
incorporated within the evaluation matrix for the 
short-listed options. 

P
age 84



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 19 

Document Detail Implications for Study 

Tamworth 

Sustainability 

Appraisal 

incorporating 

Strategic 

Environmental 

Assessment, 

(2012 – 

Currently being 

updated) 

The sustainability objectives utilised within the production of the Local Plan were as 

follows: 

• To meet national policy in the most appropriate and sustainable way for 

Tamworth 

• To meet the housing needs of the whole community 

• To encourage the efficient use of land 

• To reduce deprivation 

• To ensure equal access to community services and facilities 

• To encourage equal access to education, jobs and training 

• To encourage active and healthier lifestyles by providing accessible networks of 

paths, open spaces and formal recreation facilities 

• To make communities safer by reducing crime, fear of crime and anti-social 

behaviour 

• To encourage a diverse and competitive economy that will provide sustainable 

economic growth 

• To protect and enhance historic assets 

• To encourage high quality and locally distinct places, spaces and buildings 

• To protect and enhance biodiversity and sites of nature conservation value 

• To minimise flood risk 

• To reduce energy consumption by encouraging energy efficiency and use of 

renewable energy sources 

• To encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of waste and water 

• To minimise pollution including air, water, land contamination and noise 

• To make Tamworth town centre the heart of the borough by creating a vibrant 

and attractive environment 

• To reduce the need to travel and encourage sustainable modes of transport 

• To make best use of the existing transport infrastructure and seek improvements. 

Any potential future use for the site should be 
considered against the sustainability objectives 
to ensure that it performs as strongly against 
these objectives as possible.  

 

P
age 85



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 20 

Implications for this study 

2.4 The strategic review has identified a number of key issues and priorities that must be taken account of in the evaluation of the 
management / delivery options in Stage 2 of this study. These key issues and priorities are summarised below: 

• The ability of the management / delivery model to contribute towards the Council’s corporate priorities within the Corporate 
Plan must be a key part of the evaluation process. This includes issues such as promoting health and well-being, tackling crime 
and anti-social behaviour, promoting growth, employment and business, and improving physical infrastructure; 

• There are an additional 4,500 houses required to be delivered within the Borough. The site could potentially contribute to this 
provision but whether the site is appropriate for development needs to be considered in light of the Council’s planning policy 
and priority for town-centre development and protecting open spaces. Nevertheless, the overall limited land availability in the 
borough means that the site (or part of it) may need to be considered as a contribution towards this housing target; 

• There are major issues with health and obesity in Tamworth. Increasing participation and physical activity is a major part of 
addressing these issues and the importance of this needs to be factored into the final decision; 

• The golf course is located bordering two of the five most deprived wards in the Borough and could be a key site for 
redevelopment (or partial redevelopment if there is proven to be a wider need for the golf course); 

• There are a number of sustainability objectives that need to be considered when evaluating the options including provision of 
housing, community services, leisure facilities, protecting and enhancing biodiversity and open spaces etc. 

P
age 86



 

Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 21 

03 

3. Needs Analysis 

Introduction 

3.1 This section identifies the financial and leisure needs of the Borough which must be factored 
into the assessment of available options alongside the strategic priorities identified in 
Section 2. 

Financial Needs 

Summary of Medium Term Financial Strategy 

3.2 The Council operates its services on an annual budget of £74m gross revenue expenditure 
(£54m General Fund, £20m Housing Revenue Account). The Council has recently approved its 
Three Year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the General Fund (2013/15) and it’s 
Five Year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the Housing Revenue Account 
(2013/18). 

3.3 The Council’s base budget (net expenditure) for 2013/14 is projected to be £8.961m. The 
General Fund settlement from business rates and grant support is £5.1m in 2013/14 (but is 
estimated to reduce to £4m in 2015/16). Council tax income is estimated at a further £3m 
for 2013/14. This results in a deficit of £757k for 2013/14 which rises to a deficit of £1.347m 
and £1.618m over the following two years. These deficits are being met by existing balances. 

3.4 However, there remains a degree of uncertainty in a number of areas including the impact of 
the changes to council tax support and other welfare reforms on council tax and rent 
income, future local authority pay settlements, the potential for interest rate changes, the 
future local government finance settlements and the level of future business rates income. 

3.5 The Capital programme for 2013/14 totals £7.5m (£7.0m Housing, £0.5m General fund). Over 
3 years, the General Fund Capital Programme totals £3.7m and the Housing Capital 
Programme totals £55.2m (including c.£21m relating to Regeneration Projects) over 5 years. 

3.6 It is clear that there are not significant capital funds available from the General Fund Capital 
Programme. If capital funds are to be made available to support some of the Council’s wider 
strategic needs (such as to develop a new leisure centre) it will be crucial to release capital 
from other sites in the Borough through development. The golf course may be an example of 
such a site depending on the general availability of land for development in the Borough 
(which may be limited considering the relatively small geographical area of the Borough and 
associated high population density). 

Implications for this study 

3.7 The Council has faced funding cuts of circa 40% in recent years although has produced a 
balanced General Fund MTFS for the next 3 years by utilising £5m it holds in balances to 
meet the funding deficit. However, amid increasing financial pressures there is likely to be a 
deficit in the region of c.£2m per annum from 2016/17 onwards. It is envisaged that this will 
be addressed through a number of key pieces of work commissioned by the Executive 
Management Team (Cabinet/CMT) under the umbrella of the Sustainability Strategy.  

Page 87



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 22 

3.8 The strategy incorporates a range of outcome based work streams designed to provide 
tangible contributions towards tackling the deficit over the five year period “sooner rather 
than later”. The work streams will focus upon generating “sustainable” outcomes and not 
simply ‘one off’ efficiencies. The Council’s intention is to use innovation, managed risks and 
long term efficiencies to help to achieve a balanced budget by working with officers, across 
boundaries and involving all tiers of the organisation.  

3.9 These work streams include: 

• Income Generation; 

• Growing the Business; and 

• Strategic Policy Reviews. 

3.10 This will be achieved through a combination of: 

• Housing - new housing developments which will produce capital receipts, Council tax 
income and central government grant funding (under the New Homes Bonus scheme the 
Council will receive c.£1.1k per new house per year for 6 years); 

• Business rates - new businesses will produce increased business rates (of which the 
Council will benefit from approximately 20% after taking account of the levy, central 
government share and tariff levels); and 

• Service reviews and central savings - lower level savings in Council budgets from property 
cost reductions and individual service reviews. There are no specific target reductions 
allocated to each service at this stage. 

3.11 Within this context, the Council has allocated a budget from contingency funds for the 
management of the golf course of £80k per annum for 2013/14 and 2014/15. There is then a 
funding gap for the golf course from 2015/16 onwards that will need to be addressed through 
the final solution for the site. In addition to this, the council has lost the £36k per annum 
that it was budgeting to receive from Tamworth Golf Centre Ltd.  Any remaining cost for the 
golf course from 2015/16 onwards would be added to the c.£2m corporate deficit. 

3.12 With regards to capital, a £250k contingency fund is in place and £100k of this has previously 
been provisionally allocated to spend on the provision of a driving range and subsequently 
£100k has been allocated for remedial works to the course and clubhouse. This leaves £50k 
for any other works required. 

3.13 The key aim for this study in relation to the Council’s finances is therefore to identify the 
delivery / management solution that can best reduce / remove the on-going revenue and 
capital contribution required from the Council towards the operation and maintenance of the 
facility from 2015/16 onwards and to establish whether the solution can also contribute 
towards the funding of the Council’s £2m deficit from 2016/17 onwards. 

Leisure Needs 

3.14 A key question to be addressed is whether there is an actual demand for the golf course as a 
leisure amenity within the Borough. The starting point for answering this question is the 
Council’s Sport Facility Strategy which assessed the level of golf provision within the 
Borough. 

Page 88



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 23 

Joint Indoor and Outdoor Sports Strategy, 2009 

3.15 The sport and leisure consultancy PMP was appointed by Tamworth Borough Council in 
November 2008 to assist in the development of a Joint Indoor and Outdoor Sports Strategy 
for the borough. The strategy incorporated an assessment of the provision of golf courses and 
was developed in accordance with Planning Policy Guidance note 17, Planning for Open 
Space, Sport and Recreation (PPG17). 

3.16 The purpose of this study was to produce a strategic framework, audit, assessment and 
needs analysis of indoor and outdoor sport and recreation facilities for Tamworth Borough to: 

• Inform the Community Leisure Strategy; 

• Guide investment decisions; 

• Provide an evidence base for the Local Development Framework (LDF), including 
recommendations on the development of local planning standards and policy; and 

• Inform the Building Schools for the Future programme in Tamworth Borough. 

3.17 In addition to Tamworth Golf Course, there were also a number of additional golf courses in 
close proximity to Tamworth borough, including: 

• Drayton Park Golf Club – 4.9 miles away; 

• Whittington Heath Golf Club – 7.6 miles away; 

• Atherstone Golf Course – 7.9 miles away;   

• Darnford Moors Golf Club – 9.1 miles away; 

• Moor Hall Golf Course – 9.1 miles away; and 

• Marston Lakes Golf Course – 9.9 miles away. 

3.18 The study identified that the provision of golf courses per 1,000 population in Tamworth was 
significantly below both the national and regional averages and also below its ONS 
neighbours. 

3.19 A household survey was carried out which revealed that: 

• 14% of respondents used golf courses at least once a month; 

• 46% of respondents considered the amount of golf provision in Tamworth to be adequate, 
whilst 18% considered there to be ‘not enough’ golf courses and 11% considered there to 
be ‘nearly enough’ golf courses; and 

• 36% of respondents considered the quality of golf courses to be good, 27% considered the 
quality to be average whilst just 6% considered provision to be poor. 

3.20 Although Tamworth Golf Club was the only golf course located in the borough, residents did 
have good access to a number of other golf courses located just outside the borough 
boundary. The majority of respondents considered the level of provision to be adequate at 
the time of the study in 2009. 

Page 89



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 24 

3.21 It should be noted that the new rail line ‘High Speed 2’ (HS2) route is planned to run through 
the middle of the Whittington Heath Golf Course. The latest update on the golf club’s 
website states that the club is working with HS2 to ensure that the 18 hole golf course is 
retained through the provision of additional land and that there will be no disruption until 
late 2018 at the earliest.  

3.22 The Sports Facility Strategy stated that due to the importance of Tamworth Golf Club as the 
only golf club within Tamworth, the future development of the club should be supported and 
the Council should work with the club to increase participation within the community. 

3.23 In consideration of the lack of golf courses in the borough the report recommended that the 
Council should protect existing provision from development. The specific recommendations 
contained within the report in relation to golf are set out in table 3.1. 

Table 3.1 – Sports Facility Strategy Golf Course Recommendations 

Summary of Key Issues Recommendations 
Implications for Planning 
Policy 

• Tamworth Golf Club is the 
only golf course located 
within Tamworth. This 
facility is an 18 hole golf 
course that allows access 
for registered club 
members 

• there is a good distribution 
of additional golf courses 
located just outside the 
borough boundary 

• there is general 
satisfaction with the 
current provision of golf 
courses 

• it is not considered 
appropriate to set local 
standards for golf courses 
within the draft strategy 
for Tamworth. 

• protect existing provision 
from development and 
work with providers to 
facilitate access to 
existing provision in the 
area 

• support the development 
of Tamworth Golf Club 
and work with providers 
to increase participation 
in the borough. 

• golf courses should be 
included within an overall 
policy relating to sport 
and recreation facilities 
set out in the Core 
Strategy (and future 
Development Plan 
Documents) supporting 
the protection, 
enhancement and 
maintenance of sport and 
recreation facilities in the 
borough 

• no local standards to be 
set for golf facilities. 

 

3.24 In terms of wider provision of sport and leisure facilities, the strategy noted that ‘there is a 
diverse range of sports facilities within Tamworth that provide opportunities for residents 
to use more ‘traditional’ facilities for sports such as swimming, football, badminton, tennis, 
hockey and rugby and also opportunities to use sports specific/less traditional facilities, 
such the SnowDome for indoor skiing and ice skating and the athletics stadium and indoor 
bowling club’. 

 

 

Page 90



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 25 

3.25 And that ‘despite this diverse provision, community access to some core facilities (notably 
sports halls and swimming pools) is limited due to the fact that facilities are either based 
on school sites with associated limitations in use outside school hours or because provision is 
at a private facility where membership fees are set at a level that precludes use by some 
key target groups’. 

3.26 There was a need identified to increase both the total amount and community access to a 
range of 'core' facilities, including swimming pools, sports halls, health and fitness facilities, 
multi-use play areas/tennis courts, bowling greens and skateboarding facilities. 

3.27 In particular, the strategy made recommendations that there was a need to increase the 
amount of accessible waterspace and the quality of provision in the Borough through the 
provision of a new community 25m swimming pool and teaching pool. This would be provided 
in a new community leisure centre incorporating a 75 station health and fitness suite, a 4 
court sports hall and an exercise studio. Additionally, it was recommended that the Council 
improve the quality, increase capacity and increase the hours of community access to sports 
halls on school sites. 

3.28 Since the completion of the strategy, changes to the provision on school sites have resulted 
in increased need for ‘core’ leisure provision, particularly swimming pool space, which 
remains a priority for leisure development in the Borough.  

3.29 Additional key findings relating to sport and leisure facility provision in the Borough were as 
follows: 

• explore opportunities to increase tennis court provision, particularly in the south of the 
Borough; 

• explore opportunities for providing new bowling green provision within areas of highest 
deficiency (i.e. within the south of the borough); and 

• provision of synthetic turf pitches and natural turf pitches was mostly sufficient with 
some issues to be addressed regarding securing access and improving quality. 

3.30 This information from the facility strategy should also be supplemented with the current 
priorities for the Community Leisure Service (as reflected in the service business plan) and 
up to date data which can inform the potential current level of demand for the golf course, 
including the financial performance and level of usage of the golf course and the propensity 
of the local residents to take part in golf (as identified by available market segmentation 
data). 

Community Leisure Service Business Plan 2013/14 

3.31 The Community Leisure section of Communities, Planning & Partnerships exists to encompass 
the vision of ‘One Tamworth, Perfectly Placed’ through partnership working enabling direct 
delivery and to impact on the Borough’s strategic priorities. 

3.32 The service takes the lead in the Borough on the delivery and development of leisure, 
culture and sporting activities. It is increasingly supporting partnership working (such as with 
schools) so that other organisations can contribute to the infrastructure necessary to achieve 
growth in physical and cultural activity and the rest of the service aims. 

 

Page 91



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 26 

3.33 The key objectives for the business plan are driven by the following Vision Priorities for the 
service: 

Priority 1 

• Raise the aspirations and attainment of young people; and 

• Assist in creating employment locally. 

Priority 2 

• Address the causes of poor health in children and young people linking with the Healthy 
Tamworth Agenda; 

• Improve the health and well-being of older people by supporting them to live active, 
independent lives; 

• Implement “Total Place” solutions to tackling crime and anti-social behaviour in 
designated localities; and 

• Create an integrated approach to protecting those most vulnerable in our communities. 

Tamworth Golf Course Business Plan 2013 - 15 

3.34 The Council’s business plan for the course projects total income of £226,470 and expenditure 
of £306,470 per annum. These figures are based on a membership target of 150 members and 
total annual usage projection of 19,264 visits (the course is open to pay and play users as 
well as members). 

3.35 However, an English Golf Union survey from December 2011 of every golf club in England 
(53% response rate of which 7% / 73 were from municipal courses) found that membership 
numbers were falling. 60% of clubs that responded had seen membership numbers decrease 
since 2008 with the average English Golf Club having 514 members (out of a stated optimum 
total membership of 645). This statistic would indicate that Tamworth Golf Course is under-
utilised in comparison to other clubs and that local demand is not particularly strong. By 
comparison, a local newspaper reported that Whittington Heath Golf Club had circa 500 full 
paying members in 2012. 

Sport England Market Segmentation 

3.36 Sport England market segmentation data models particular groups and provides information 
on sporting behaviours and attitudes as well as motivations for and barriers to taking part in 
sport. This research builds upon the Active People Survey, the Department for Culture Media 
and Sport's Taking Part Survey and the Mosaic tool from Experian. 

3.37 19 market segments have been created from an analysis of the English population (18+ 
years). Each segment exhibits distinct characteristics, with information covering specific 
sports that people take part in and reasons why people do sport, together with the level of 
interest in and barriers to doing more sport. The detailed breakdown of market segmentation 
results for Tamworth, including descriptions of each market segment, is set out in Appendix 
A. 

 

Page 92



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 27 

3.38 The segments that are most likely to play golf are ‘Philip’, ‘Tim’, ‘Roger and ‘Joy’ and 
‘Frank’. In terms of Tamworth, 11.1% of the Borough are Philips, compared to a national 
average of 8.6%. The Borough also has above average levels of Frank’s (4.8%) compared to 
the national average (4%). Roger and Joy are represented at levels just below the national 
average (6.7% compared to 6.8%) but Tim is significantly underrepresented compared to the 
national average (7.5% compared to 8.8%). 

3.39 According to the market segmentation data, there are 2,009 people within Tamworth 
currently participating in golf (which is calculated from Sport England’s Active People 
survey). A large proportion of these people must be exported to the other courses 
referenced within this section. There are also another 901 people who would like to play 
more sport and identified golf as the number one sport that they would like to play although 
the data does not identify what is stopping these people from playing golf i.e. a lack of time, 
a lack of available courses or a lack of money etc. 

Implications for this study 

3.40 It is clear from the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy that there is no budget 
available to subsidise the facility in the long-term beyond the next two years. In fact, it is 
likely that the Council will require the golf course to make a financial contribution to filling 
the Council’s long-term funding gap, be it through an on-going revenue contribution or a 
capital receipt from the disposal of a section or the entirety of the site. 

3.41 Nevertheless, the financial need must be balanced against the leisure need for the site. The 
conclusion from the Joint Indoor and Outdoor Sports Strategy was that the golf course should 
continue to be provided and public access protected (although this aim could be achieved 
through a variety of different management models). The current threat to one of the 
competing golf courses in the area from the new HS2 rail link is also a factor to consider, 
albeit there are clearly plans for relocation / reprovision as part of land deals associated 
with this development. 

3.42 However, there is importantly a wider need across the Borough for other new leisure 
facilities, particularly a new community leisure centre that could incorporate a new 
swimming pool, sports hall and health and fitness facilities – all of which have significantly 
higher participation levels than golf. The Council’s priorities in terms of the leisure facilities 
that it wants to provide in the future must be factored into the overall decision on the future 
of the site, as the golf course could provide a site for a new leisure centre or some land for 
development that could cross-fund the capital cost of a new leisure centre.  

3.43 The existing demand for the golf course is uncertain when the business plan is analysed as 
the number of members it currently has is significantly down on the national average, 
however market segmentation data from Sport England did identify another circa 900 
potential players in the Borough. A key part of the consideration in Stage 2 of this study will 
be whether a change in the management model will be likely to facilitate an increase in 
members (and therefore income) and a sustainable long-term solution. 

3.44 In the context of this information and that presented in Section 2, the final part of Stage 1 is 
to summarise the Council’s required outcomes from the future delivery / management of the 
golf course as a result of the work we have carried out to date and identify the headline 
delivery / management options that will be evaluated against the required outcomes. 

 

Page 93



 

Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 28 

04 

4. Project Outcomes and Options Identification 

Introduction 

4.1 Utilising the findings from Stage 1 of this project, we have identified the draft key project 
outcomes. These reflect our understanding of the Council’s key priorities from a strategic, 
financial and leisure needs perspective. We have also suggested a ranking and corresponding 
weighting for these project outcomes.  

4.2 The delivery / management options set out later in this section will then be short-listed and 
evaluated against their ability to deliver the project outcomes in Stage 2 of this work. The 
results of this will be used to recommend the preferred option for the future of the golf 
course.  

4.3 The key tasks for Council Officers and Members following consideration of this Stage 1 report 
are to: 

• Confirm the desired project outcomes; and 

• Confirm the priority of these project outcomes as reflected in the weightings attributed 
to them. 

Draft Project Outcomes 

4.4 From the strategic needs analysis we have identified the following draft project outcomes 
that the future delivery / management option for the golf course should be evaluated 
against: 

• Contribution to the Council’s annual revenue deficit from 2016/17 onwards; 

• Potential for generation of a capital receipt for the Council; 

• Contribution to economic regeneration and growth in the Borough (including the 
provision of new housing development); 

• Promotion of exercise and healthy lifestyles and contribution to increasing participation 
and reducing obesity; 

• Ability to meet the leisure needs of the Borough’s residents and the Council’s wider 
vision / strategy for sport and leisure provision;  

• Delivery of the Council’s environmental and sustainability objectives, including 
protecting green and blue spaces. 

4.5 We have also identified an additional criteria that should be considered based on our 
experience of carrying out options appraisals: 

• Cost and timescales of implementation and level of risk involved / likelihood of delivery. 

Page 94



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 29 

4.6 In table 4.1 we have suggested the priority of these project outcomes and some draft 
weightings however this should be considered and confirmed / adjusted as appropriate by 
Council Officers and Members. 

Table 4.1 – Draft Priority and Weightings of Project Outcomes for Evaluation 

Priority Project Outcome Draft Weighting  

1. Potential for and likely level of contribution to the Council’s 
annual revenue deficit from 2016/17 onwards. 

20% 

2. Contribution to economic regeneration and growth in the Borough 
(including the provision of new housing development). 

15% 

3. Potential for the option to generate a capital receipt for the 
Council and likely level of capital receipt. 

15% 

4. Promotion of exercise and healthy lifestyles and contribution to 
increasing participation and reducing obesity. 

15% 

5. Ability to meet the leisure needs of the Borough’s residents and 
the Council’s wider vision / strategy for sport and leisure 
provision. 

15% 

6. Cost and timescales of implementation and level of risk involved / 
likelihood of delivery. 

10% 

7. Contribution to the delivery of the Council’s environmental and 
sustainability objectives including protecting green and blue 
spaces. 

10% 

 

Options for Evaluation 

4.7 In light of the project outcomes identified above and our experience of the delivery / 
management models available in the market for such a facility, we have identified the 
following long-list options for evaluation in Stage 2 of this project. The options are split 
between physical development options and management options. 

• Physical development options: 

− Option A – retention of 18-hole golf course (status quo); 

− Option B – retention of 18-hole golf course, plus development of ancillary provision 
(clubhouse / health & fitness gym / complimentary leisure facilities); 

− Option C – disposal of front 9 holes for development, with retention of back 9 holes; 

− Option D – disposal of front 9 holes for development, with retention of back 9 holes 
plus development of ancillary provision using part of any capital receipt (clubhouse / 
health & fitness gym / complimentary leisure facilities); 

− Option E – disposal of back 9 holes for development, with retention of front 9 holes;  

Page 95



Tamworth Golf Course Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Needs Assessment        Page 30 

− Option F – disposal of back 9 holes for development, with retention of front 9 holes 
plus development of ancillary provision using part of any capital receipt (clubhouse / 
health & fitness gym / complimentary leisure facilities); 

− Option G – part disposal of site, retention of 18-hole golf course through remodelling 
of holes to reduce land-take; 

− Option H – part disposal of site for development, but retention of 18-hole golf course 
through purchase of additional land adjacent to eastern boundary of the course and 
reprovision of lost holes; 

− Option I – complete disposal of entire site to generate capital receipt to be utilised 
for wider strategic aims such as the development of a new leisure centre in the town 
centre. 

• Management options: 

− Option 1 - Continued in-house management of the golf course; 

− Option 2 - Outsourced management of the golf course via a lease  / management 
contract; 

− Option 3 – set up of a local social enterprise management vehicle (Company Limited 
by Guarantee / Charitable Incorporated Organisation / Community Interest 
Company).  

4.8 In relation to partial / complete disposal options, the most appropriate future alternative 
use for the land will need to be considered as part of the appraisal. For instance, part of the 
site may be more suited to residential development, whilst other parts may be more suitable 
for employment land or delivery of alternative leisure facilities.  

4.9 The next step is for the Council to sign-off the project outcomes and weightings and agree 
the options for evaluation. These options will then be the subject of Stage 2 which will 
provide a detailed options appraisal consisting of: 

• An appraisal of the long list options, to inform a short list for further testing; 

• User and non-user surveys; 

• Detailed options appraisal of short listed options; and  

• Finalisation of recommendations and the options appraisal report. 

4.10 The short list testing will involve financial modelling of each shortlisted option to understand 
the capital and revenue costs / incomes and overall financial impact on the Council.  

4.11 Any queries on the contents of this Stage 1 report should be directed to Damien Adams at 
damienadams@fmgconsulting.co.uk or Andy Farr at andyfarr@fmgconsulting.co.uk.  

 

 

Page 96



CABINET 
 

 
30th May 2013 

 
 

REPORT OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ECONOMIY AND EDUCATION 

 
 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS - STREAMLINING INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS AND 

VALIDATION 

 
 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
To seek member approval to the revised information requirements for planning applications 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Approve the revised information requirements (Local Validation Criteria) for 
planning applications as set out in the appendix to this report for consultation 

2. Authorise consultation on the revised information requirements set out in the 
appendix to this report for a period of 6 weeks in accordance with statutory 
requirements 

3. Authorise the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise in 
consultation with the Director of Communities, Planning and Partnerships and 
solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer to adopt the revised information 
requirements, subject to any  amendments arising from the consultation 
exercise 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
To enable the Borough Council to consider and formally determine a planning application, it 
is important that sufficient information is provided by the applicant about the expected impact 
of the proposed development. 
 
The validation stage for planning applications is the point from when the Borough Council 
receives an application to confirming that all necessary information is present and other pre 
validation requirements have been met. Getting the validation stage right is essential to an 
efficient planning system. 
 
Concern has been expressed that some local authorities require information that is not 
necessarily relevant to the planning application in question and without giving full 
consideration to the costs that such information requests can impose on applicants. 
 
Information requirements for planning applications fall into 2 categories. The first relates to 
national requirements which include a need to make the application on an appropriate 
applications form (with ownership certificates), plans of the development and a nationally set 
fee. The second relates to local requirements (the local list) such as the need for ecological 
surveys or information relating to ground contamination. 
 
In January 2013 the Government introduced a requirement that all local authorities should 
revisit their local list at least every two years. The legislation provides that as from 31st July 
2013 only requirements set out in a ‘local list’ published in the previous 2 years will apply. If 
the Borough Council does not have an up to date ‘local list’ in place by that date they would 

Agenda Item 10

Page 97



not be in a position to insist on submission of important information and could as a 
consequence be in a difficult position when it comes to determining planning applications. 
 
The Borough Council’s ‘local list’ was adopted in March 2008 and therefore would not comply 
with the requirements of current legislation. 
 
In reviewing the ‘local list’ officers have worked closely with the Greater Birmingham and 
Solihull LEP with a desire to make progress towards a common validation process across the 
LEP in accordance with their Planning Charter. Unfortunately due to differences that exist 
between unitary authorities and shire districts it was not considered practicable to achieve a 
LEP wide document within the time available. Consequently those authorities within the LEP 
who are still to review their ‘local list’ have decided to use the format adopted by Birmingham 
City and tailor it to local requirements. This will assist applicants in putting together their 
applications as it will use a common language and style. 
 
In reviewing the ‘local list’ officers have also considered matters included in the ‘local list’ 
produced by Lichfield District Council which was produced in January 2013, and has similar 
issues to the Borough. 
 
The resultant draft ‘local list’ being presented for consideration by Cabinet is attached as an 
appendix to this report. 
 
If members agree to the draft ’local list’ there is a requirement for consultation with the 
community for a period of 6 weeks and consideration given to any amendments that might be 
necessary. In this instance the community includes agents, applicants, statutory and non 
statutory consultees and any other interested parties. 
 
The consultation process will include writing to parties with a known interest in planning 
matters which are kept on an existing database, by placing a public notice in the Tamworth 
Herald, by meeting with the Agents forum and by including details of the revised local 
validation criteria on the Borough Council website. 
 
All responses received will be fully analysed and if necessary amendments will be made to 
the criteria. If no substantive objections are received then it is intended that the Portfolio 
Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise and the Director of Communities, Planning 
and Partnerships should be given the authority to adopt the revised criteria on behalf of the 
Borough Council. In the event that substantive objections are received, which have not been 
resolved by discussion by your officers, a further report will be presented to the cabinet for 
consideration. 
 
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
The cost of carrying out the consultation exercise including press adverts and letters will be 
met from within the development control budget 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
If a local list is not adopted by 31st July 2013 there would be no mechanism for ensuring that 
all information required to make an objective decision is available. This in turn could affect 
the quality of the decision which, if challenged at appeal, could result in cost awards against 
the Council 
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
All planning decisions should have sustainability at their heart. In the absence of good 
information to support planning decisions sustainable development may not result 
 
 

Page 98



BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
The Town and Country (Development Management Procedure)(England)(Amendment No.3) 
Order 2012 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
John Gunn – Development Control Manager 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Local Validation Criteria 
 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

LL
oo

cc
aa

ll   
VV

aa
ll ii
dd

aa
tt
ii oo

nn
  CC

rr
ii tt

ee
rr
ii aa

  
 

 
V
a
li
d
a
ti
o
n
 I
te
m
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

R
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
o
li
c
y
 

D
ri
v
e
r 

T
y
p
e
s
 o
f 
a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
 t
h
is
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
a
t 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 I
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 L
in
k
s
 t
o
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

1
 

A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 w

id
e
  
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 6
 

 

W
h
e
n
 1
5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 a
re
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
. 
 

N
e
w
 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
v
o
lv
in
g
 
1
5
 
o
r 
m
o
re
 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 
(g
ro
s
s
) 
to
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
3
0
%
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
n
 s
it
e
. 
T
h
e
 o
n
 s
it
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 
5
0
%
 
s
o
c
ia
l 

re
n
te
d
, 

2
5
%
 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 
re
n
te
d
 
a
n
d
 
2
5
%
 

in
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 t
e
n
u
re
. 

 If
 o
n
 s
it
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 n
o
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 p
a
ym

e
n
t 
o
f 

a
 c
o
m
m
u
te
d
 s
u
m
 i
n
 l
ie
u
 o
f 
o
n
 s
it
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w

ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

 A
d
o
p
te
d
 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 
L
o
c
a
l 

P
la
n
 
2
0
0
1
-2
0
1
1
 
- 

P
o
lic
y 

H
S
G
1
1
: 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

O
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
 

 P
la
n
n
in
g
 O

b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
 S
P
D
 

 

2
 

V
ia
b
il
it
y
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
  

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 6
 

 

W
h
e
re
 a
n
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
t 
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
n
o
t 

p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
0
6
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
),
 
d
u
e
 
to
 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

v
ia
b
ili
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

 

T
h
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 a
n
 '
o
p
e
n
 b
o
o
k
' 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

th
e
 f
o
llo

w
in
g
; 

 

•
 

P
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
th
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
it
e
 a
n
d
 w

h
e
n
 i
t 
w
a
s
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
d
 

•
 

D
e
ta
ile

d
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a

n
y
 a

b
n
o
rm

a
ls
 a

n
d
 o

ff
 s
it
e
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

•
 

P
re
d
ic
te
d
 s
a
le
 v
a
lu
e
/i
n
c
o
m
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 f
in
is
h
e
d
 s
it
e
 

•
 

C
o
s
t 
o
f 
S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
0
6
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 c
o
s
ts
  

•
 

%
 p
ro
fi
t 
o
n
 c
o
s
t 
b
o
th
 w

it
h
 a
n
d
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 f
u
ll 
S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
0
6
 o
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
 

 A
 t
e
m
p
la
te
 i
s
 a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
r 
c
o
n
v
e
n
ie
n
c
e
 (
s
e
e
 a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t)
 

 In
 c
a
s
e
s
 o
f 
d
is
p
u
te
 t
h
e
 B

o
ro
u
g
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
 o
f 
th
e
 V

ia
b
ili
ty
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 D

is
tr
ic
t 
V
a
lu
e
r 
a
n
d
 w

ill
 e
x
p
e
c
t 
th
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
t 
to
 f
u
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

c
h
e
c
k
. 
 

 

Page 101



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 2
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

3
 

A
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

(o
n
 o
r 
a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 
to
 a
 

h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 a
s
s
e
t 
o
f 

a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

in
te
re
s
t)
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
  

p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 1
2
8
 

 D
C
L
G
 H

is
to
ri
c
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

G
u
id
e
, 

W
h
e
n
 
a
n
y
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
s
 
n
e
w
 

b
u
ild

in
g
 o

r 
g
ro
u
n
d
 d

is
tu
rb
a
n
c
e
 o

n
 o

r 
a
d
jo
in
in
g
 a

 
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

a
s
s
e
t 

o
f 

a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

in
te
re
s
t 

(r
e
g
a
rd
le
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 D

e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t)
. 

 

If
 
a
 
D
e
s
ig
n
 
a
n
d
 
A
c
c
e
s
s
 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
is
 
a
ls
o
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
th
e
 
A
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
m
u
s
t 
b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 w

it
h
in
 i
t.
  
A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 a
re
 a
d
v
is
e
d
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 

w
h
a
t 
is
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 
O
ff
ic
e
r 
b
e
fo
re
 
a
n
y
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 
is
 

m
a
d
e
. 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

 S
e
e
 
th
e
 
In
s
ti
tu
te
 
fo
r 
A
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
is
ts
 
fo
r 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 
a
n
d
 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 
a
b
o
u
t 

a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 

 S
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 M

o
n
u
m
e
n
ts
 R

e
c
o
rd
 

4
 

C
o
a
l 
M
in
in
g
 R
is
k
  

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
  

 

A
ll 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

w
h
ic
h
 

in
v
o
lv
e
 

fo
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 
(e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
e
r)
 
w
h
ic
h
 
fa
ll 

w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 
C
o
a
l 

M
in
in
g
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 

A
re
a
s
 a
s
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 b
y 
T
h
e
 C

o
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 h
e
ld
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
. 
 

 

A
 C

o
a
l 
M
in
in
g
 R

is
k
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 b
y 
a
 s
u
it
a
b
ly
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 

a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
e
te
n
t 
p
e
rs
o
n
 (
s
e
e
 P
P
G
1
4
 f
o
r 
d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
).
 I
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 c
o
n
ta
in
: 
 

 1
. 

S
it
e
 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 
c
o
a
l 

m
in
in
g
 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 
p
a
s
t/
p
re
s
e
n
t/
fu
tu
re
 

u
n
d
e
rg
ro
u
n
d
 m

in
in
g
, 
s
h
a
llo

w
 c
o
a
l 
w
o
rk
in
g
s
, 
m
in
e
 e

n
tr
ie
s
 (
s
h
a
ft
s
 o

r 
a
d
it
s
),
 

m
in
e
 
g
a
s
, 
w
it
h
in
 
a
n
 
a
re
a
 
w
h
ic
h
 
h
a
s
 
a
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
lic
e
n
c
e
 
to
 
e
x
tr
a
c
t 
c
o
a
l,
 

g
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
fe
a
tu
re
s
, 
a
n
y
 
re
c
o
rd
e
d
 
s
u
rf
a
c
e
 
h
a
z
a
rd
s
, 
o
r 
w
it
h
in
 
a
 
fo
rm

e
r 
o
r 

p
re
s
e
n
t 
s
u
rf
a
c
e
 m

in
in
g
 [
o
ld
 o
p
e
n
c
a
s
t]
 a
re
a
).
 

  2
. 
Id
e
n
ti
fy
 w

h
a
t 
ri
s
k
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 c
o
a
l 
m
in
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
, 

p
o
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

  3
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 
h
o
w
 
c
o
a
l 

m
in
in
g
 
is
s
u
e
s
 
h
a
v
e
 
in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
d
 
th
e
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
n
y
 
o
th
e
r 
m
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 
a
re
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
to
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
/o
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
n
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 

in
to
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

  4
. 
A
n
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
s
 i
n
tr
u
s
iv
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 w

h
ic
h
 i
n
te
rs
e
c
t,
 d
is
tu
rb
 

o
r 
e
n
te
r 
a
n
y
 c
o
a
l 
s
e
a
m
s
, 
c
o
a
l 
m
in
e
 w

o
rk
in
g
s
 o
r 
m
in
e
 e
n
tr
ie
s
 w

ill
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
r 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 p
e
rm

is
s
io
n
 o
f 
T
h
e
 C

o
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
. 

  N
o
te
 -
 i
f 
a
n
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
is
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 b
y 
th
e
 T

o
w
n
 a
n
d
 C

o
u
n
tr
y
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 
(E

n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t)
 
(E
n
g
la
n
d
 
a
n
d
 
W

a
le
s
) 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 1

9
9
9
 a
s
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
, 
it
 i
s
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C

M
R
A
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 E
S
. 
 

Page 102



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 3
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

5
 

D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 A
c
c
e
s
s
  

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
(D
A
S
) 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
  
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
  

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
2
 o
f 
th
e
 

2
0
0
4
 T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 

C
o
u
n
tr
y
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

A
c
t.
  

 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 O

rd
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 (
o
r 
a
s
 

a
m
e
n
d
e
d
) 
 

 

R
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 
fo
r 

a
ll 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
e
x
c
e
p
t 
fo
r 

th
o
s
e
 

lis
te
d
 b
e
lo
w
. 

  

•
 

e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
 o
r 
m
in
in
g
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

•
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
h
o
u
s
e
 

o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 
c
u
rt
ila

g
e
 
o
f 
a
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
h
o
u
s
e
 f
o
r 
a
n
y
 p

u
rp
o
s
e
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ta
l 

to
 
th
e
 
e
n
jo
ym

e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
h
o
u
s
e
, 

w
h
e
re
 
n
o
 
p
a
rt
 
o
f 
th
a
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
h
o
u
s
e
 
o
r 

c
u
rt
ila

g
e
 
is
 
w
it
h
in
 
a
 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 
a
re
a
, 

S
S
S
I,
 o
r 
is
 a
 l
is
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
. 
 

•
 

a
 
m
a
te
ri
a
l 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
in
 
th
e
 
u
s
e
 
o
f 
la
n
d
 
o
r 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
, 

u
n
le
s
s
 

it
 

a
ls
o
 

in
v
o
lv
e
s
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
(b
u
ilt
) 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

•
 

e
x
te
n
s
io
n
s
 

to
 

th
e
 

ti
m
e
 

lim
it
s
 

fo
r 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
e
rm

is
s
io
n
s
. 
 

•
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
n
 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
fl
a
t 
fo
r 
a
n
y
 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ta
l 
to
 t
h
e
 e
n
jo
ym

e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

fl
a
t 
a
s
 s
u
c
h
, 
w
h
e
re
 n
o
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
a
t 
fl
a
t 
is
 

w
it
h
in
 a
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
, 
S
S
S
I,
 o
r 
is
 a
 

lis
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
. 
 

•
 

th
e
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
a
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
ild

in
g
 u
s
e
d
 

fo
r 

n
o
n
-d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
 
w
h
e
re
 
th
e
 

fl
o
o
rs
p
a
c
e
 
c
re
a
te
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
e
x
c
e
e
d
 1
0
0
 s
q
u
a
re
 m

e
tr
e
s
 a
n
d
 

w
h
e
re
 
n
o
 
p
a
rt
 
o
f 

th
e
 
b
u
ild

in
g
 
o
r 

th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

is
 
w
it
h
in
 
a
 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
, 
S
S
S
I,
 o
r 
is
 a
 l
is
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
. 
 

•
 

th
e
 e
re
c
ti
o
n
, 
c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
, 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
r 

a
lt
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
a
 
g
a
te
, 
fe
n
c
e
, 
w
a
ll 
o
r 
o
th
e
r 

m
e
a
n
s
 o
f 
e
n
c
lo
s
u
re
, 
u
p
 t
o
 2
m
 h
ig
h
 o
r 
th
e
 

h
e
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 m

e
a
n
s
 o
f 
e
n
c
lo
s
u
re
, 

w
h
ic
h
e
v
e
r 
is
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
e
r,
 w

h
e
re
 n
o
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

th
e
 b
u
ild

in
g
 o
r 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 w

it
h
in
 a
 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 
a
re
a
, 
S
S
S
I,
 
o
r 
is
 
a
 
lis
te
d
 

b
u
ild

in
g
. 
 

•
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
la
n
d
 
(l
a
n
d
 

u
s
e
d
 
to
 
c
a
rr
y
 
o
u
t 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
s
 

o
r 
la
n
d
 i
n
 w

h
ic
h
 a
n
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
is
 h
e
ld
 f
o
r 
th
a
t 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 (
A
s
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 i
n
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 2
6
3
 (
1
) 
(a
) 

(b
) 
o
f 
th
e
 T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 C

o
u
n
tr
y
 P

la
n
n
in
g
 A

c
t 

1
9
9
0
))
 
c
o
n
s
is
ti
n
g
 
o
f 
th
e
 
e
re
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
a
 

T
h
e
 C

A
B
E
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 “
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 S

ta
te
m
e
n
ts
: 
h
o
w
 t
o
 w

ri
te
, 
re
a
d
 

a
n
d
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
m
” 
g
iv
e
s
 a
d
v
ic
e
 o
n
 h
o
w
 b
e
s
t 
to
 u
s
e
 a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
 a
 D

A
S
, 
a
n
d
 c
a
n
 

b
e
 d
o
w
n
lo
a
d
e
d
 a
t;
 

  w
w
w
.c
a
b
e
.o
rg
.u
k
/A
s
s
e
tL
ib
ra
ry
/8
0
7
3
.p
d
f 
 

 A
 D

A
S
 s
h
o
u
ld
 e

x
p
la
in
 t
h
e
 d

e
s
ig
n
 p

ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 a

n
d
 c
o
n
c
e
p
ts
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

a
p
p
lie

d
 
to
 
th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
h
o
w
 
is
s
u
e
s
 
re
la
ti
n
g
 
to
 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 
to
 
th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
a
lt
 w

it
h
. 
T
h
e
 D

A
S
 m

u
s
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

a
m
o
u
n
t 

o
f 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 
la
y
o
u
t,
 
s
c
a
le
, 

la
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 
a
n
d
 
a
p
p
e
a
ra
n
c
e
, 

p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
c
ri
m
e
 
a
n
d
 
a
 
d
e
ta
ile

d
 
e
x
p
la
n
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
h
o
w
 
c
lim

a
te
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

m
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 T
h
e
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
ra
is
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
n
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
m
a
d
e
 o
f 
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 t
a
k
e
s
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
a
t 
c
o
n
te
x
t.
 

  F
o
r 
o
u
tl
in
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
e
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 j
u
s
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 o
f 
d
e
s
ig
n
 

a
n
d
 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 
a
n
d
 
d
e
ta
il 

th
e
 
u
s
e
, 

th
e
 
a
m
o
u
n
t 

o
f 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 
s
c
a
le
 

p
a
ra
m
e
te
rs
, 
in
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 l
a
y
o
u
t 
a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 p
o
in
ts
. 

  F
o
r 
re
s
e
rv
e
d
 m

a
tt
e
rs
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
 D

A
S
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
ti
n
g
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 o
f 
th
e
 o
u
tl
in
e
 s
ta
g
e
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
p
p
lie

d
 a
n
d
 a
d
h
e
re
d
 t
o
. 
 

Page 103



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 4
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

b
u
ild

in
g
 
o
r 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 
u
p
 
to
 
1
0
0
 
c
u
b
ic
 

m
e
tr
e
s
 i
n
 v
o
lu
m
e
 a
n
d
 1
5
m
 i
n
 h
e
ig
h
t 
a
n
d
 

w
h
e
re
 
n
o
 
p
a
rt
 
o
f 

th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

is
 

w
it
h
in
 a
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
, 
S
S
S
I,
 o
r 
is
 a
 

lis
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
. 
 

•
 

th
e
 a
lt
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
ild

in
g
 w

h
e
re
 

th
e
 a

lt
e
ra
ti
o
n
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 s
iz
e
 

o
f 
th
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 a

n
d
 w

h
e
re
 n

o
 p

a
rt
 o

f 
th
e
 

b
u
ild

in
g
 
o
r 
th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 
w
it
h
in
 
a
 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 
a
re
a
, 
S
S
S
I,
 
o
r 
is
 
a
 
lis
te
d
 

b
u
ild

in
g
. 
 

•
 

th
e
 e
re
c
ti
o
n
, 
a
lt
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
r 
re
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

p
la
n
t 
o
r 
m
a
c
h
in
e
ry
 w

h
e
re
, 
a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 t
h
e
 h

e
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
la
n
t 

o
r 

m
a
c
h
in
e
ry
 
w
o
u
ld
 
n
o
t 

e
x
c
e
e
d
 
th
e
 

g
re
a
te
r 
o
f 
1
5
 m

e
tr
e
s
 a
b
o
v
e
 g
ro
u
n
d
 l
e
v
e
l,
 

o
r 

th
e
 
h
e
ig
h
t 

o
f 

th
e
 
o
ri
g
in
a
l 
p
la
n
t 

o
r 

m
a
c
h
in
e
ry
, 

a
n
d
 
w
h
e
re
 
n
o
 
p
a
rt
 
o
f 

th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

is
 
w
it
h
in
 
a
 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
, 
S
S
S
I,
 o
r 
is
 a
 l
is
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
; 
o
r 
 

•
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 7
3
 (
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 (
to
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 l
a
n
d
 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
).
  

 N
.B
. 
E
v
e
n
 
w
h
e
re
 
n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 
m
a
y
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

s
u
b
m
it
ti
n
g
 
a
 
D
A
S
 
in
 
o
rd
e
r 

to
 
fu
lly
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
  

 

6
 

E
c
o
lo
g
ic
a
l/
 

G
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
  
  
 

 N
a
tu
re
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

s
it
e
s
 (
N
N
R
, 
S
S
S
Is
, 

S
IN

C
s
, 
L
N
R
s
 o
r 

S
L
IN

C
s
),
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 

w
ild

lif
e
 h
a
b
it
a
ts
, 
k
e
y
 

w
ild

lif
e
 c
o
rr
id
o
rs
 a
n
d
 

w
ild

lif
e
 c
o
rr
id
o
rs
, 

s
e
m
i-
n
a
tu
ra
l 
o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
. 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

 C
ir
c
u
la
r 
0
6
/2
0
0
5
: 
 

B
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 a
n
d
  

G
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 –
  

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 

O
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
  

a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
  

S
y
s
te
m
. 
 

 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 w

h
ic
h
 h

a
v
e
 t
h
e
 p

o
te
n
ti
a
l 
to
 a

ff
e
c
t 

p
ro
te
c
te
d
 s
p
e
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t 
s
p
e
c
ie
s
 w

ill
 

re
q
u
ir
e
 

a
n
 

e
c
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

a
n
d
 

im
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

 

E
c
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
(a
n
d
 g
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l)
 s
u
rv
e
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
 d
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l;
 d
e
s
k
 s
tu
d
y 
a
n
d
 f
ie
ld
 s
u
rv
e
y
 (
e
x
te
n
d
e
d
 P

h
a
s
e
 1
 h
a
b
it
a
t 
s
u
rv
e
y 
a
n
d
 

d
e
ta
ile

d
 (
s
p
e
c
ie
s
) 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
 a
s
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
) 
o
f 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 

o
th
e
r 
a
re
a
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
; 
e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
fe
a
tu
re
s
 a
n
d
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
ik
e
ly
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 o

f 
th
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l;
 d

is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o

f 
m
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
, 

c
o
m
p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 –
 t
h
e
 m

it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 
to
 
th
e
 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 
im

p
a
c
ts
 
a
n
d
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 
c
le
a
r,
 
s
it
e
-

s
p
e
c
if
ic
 
p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
s
 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 
v
a
g
u
e
, 
g
e
n
e
ra
l 
o
r 
in
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 
p
o
s
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 

a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
e
a
s
ib
le
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
. 
S
u
rv
e
ys
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
t 
a
n
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
im

e
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
b
y
 s
u
it
a
b
ly
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 e
c
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 a
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 c
o
m
p
ly
 w

it
h
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
. 

A
 p

ro
te
c
te
d
 s
p
e
c
ie
s
 i
s
 o

n
e
 w

h
ic
h
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 l
e
g
a
l 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 U

K
 o

r 
E
u
ro
p
e
a
n
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
: 

 

Page 104



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 5
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

   

•
 

T
h
e
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

H
a
b
it
a
ts
 

a
n
d
 

S
p
e
c
ie
s
 

(A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
t)
 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
2
 

•
 

W
ild

lif
e
 a
n
d
 C

o
u
n
tr
ys

id
e
 A
c
t 
1
9
8
1
 (
a
s
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
),
 

•
 

T
h
e
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
B
a
d
g
e
rs
 A
c
t 
1
9
9
2
 (
lin

k
) 

 Im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
h
a
b
it
a
ts
 a
n
d
 s
p
e
c
ie
s
 a
re
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 a
s
: 

•
 

H
a
b
it
a
ts
 
o
r 

s
p
e
c
ie
s
 
w
h
ic
h
 
a
re
 
th
e
 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
o
f 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
o
r 

lo
c
a
l 

B
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 
A
c
ti
o
n
 
P
la
n
s
 
(l
in
k
: 
h
tt
p
:/
/w

w
w
.b
b
c
w
ild

lif
e
.o
rg
.u
k
/w
h
a
t-

w
e
-d
o
/b
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
/b
a
p
-u
p
d
a
te
) 

H
a
b
it
a
ts
 
o
r 
s
p
e
c
ie
s
 
lis
te
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 
h
a
b
it
a
ts
 
o
r 
s
p
e
c
ie
s
 
o
f 

p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
im

p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
b
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
n
 E

n
g
la
n
d
 (
s
e
c
ti
o
n
 

4
1
, 

N
a
tu
ra
l 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 
R
u
ra
l 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 
A
c
t 

2
0
0
6
) 

(l
in
k
: 

h
tt
p
:/
/w

w
w
.n
a
tu
ra
le
n
g
la
n
d
.o
rg
.u
k
/o
u
rw

o
rk
/c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
/b
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
/p
ro
te
c
ta

n
d
m
a
n
a
g
e
/h
a
b
s
a
n
d
s
p
e
c
ie
s
im

p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
.a
s
p
x
) 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
o
n
 
d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 
n
a
tu
re
 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 
s
it
e
s
 
c
a
n
 
b
e
 
fo
u
n
d
 
in
 
th
e
 

a
d
o
p
te
d
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 2
0
0
1
-2
0
1
1
, 
o
r 
c
a
n
 b
e
 o
b
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 c
o
n
ta
c
ti
n
g
 

S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 W

ild
lif
e
 T
ru
s
t.
 

If
 
a
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 
lik
e
ly
 
to
 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 
a
n
 
in
te
rn
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 
o
r 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 

d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 
s
it
e
, 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 
a
re
 
a
ls
o
 
a
d
v
is
e
d
 
to
 
s
e
e
k
 
a
d
v
ic
e
 
fr
o
m
 
N
a
tu
ra
l 

E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 s
c
o
p
e
 o
f 
th
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
, 
e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

a
n
d
 m

it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 o
b
ta
in
e
d
 f
ro
m
: 

In
s
ti
tu
te
 o
f 
E
c
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
a
t 
M
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 G

u
id
e
lin

e
s
 (
N
a
tu
ra
l 
E
n
g
la
n
d
, 
2
0
0
4
) 

G
re
a
t 
C
re
s
te
d
 N

e
w
t 
M
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 G

u
id
e
lin

e
s
 (
N
a
tu
ra
l 
E
n
g
la
n
d
, 
2
0
0
1
) 
 

B
a
t 
S
u
rv
e
ys
 G

o
o
d
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 G

u
id
e
lin

e
s
 (
B
a
t 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 T
ru
s
t,
 2
0
1
2
  
  

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 
o
n
 
d
e
c
id
in
g
 
w
h
e
n
 
a
 
b
a
t 

s
u
rv
e
y
 
is
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
. 

(s
e
e
 
a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t)
 

Page 105



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 6
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

 
7
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

          

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 1
, 
2
 &
 6
 

  

A
ll 

M
a
jo
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

w
h
ic
h
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 

s
o
m
e
 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 
e
le
m
e
n
ts
. 
 

A
 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
n
y
 
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
a
n
d
 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 
a
n
d
 

c
o
s
ts
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
: 
d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
a
n
y
 n
e
w
 j
o
b
s
 t
h
a
t 

m
ig
h
t 
b
e
 
c
re
a
te
d
 
o
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
; 
th
e
 
re
la
ti
v
e
 
fl
o
o
r 
s
p
a
c
e
 
to
ta
ls
 
fo
r 
e
a
c
h
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 u
s
e
 (
w
h
e
re
 k
n
o
w
n
);
 a
n
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
; 
a
n
d
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 a
n
y
 

re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
ig
h
t 
lie

 b
e
h
in
d
 o
r 
b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
. 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

A
d
o
p
te
d
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 2
0
0
1
-2
0
1
1
. 

T
h
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D

e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
c
a
n
 p
ro
v
id
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

w
h
ic
h
 m

a
y
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t.
 

8
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

(E
IA
) 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 8
 &
 1
1
 

 T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 

C
o
u
n
tr
y
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

(E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t)
 

(E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 

W
a
le
s
) 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
1
 

(S
I 
2
0
1
1
 N

o
. 

1
8
2
4
) 
 

 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 v
ir
tu
e
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 n
a
tu
re
, 

s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
re
 l
is
te
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
c
h
e
d
u
le
 1
 

o
f 
th
e
 E
IA
 R

e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
. 
  

 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 S

c
h
e
d
u
le
 2
 o
f 
th
e
 E

IA
 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
y
 a
ls
o
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 a
n
 E
IA
. 

W
h
e
re
 a
n
 E
IA
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
a
n
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm

 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le
 
4
 
to
 
th
e
 
re
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 
m
u
s
t 
b
e
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
. 
W
h
e
re
 
a
n
 
E
IA
 
is
 
n
o
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
, 

th
e
 
L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 
m
a
y 

s
ti
ll 

re
q
u
ir
e
 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
. 
 

 Y
o
u
 s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
a
 s
c
re
e
n
in
g
 o
p
in
io
n
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 o
f 
a
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
f 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
re
a
 i
s
 o
v
e
r 
0
.5
h
a
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
 i
f 
a
n
 E

IA
 i
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
  
A
 s
c
re
e
n
in
g
 o
p
in
io
n
 c
a
n
 b
e
 o
b
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 w

ri
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B

o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

  

9
 

F
lo
o
d
 R
is
k
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 

F
lo
o
d
 Z
o
n
e
 2
 o
r 
3
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

T
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
0
 

  

A
 
s
it
e
 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 
fl
o
o
d
 
ri
s
k
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

w
ill
 
b
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o

f 
1
 h

e
c
ta
re
 o

r 
g
re
a
te
r 
in
 

F
lo
o
d
 Z
o
n
e
 1
. 

 A
ll 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
fo
r 

n
e
w
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

m
in
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 o

f 
u
s
e
) 
in
 F

lo
o
d
 

Z
o
n
e
s
 2
 a
n
d
 3
, 
o
r 
in
 a
n
 a
re
a
 w

it
h
in
 F
lo
o
d
 Z
o
n
e
 1
 

th
a
t 
h
a
s
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
d
ra
in
a
g
e
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 (
a
s
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 

L
P
A
 

o
r 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

A
g
e
n
c
y
),
 

u
n
le
s
s
 

o
th
e
rw

is
e
 
a
g
re
e
d
 
in
 
w
ri
ti
n
g
 
b
y
 
th
e
 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

A
 f
lo
o
d
 r
is
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
tr
o
lli
n
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

w
h
e
re
 i
t 
m
a
y 
b
e
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 a

ff
e
c
te
d
 b

y 
fl
o
o
d
in
g
 o

r 
a
ff
e
c
t 
fl
o
o
d
in
g
 e

ls
e
w
h
e
re
. 

T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 d
ra
in
a
g
e
 s
ys
te
m
s
. 
 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

F
lo
o
d
 Z
o
n
e
 m

a
p
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila

b
le
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
A
g
e
n
c
y
. 

T
h
e
 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 
P
o
lic
y 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 
a
n
d
 
a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
y
in
g
 
T
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

Page 106



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 7
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

A
g
e
n
c
y
' 
 

 C
ri
ti
c
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 a
re
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 a
s
: 

 • 
a
n
y
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
a
t 
ri
s
k
 
o
f 
s
u
rf
a
c
e
 

w
a
te
r 
fl
o
o
d
in
g
  

• 
a
n
y
 d

e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
w
it
h
in
 2

5
0
m
 o

f 
a
n
 

h
is
to
ri
c
 f
lo
o
d
in
g
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

• 
a
n
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w

it
h
in
 a
 ‘
lo
c
a
l 
fl
o
o
d
 

ri
s
k
 

a
re
a
’ 

d
e
fi
n
e
d
 

b
y
 

th
e
 

S
u
rf
a
c
e
 

W
a
te
r 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 w

h
e
n
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 

 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 o
f 
fl
o
o
d
 r
is
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
tr
o
lli
n
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

  

1
0
 
F
lu
e
s
 &
 V
e
n
ti
la
ti
o
n
 

e
x
tr
a
c
ti
o
n
 d
e
ta
il
s
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
 

 

A
ll 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
o
o
k
in
g
 o
f 
fo
o
d
 (
o
n
 

m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 a
 d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 s
c
a
le
) 
a
n
d
 a
ll 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

a
n
d
 
in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 
th
a
t 

p
ro
d
u
c
e
 

fu
m
e
s
, 

v
a
p
o
u
rs
, 

g
a
s
e
s
, 

o
d
o
u
rs
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
te
 m

a
tt
e
r 
o
r 
u
s
e
 v
o
la
ti
le
 c
h
e
m
ic
a
ls
. 
 

 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 
 

•
 

E
le
v
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 s
h
o
w
 p
o
s
it
io
n
, 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 h
e
ig
h
t 
(w

h
e
re
 e
x
te
rn
a
l)
. 
 

•
 

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
fi
n
is
h
e
s
 a
n
d
 f
ix
in
g
s
. 
 

•
 

M
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
re
r’
s
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 m

a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
 

•
 

E
x
h
a
u
s
t 
v
e
lo
c
it
y
 a
t 
te
rm

in
u
s
. 
 

•
 

S
ile

n
c
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
 

•
 

M
e
a
n
s
 o
f 
v
ib
ra
ti
o
n
 i
s
o
la
ti
o
n
. 
 

•
 

E
x
tr
a
c
ti
o
n
 f
a
n
 a
c
o
u
s
ti
c
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 n
o
is
e
  

•
 

E
m
is
s
io
n
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
s
o
u
n
d
 p
o
w
e
r 
a
n
d
 s
o
u
n
d
 p
re
s
s
u
re
 l
e
v
e
ls
, 
a
n
d
 

n
a
rr
o
w
-b
a
n
d
 a
n
d
/o
r 
o
n
e
-t
h
ir
d
 o
c
ta
v
e
 b
a
n
d
 f
re
q
u
e
n
c
y
 s
p
e
c
tr
a
).
  

•
 

P
re
d
ic
te
d
 o
d
o
u
r 
a
n
d
/o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
te
 c
o
n
c
e
n
tr
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

 

1
1
 
H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
2
 

 

A
n
y
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
a
ff
e
c
ts
 a
 h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 a
s
s
e
t 
a
n
d
 /
 

o
r 
it
s
 s
e
tt
in
g
. 
 

 H
e
d
g
e
ro
w
 
re
m
o
v
a
l 
m
a
y 
a
ls
o
 
re
q
u
ir
e
 
a
 
H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
w
h
e
re
 
it
 
fo
rm

s
 
p
a
rt
 
o
f 
a
 
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

h
is
to
ri
c
 
la
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 
o
r 

a
re
a
 
o
f 

a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l.
  

 A
 
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 
a
ls
o
 
b
e
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
in
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
is
tu
rb
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
g
ro
u
n
d
 
w
it
h
in
 
a
 
k
n
o
w
n
 
a
re
a
 
o
f 
a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
c
e
, 
o
r 
in
 o
th
e
r 
a
re
a
s
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
o
f 
m
a
jo
r 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 

o
r 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

w
o
rk
s
, 

w
h
e
re
 

a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

re
m
a
in
s
 m

a
y 
s
u
rv
iv
e
, 
a
s
 m

a
y
 b
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ie
d
 i
n
 p
re
-

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 a
d
v
ic
e
. 
 

 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

A
s
s
e
ts
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 

L
is
te
d
 

B
u
ild

in
g
s
, 

A
 H

e
ri
ta
g
e
 S

ta
te
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
 l
is
te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
/ 
A
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
y
 a

p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

in
c
lu
d
e
: 

  

•
 

A
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l,
 a
rc
h
it
e
c
tu
ra
l,
 h
is
to
ri
c
a
l 
o
r 
o
th
e
r 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 b
u
ild

in
g
, 
it
s
 s
it
e
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 s
e
tt
in
g
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
n
y
 p
re
-

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
. 

  

•
 

A
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
 o
f 
w
o
rk
s
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 b
u
ild

in
g
, 
it
s
 s
it
e
 a
n
d
 s
e
tt
in
g
. 
 

 
 

•
 

A
n
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
n
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
in
te
re
s
t 

a
n
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
th
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
, 
it
s
 s
it
e
 a

n
d
 s
e
tt
in
g
 
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
o
f 
a
n
y
 

a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 a
s
s
e
ts
. 
 

 
 

•
 

A
 j
u
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
, 
in
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 a
p
p
lie

d
, 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 a
n
y
 m

it
ig
a
ti
o
n
s
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
. 
 

•
 

 

•
 

A
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
s
 9
9
-1
0
9
 o
f 

Page 107



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 8
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

A
re
a
s
 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 

M
o
n
u
m
e
n
ts
, 

A
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
S
it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 
re
g
is
te
re
d
 
p
a
rk
s
 
a
n
d
 

g
a
rd
e
n
s
; 
a
n
d
 
a
n
y
 
n
o
n
 
d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 
a
s
s
e
ts
 
w
h
ic
h
 

h
a
v
e
 a
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
rc
h
it
e
c
tu
ra
l,
 h
is
to
ri
c
, 
a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 

o
r 
a
rt
is
ti
c
 i
n
te
re
s
t.
  

th
e
 
P
P
S
5
 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 
G
u
id
e
, 

a
n
d
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 
a
 
W

ri
tt
e
n
 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 
o
f 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 (
P
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
s
 1
3
0
-1
3
8
 o
f 
th
e
 P
P
S
5
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 G

u
id
e
).
 

  •
 

S
h
o
u
ld
 a
 H

e
ri
ta
g
e
 A

s
s
e
t 
b
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
m
o
lit
io
n
 o
n
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

g
ro
u
n
d
s
, 
a
 m

a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
 w

ill
 b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 

 A
 H

e
ri
ta
g
e
 S

ta
te
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 o
r 
a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 
to
 a
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 
 

 

•
 

A
n
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 

a
n
d
 a
p
p
e
a
ra
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 a
re
a
 m

a
y 
b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 

 A
 H

e
ri
ta
g
e
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
n
 u
n
d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 H

e
ri
ta
g
e
 A
s
s
e
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 
 

 
 

•
 

A
n
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 

a
n
d
 a
p
p
e
a
ra
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 a
re
a
 m

a
y 
b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 

 A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 a
re
 a
d
v
is
e
d
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w

it
h
 e
it
h
e
r 
a
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
o
r 

a
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
b
e
fo
re
 a
n
y
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
. 
 

 

1
2
 
L
a
n
d
 C
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
  

D
e
s
k
 S
tu
d
y
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

W
h
e
re
 

th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

s
it
e
 

is
 

k
n
o
w
n
 

o
r 

s
u
s
p
e
c
te
d
 
to
 
b
e
 
a
ff
e
c
te
d
 
b
y
 
la
n
d
 
c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

(e
.g
. 

h
a
s
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 
b
e
e
n
 
u
s
e
d
 
fo
r 

in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
s
 o
r 
is
 a
 l
a
n
d
fi
ll 
s
it
e
).
 

A
ll 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 
to
 
th
e
 
e
ff
e
c
ts
 
o
f 

c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 
(r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 
a
n
d
 

p
re
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
n
u
rs
e
ri
e
s
).
 

 

T
h
e
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
e
x
a
m
in
e
 
th
e
 
lik
e
lih

o
o
d
 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
re
s
e
n
c
e
 
o
f 
la
n
d
 

c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
it
s
 
n
a
tu
re
 
a
n
d
 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
ri
s
k
 
to
 
th
e
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 

a
n
d
 w

h
a
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 a
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 s
it
e
 i
s
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
 

T
h
e
 m

in
im

u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 i
s
 a

 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
f 
a
 d

e
s
k
 t
o
p
 s
tu
d
y
 a

n
d
 s
it
e
 w

a
lk
-o
v
e
r.
 

P
ri
o
r 

to
 
th
e
 
s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 
o
f 

a
 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 
fo
r 

a
 
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 

re
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 
a
re
 
a
d
v
is
e
d
 
to
 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 

th
e
 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 
to
 
d
is
c
u
s
s
 
w
h
a
t 
m
a
y
 
b
e
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
to
 
a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 
th
e
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
. 

1
3
 
L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
1
 

  

A
ll 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
(e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 
H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
e
r,
 
L
is
te
d
 

B
u
ild

in
g
 
C
o
n
s
e
n
t,
 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 
A
re
a
 
C
o
n
s
e
n
t,
 

A
d
v
e
rt
is
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
u
s
e
) 
p
lu
s
 w

h
e
re
 a
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
ff
e
c
ts
 
th
e
 
s
e
tt
in
g
 
o
f 
a
 
d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 

h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 
a
s
s
e
t,
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 
a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
d
 
b
y
 
h
a
rd
 

a
n
d
 s
o
ft
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 d
e
ta
ils
. 
 

 

A
 
la
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 
d
ra
w
n
 
to
 
a
n
 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 
s
c
a
le
 
(u
s
u
a
lly
 

1
:1
0
0
 o
r 
1
:2
0
0
) 
a
n
d
 s
h
o
w
 f
u
ll 
d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
. 
T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 d

e
ta
ils
 o

f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 s
p
e
c
ie
s
, 
h
e
ig
h
t 
a
t 
p
la
n
ti
n
g
, 
s
p
a
c
in
g
, 
d
e
n
s
it
ie
s
, 

a
lo
n
g
 
w
it
h
 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 
fo
r 
th
e
 
o
n
g
o
in
g
 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 
a
n
d
 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 

la
n
d
s
c
a
p
in
g
. 
 

  

Page 108



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 9
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

1
4
 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 8
 

 

S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 
in
v
o
lv
in
g
 
th
e
 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 
o
f 
fl
o
o
d
lig

h
ti
n
g
 

o
n
 

e
it
h
e
r 

re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

o
r 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 f
lo
o
d
lig

h
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

th
a
t 

w
ill
 
c
o
v
e
r 

s
u
c
h
 
m
a
tt
e
rs
 
a
s
, 

lig
h
t 

s
p
ill
a
g
e
, 

h
o
u
rs
 
o
f 

ill
u
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
lig

h
t 
le
v
e
ls
, 
c
o
lu
m
n
 h
e
ig
h
ts
, 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
o
lo
u
r,
 t
re
a
tm

e
n
t 

fo
r 
la
m
p
s
 a
n
d
 l
u
m
in
a
ri
e
s
, 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
fu
ll 
h
o
ri
z
o
n
ta
l 
c
u
t-
o
ff
; 
n
o
 d
is
tr
a
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

th
e
 
h
ig
h
w
a
y
; 
le
v
e
ls
 
o
f 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 
n
e
a
rb
y
 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
; 
u
s
e
 
o
f 
d
e
m
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

c
o
lu
m
n
s
; 
re
te
n
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
c
re
e
n
in
g
 v
e
g
e
ta
ti
o
n
; 
u
s
e
 o
f 
p
la
n
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 b
u
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 

c
o
n
ta
in
 l
ig
h
ti
n
g
 e
ff
e
c
ts
. 

1
5
 
N
o
is
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

s
o
u
n
d
 i
n
s
u
la
ti
o
n
 

d
e
ta
il
s
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

  

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

th
a
t 

ra
is
e
 

is
s
u
e
s
 

o
f 

d
is
tu
rb
a
n
c
e
 
to
 
n
e
w
 
o
r 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
, 
o
r 
a
re
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
o
 b
e
 n
o
is
e
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 

S
o
u
n
d
 
in
s
u
la
ti
o
n
 
d
e
ta
ils
 
w
ill
 
b
e
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
fo
r 
th
e
 

fo
llo

w
in
g
 t
y
p
e
s
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
: 

•
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 
o
f 
u
s
e
 
to
 
A
3
, 
A
4
, 
A
5
 
(a
ls
o
 
s
e
e
 

C
ri
te
ri
o
n
 8
) 
 

•
 

c
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 o
f 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
u
s
e
  

•
 

n
e
w
 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 

c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
s
  

•
 

n
e
w
 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 

ra
ilw

a
y
 l
in
e
s
 

•
 

n
e
w
 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
a
re
a
s
 w

h
ic
h
 c
o
n
ta
in
 B

2
 

a
n
d
/o
r 
B
8
 u
s
e
s
 

•
 

n
e
w
 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

n
e
a
r 

to
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
3
, 
A
4
 o
r 
A
5
 u
s
e
s
  

•
 

n
e
w
 
B
2
 
a
n
d
/o
r 

B
8
 
u
s
e
s
 
a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 

to
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

•
 

a
n
y
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

fo
r 

a
 

n
ig
h
tc
lu
b
 

o
r 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
u
s
e
  

C
e
rt
a
in
 

o
th
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

s
u
c
h
 

a
s
 

d
a
y
 

n
u
rs
e
ri
e
s
, 

p
la
y
 
a
re
a
s
, 

s
m
o
k
in
g
 
s
h
e
lt
e
rs
, 

a
n
d
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
/ 
p
la
c
e
s
 
o
f 
w
o
rs
h
ip
 
c
a
n
 
g
e
n
e
ra
te
 

n
o
is
e
 
a
n
d
 
m
a
y 

w
a
rr
a
n
t 
n
o
is
e
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 
a
n
d
 

th
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
o
is
e
 m

it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 b
u
t 

th
is
 w

ill
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 m

o
re
 o
n
 a
 s
it
e
 b
y
 s
it
e
 b
a
s
is
 

T
h
e
 N

o
is
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 o
u
tl
in
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 o
f 
n
o
is
e
, 

a
n
d
 
h
o
w
 
th
e
s
e
 
m
a
y 

h
a
v
e
 
a
 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 
e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 
lo
c
a
l 
a
m
e
n
it
y
 
fo
r 
e
it
h
e
r 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
o
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
o
c
c
u
p
ie
rs
. 
T
h
e
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
o
u
tl
in
e
 
h
o
w
 
th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 
in
te
n
d
s
 t
o
 o
v
e
rc
o
m
e
 t
h
e
s
e
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

W
h
e
re
 n
o
is
e
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
n
 i
s
s
u
e
, 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 a
re
 a
d
v
is
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
th
e
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 
p
ri
o
r 
to
 
th
e
 
s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 
o
f 
a
 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
o
n
 
U
s
e
 
C
la
s
s
e
s
 
g
u
id
e
 
c
a
n
 
b
e
 
fo
u
n
d
 
o
n
 
th
e
 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
rt
a
l 
w
e
b
s
it
e
 

1
6
 
P
a
rk
in
g
 a
n
d
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 

d
e
ta
il
s
 (
P
a
rk
in
g
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
) 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
 

A
ll 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

h
e
re
 p
a
rk
in
g
 /
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
re
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 

D
e
ta
ils
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 o
f 
th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
p
a
rk
in
g
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
c
yc

le
s
) 
to
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 a
lo
n
g
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 d
e
ta
ils
. 

T
h
e
s
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 d
e
ta
ile

d
 a
n
d
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
o
n
 a
 s
c
a
le
d
 d
ra
w
in
g
. 
 

 T
h
e
 d
e
ta
ils
 s
h
o
u
ld
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 w

o
rk
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
te
 

Page 109



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
0
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

  
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
 a

ll 
th
e
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 

d
e
s
ig
n
. 
 

 

1
7
 
P
h
o
to
g
ra
p
h
s
 &
 

p
h
o
to
m
o
n
ta
g
e
s
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 5
, 
1
1
 &
 

1
2
 

  

R
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 
 

 •
 

T
e
le
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

•
 

W
in
d
 t
u
rb
in
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
 

•
 

M
a
jo
r 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

a
n
d
 

re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 w

h
ic
h
 w

ill
 a
lt
e
r 
a
 s
tr
e
e
ts
c
e
n
e
  

•
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
in
v
o
lv
in
g
 
th
e
 
d
e
m
o
lit
io
n
 
o
f 

a
n
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
b
u
ild

in
g
 
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 
a
 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
 o
r 
a
 l
is
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

 T
e
le
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 S
P
D
 

  

1
8
 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

O
b
li
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 D
ra
ft
 

H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
T
e
rm
s
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 1
, 
2
, 
4
, 

6
, 
8
, 
1
0
, 
1
1
 &
 1
2
 

 

O
p
e
n
 
s
p
a
c
e
 
a
n
d
 
p
la
y 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 
- 
o
n
 
s
it
e
s
 
o
f 
2
0
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 
o
r 
m
o
re
, 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 
o
f 
o
p
e
n
 
s
p
a
c
e
 
w
ill
 

n
o
rm

a
lly
 
b
e
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 
c
u
rt
ila

g
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

s
it
e
 

a
n
d
/o
r 

th
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
/e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
o
p
e
n
 
s
p
a
c
e
 

o
u
ts
id
e
 o
f 
th
e
 s
it
e
. 
  

 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 
- 
to
 
b
e
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
w
h
e
n
 
1
5
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 a
re
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 
–
 
a
 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 
to
 
b
e
 
m
a
d
e
 

w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 i
n
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 w

it
h
in
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 

W
h
e
re
 
a
d
o
p
te
d
 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 
L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 
o
r 

S
P
D
 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 
re
q
u
ir
e
s
 
th
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 
o
f 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
, 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 
B
o
ro
u
g
h
 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

w
ill
 
n
e
e
d
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 t
h
e
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 o
p
e
n
 m

a
rk
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
. 

W
h
e
re
 a
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
0
6
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
D
ra
ft
 H

e
a
d
s
 o
f 
T
e
rm

s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
. 

T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
th
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 n
o
n
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
o
ff
e
r 
a
n
d
 d
e
ta
ils
 

o
f 
y
o
u
r 
s
o
lic
it
o
r 
w
h
o
 w

ill
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 L
e
g
a
l 
A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 S

e
c
ti
o
n
 1

0
6
 c
a
n
 b

e
 f
o
u
n
d
 o

n
 t
h
e
 B

o
ro
u
g
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

w
e
b
s
it
e
. 
A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 s
p
e
a
k
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
P
A
 i
n
 p
re
-a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 

a
n
d
 c
o
n
fi
rm

 a
n
y
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
a
y
 a
p
p
ly
. 

A
d
o
p
te
d
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 2
0
0
1
-2
0
1
1
 P

o
lic
y 
E
N
V
1
3
: 
P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
O
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 P
o
lic
y
 E
N
V
1
4
: 
O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 
N
e
w
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
P
D
 

 

Page 110



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
1
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

 
1
9
 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 1
, 
2
, 
4
, 

6
, 
8
, 
1
0
, 
1
1
 &
 1
2
 

  

A
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 p

la
n
n
in
g
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b

e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

fo
r 
a
ll 

m
a
jo
r 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
m
a
jo
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
o
f 
u
s
e
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
lis
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

T
h
e
 
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 
th
e
 
c
o
n
te
x
t 

a
n
d
 
n
e
e
d
 
fo
r 

a
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 
a
n
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
h
o
w
 
th
e
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
c
c
o
rd
s
 
w
it
h
 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l,
 
re
g
io
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 
lo
c
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
o
lic
ie
s
. 
It
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
a
ls
o
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 
d
e
ta
ils
 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
L
o
c
a
l 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 
a
n
d
 
w
id
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/s
ta
tu
to
ry
 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
e
s
 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 

p
ri
o
r 

to
 
s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
. 
A
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
ly
, 
a
 
s
e
p
a
ra
te
 
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
y
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 
It
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
ly
 b
ri
e
f 
a
n
d
 n
o
t 

n
o
rm

a
lly
 e
x
c
e
e
d
 2
0
 p
a
g
e
s
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
In
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
m
e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 c
o
lu
m
n
. 

 

2
0
 
P
u
b
li
c
 O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 

a
n
d
 P
la
y
in
g
 F
ie
ld
s
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 8
 

 

T
h
is
 

is
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

fo
r 

s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 

w
it
h
 

a
n
y
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 

 

•
 

a
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
re
a
 o
f 
o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 

•
 

n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 

p
la
y
in
g
 

fi
e
ld
s
, 
o
r 

•
 

n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

o
f 

1
0
 

o
r 

m
o
re
 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
. 
 

 

F
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
o
p
e
n
 
s
p
a
c
e
 
th
e
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
s
e
e
k
 
to
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 l
a
n
d
 o
r 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 a
re
 s
u
rp
lu
s
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
T
h
e
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
s
h
o
w
 
a
n
y
 
a
re
a
s
 
o
f 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
o
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 w

it
h
in
 o
r 
a
d
jo
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
it
e
. 

 W
h
e
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
ff
e
c
ts
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
s
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo

w
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
h
a
ll 
b
e
 

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
: 
 

•
 

th
e
 s
iz
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
; 
 

•
 

a
n
 e

x
is
ti
n
g
 s
it
e
 p

la
n
 t
o
 a

 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 s
c
a
le
, 
s
h
o
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 l
a
y
o
u
t 
o
f 

w
in
te
r 
a
n
d
 s
u
m
m
e
r 
p
it
c
h
e
s
; 
 

•
 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
p
o
rt
s
 p
la
y
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 u
s
a
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 s
it
e
; 
 

•
 

a
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
s
it
e
 
p
la
n
, 
s
h
o
w
in
g
 
h
o
w
 
n
e
w
 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 
a
n
d
 
w
o
rk
s
 
w
ill
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
y
o
u
t 
o
f 
p
it
c
h
e
s
; 
a
n
d
  

•
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
n
y
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
 

  W
h
e
re
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 a
n
d
/ 
o
r 
a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
re
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 

o
n
s
it
e
 o
r 
in
-k
in
d
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 m

u
s
t 
d
e
fi
n
e
 t
h
e
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 

s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
to
 a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
e
tt
in
g
 o
u
t:
 -
  

 
• 
  
 A
 m

a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 w

o
rk
s
; 
a
n
d
  

• 
 
 
 
 
H
o
w
 
th
e
 
fa
c
ili
ty
 
w
ill
 
b
e
 
in
it
ia
lly
 
in
s
ta
lle

d
 
a
n
d
 
s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 

m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
t 
le
a
s
t 
1
0
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 

 W
h
e
re
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 e
n
ti
re
ly
 o
n
-s
it
e
 o
r 
c
a
n
 o
n
ly
 

b
e
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
o
n
-s
it
e
 
in
 
p
a
rt
, 
y
o
u
 
w
ill
 
b
e
 
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 
to
 
m
a
k
e
 
a
 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 a
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 O

b
lig

a
ti
o
n
. 
 

Page 111



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
2
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

2
1
 
R
e
fu
s
e
 c
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

A
ll 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
m
a
jo
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 
 

 

W
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 r
e
fu
s
e
 d

is
p
o
s
a
l,
 a

re
a
s
 a

n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b

e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
o
 

c
a
te
r 

fo
r 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

a
n
d
 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 
w
a
s
te
 
lik
e
ly
 
to
 
a
ri
s
e
 
fr
o
m
 
th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
  

A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 
a
re
 
a
d
v
is
e
d
 
to
 
d
is
c
u
s
s
 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
w
it
h
 
T
h
e
 
B
o
ro
u
g
h
 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 

W
a
s
te
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 b
e
fo
re
 m

a
k
in
g
 a
n
y
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
. 

 

2
2
 
S
e
q
u
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 

Im
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 2
  

  

A
 s
e
q
u
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 
m
a
in
 

to
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 u
s
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 n
o
t 
in
 a
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 c
e
n
tr
e
 

a
s
 
d
e
fi
n
e
d
 
w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 
a
d
o
p
te
d
 
T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 
L
o
c
a
l 

P
la
n
 2
0
0
1
-2
0
1
1
. 

 A
n
 
Im

p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 
b
e
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
fo
r 
a
ll 

re
ta
il,
 l
e
is
u
re
 o
r 
o
ff
ic
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
u
ts
id
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

to
w
n
 
c
e
n
tr
e
, 

a
s
 
d
e
fi
n
e
d
 
w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 
a
d
o
p
te
d
 

T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 2

0
0
1
-2
0
1
1
, 
if
 i
t 
e
x
c
e
e
d
s
 a

 
th
re
s
h
o
ld
 o
f 
2
5
0
0
 s
q
 m

. 
 

A
 S

e
q
u
e
n
ti
a
l 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 l
o
o
k
 a
t 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
re
 a
re
 a
n
y
 s
e
q
u
e
n
ti
a
lly
 

p
re
fe
ra
b
le
 
s
it
e
s
 
th
a
t 
e
x
is
t 
a
n
d
 
to
 
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 
w
h
y
 
s
u
c
h
 
s
it
e
s
 
a
re
 
n
o
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
a
l 
in
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 a
v
a
ila

b
ili
ty
, 
s
u
it
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
. 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
d
v
ic
e
 

c
a
n
 b
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 G

u
id
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
o
w
 r
e
p
la
c
e
d
 P
P
S
4
. 
 

 Im
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
s
s
e
s
s
: 
 

 1
) 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
, 
 

 2
) 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 v
it
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
to
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
, 
 

 3
) 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a
llo

c
a
te
d
 s
it
e
s
 o
u
ts
id
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
  

 4
) 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
o
n
 i
n
-c
e
n
tr
e
 t
ra
d
e
/t
u
rn
o
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 t
ra
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w

id
e
r 

a
re
a
, 
 

 5
) 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 c
o
n
s
u
m
e
r 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
a
tc
h
m
e
n
t 
a
re
a
, 
 

 6
) 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is
 o
f 
a
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
c
a
le
 a
n
d
 w

h
a
t 
im

p
a
c
t 
is
 m

a
y
 

h
a
v
e
 o
n
 l
o
c
a
lly
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
im

p
a
c
ts
. 
 

 N
P
P
F
 –
 “
Im

p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
o
n
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
, 
c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 a
n
d
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 a
n
d
 p
ri
v
a
te
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in
 a
 c
e
n
tr
e
 o
r 

c
e
n
tr
e
s
 
in
 
th
e
 
c
a
tc
h
m
e
n
t 
a
re
a
 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l;
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
o
n
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 v
it
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
m
e
r 
c
h
o
ic
e
 

a
n
d
 t
ra
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 a
n
d
 w

id
e
r 
a
re
a
, 
u
p
 t
o
 f
iv
e
 y
e
a
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 t
im

e
 

th
e
 a

p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
. 
F
o
r 
m
a
jo
r 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 w

h
e
re
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
w
ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 

re
a
liz
e
d
 i
n
 f
iv
e
 y
e
a
rs
, 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 u
p
 t
o
 t
e
n
 y
e
a
rs
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 t
im

e
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
” 
 

 

2
3
 
S
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
2
 

 

A
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
 w

ill
 b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo

w
in
g
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
: 

  i)
 T
h
e
 d
e
m
o
lit
io
n
 o
f 
a
 l
is
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
(s
),
 o
r 

ii)
 T
h
e
 c
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 o
f 
a
 l
is
te
d
 b
u
ild

in
g
 

iii
) 
D
e
m
o
lit
io
n
 o
f 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 i
n
 a
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
 

T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y 
a
re
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
c
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
m
a
jo
r 

a
lt
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 
o
r 
re
b
u
ild

in
g
 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
, 
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 
fo
r 
b
a
rn
 
c
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

Page 112



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
3
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

2
4
 
T
e
le
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n

s
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
  

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
 

 

F
o
r 
a
ll 
p
ri
o
r 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
a
n
d
 f
u
ll 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r 
te
le
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 m

o
b
ile

 p
h
o
n
e
 m

a
s
ts
 

A
ll 
p
ri
o
r 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
a
n
d
 f
u
ll 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 d
a
y
 n
u
rs
e
ri
e
s
. 
A
ll 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 m

u
s
t 
a
ls
o
 

b
e
 
a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
d
 
b
y
 
a
 
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 
w
h
e
n
 
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l,
 
w
ill
 

m
e
e
t 
th
e
 
IC

N
IR

P
 
(I
n
te
rn
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 
o
n
 
N
o
n
-I
o
n
iz
in
g
 
R
a
d
ia
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
) 
g
u
id
e
lin

e
s
. 
A
ls
o
 s
e
e
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
9
 f
o
r 
p
h
o
to
m
o
n
ta
g
e
s
. 
W

h
e
re
 n
e
w
 

b
a
s
e
 
s
ta
ti
o
n
s
 
a
re
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
o
n
 
n
o
n
-e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 
te
le
c
o
m
s
 
s
it
e
s
, 
a
 
lis
t 
o
f 

a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 s
it
e
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 a
ls
o
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
 B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
s
e
 o
n
 M

o
b
ile

 P
h
o
n
e
 N

e
tw

o
rk
 D

e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
(D

C
L
G
) 

 T
e
le
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 S
P
D
 

 

Page 113



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
4
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

2
5
 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
 

  

 
 A
ll 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
 v
e
ry
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

tr
a
ff
ic
 m

o
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

   

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
: 
 

 1
) 
ill
u
s
tr
a
te
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
it
e
 b
y
 a
ll 
m
o
d
e
s
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 l
ik
e
ly
 

m
o
d
a
l 
s
h
if
t;
  

 2
) 
d
e
ta
il 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 
to
 
im

p
ro
v
e
 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 
b
y
 
p
u
b
lic
 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
, 
w
a
lk
in
g
 
a
n
d
 

c
yc

lin
g
, 
s
o
 a
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
p
a
rk
in
g
; 
a
n
d
 

  3
) 
d
e
ta
il 
a
n
y
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
 m

it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk
s
. 
A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 a
re
 a
d
v
is
e
d
 t
o
 

s
e
e
k
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
e
x
p
e
rt
is
e
 a

n
d
 t
o
 d

is
c
u
s
s
 t
h
e
ir
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w

it
h
 
S
ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
(H

ig
h
w
a
ys
) 
a
t 
a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 s
ta
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 

  W
h
e
n
 
a
n
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 
h
a
s
 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 
im

p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

V
e
ri
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 
fo
rm

 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 
a
n
d
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
o
n
ly
 
b
e
 

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 i
n
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ie
d
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

  W
h
e
re
 
th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
w
ill
 
h
a
v
e
 
a
n
 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 
th
e
 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

H
ig
h
w
a
y 
N
e
tw

o
rk
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 u
s
e
 t
h
is
 f
o
rm

 t
o
 l
ia
is
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 H

ig
h
w
a
ys

 
A
g
e
n
c
y
, 
a
s
 w

e
ll 
a
s
 S

ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

o
u
n
ty
 C

o
u
n
c
il,
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 w

ri
tt
e
n
 c
o
n
fi
rm

 
th
a
t 
th
e
 s
c
o
p
e
 a
n
d
 d
e
ta
il 
o
f 
th
e
 T
A
 w

o
rk
 i
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 

  W
h
e
re
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 
re
q
u
ir
e
 
w
o
rk
 
w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
 

N
e
tw

o
rk
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 a
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 S
ta
g
e
 1
 R

o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 A

u
d
it
, 
a
 N

o
n
 –
 M

o
to
ri
s
e
d
 

U
s
e
r 
A
u
d
it
 
a
n
d
 
c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
fr
o
m
 
th
e
 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 
A
g
e
n
c
y
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
a
ls
o
 
b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 w

it
h
in
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
. 
 

 L
o
a
d
in
g
 a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
m
a
n
o
e
u
v
ri
n
g
, 
s
e
rv
ic
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
a
rk
in
g
 o
f 

v
e
h
ic
le
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 c
le
a
rl
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 

 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 c
a
n
 b
e
 o
b
ta
in
e
d
 f
ro
m
: 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 (
D
fT
/C

L
G
 (
2
0
0
7
))
  

2
6
 
T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
s
  

 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
 

 

T
ra
v
e
l 

P
la
n
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 
s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 
a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
w
h
ic
h
 
a
re
 
lik
e
ly
 
to
 
h
a
v
e
 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 
im

p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
(s
e
e
 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
lo
w
).
  

T
h
e
 s
c
o
p
e
 a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 T

ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

a
g
re
e
d
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
 A

u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

H
ig
h
w
a
ys
 
A
g
e
n
c
y
 
w
h
e
re
 
th
e
re
 
is
 
a
 
m
a
te
ri
a
l 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 R

o
a
d
 N

e
tw

o
rk
) 
p
ri
o
r 
to
 t
h
e
 

A
 (
d
ra
ft
) 
tr
a
v
e
l 
p
la
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 o
u
tl
in
e
 t
h
e
 w

a
y 
in
 w

h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 
th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
re
 
g
o
in
g
 
to
 
b
e
 
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 
in
 
o
rd
e
r 
to
 
e
n
s
u
re
 
th
e
 

m
in
im

u
m
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l,
 s
o
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
. 
D
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
h
o
w
 t
ra
ff
ic
 

im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
d
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
th
e
 t
ra
v
e
l 

p
la
n
 
c
o
o
rd
in
a
to
r,
 
th
e
 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 
fo
r 
th
e
 
p
la
n
 
–
 
e
.g
. 
a
 

s
te
e
ri
n
g
 
g
ro
u
p
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
. 
T
h
e
 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
a
ls
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
 t
o
 o
c
c
u
p
ie
rs
, 
u
s
e
rs
, 

v
is
it
o
rs
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 s
it
e
. 

Page 114



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
5
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 o
f 
a
n
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

  In
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 a

 T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
 o

r 
T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
 F

ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

th
e
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
. 
U
n
le
s
s
 
th
e
re
 
is
 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 
th
e
 
fo
rm

 
a
n
d
 
c
o
n
te
n
t 
o
f 
a
 

T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
 t
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 v
a
lid

a
te
d
. 
 

 In
 s
o
m
e
 c
a
s
e
s
, 
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 w

h
e
re
 o
n
ly
 M

in
im

a
lis
t 
T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
s
 a
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 

it
 i
s
 p

o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 a

g
re
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 T

ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
 a

ft
e
r 
th
e
 g

ra
n
ti
n
g
 o

f 
c
o
n
s
e
n
t.
 U

n
le
s
s
 t
h
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 o
f 
a
 M

in
im

a
lis
t 
T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 

w
ri
ti
n
g
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
th
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 v
a
lid

a
te
d
. 

  A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 
a
re
 
a
d
v
is
e
d
 
to
 
s
e
e
k
 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
e
x
p
e
rt
is
e
 
a
n
d
 
to
 
d
is
c
u
s
s
 
th
e
ir
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w

it
h
 S

ta
ff
o
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

o
u
n
ty
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
(H

ig
h
w
a
y
s
) 
a
t 
a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 s
ta
g
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 

 

2
7
 
T
re
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 /
 

a
rb
o
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra
l 

s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 W

id
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
1
 

 T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
  

C
o
u
n
tr
y
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

A
c
t 
1
9
9
0
, 
 

(S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
9
7
-

1
9
8
),
  

  

A
ll 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
w
h
e
re
 
th
e
 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

in
v
o
lv
e
s
 w

o
rk
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
a
y 
a
ff
e
c
t 
a
n
y
 t
re
e
s
 o
n
 o
r 
o
ff
 

th
e
 s
it
e
. 

 A
ll 
s
it
e
s
 w

h
e
re
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 T
re
e
 P
re
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 O

rd
e
r 

o
r 
a
n
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w

it
h
in
 a
 C

o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
 

 

A
ll 
tr
e
e
s
 a
re
 a
 m

a
te
ri
a
l 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 i
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
. 
A
 T
re
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 p
la
n
 a
s
 

s
p
e
c
if
ie
d
 
in
 
B
S
.5
8
3
7
:2
0
1
2
 
m
u
s
t 
b
e
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
s
h
o
w
in
g
 
th
e
 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
a
ll 

tr
e
e
s
 o
n
 s
it
e
 a
n
d
 w

it
h
in
 8
m
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
  

 A
 l
is
t 
o
f 
tr
e
e
s
 w

h
ic
h
 a
re
 d
e
s
ir
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
 o
f 
a
n
y
 w

o
rk
s
 

to
 r
e
ta
in
e
d
 t
re
e
s
 s
h
a
ll 
a
ls
o
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
lie

d
. 
  

 W
h
e
re
 t
re
e
s
 a
re
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 b
y
 a

 T
re
e
 P

re
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 O

rd
e
r 
o
r 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

A
re
a
 
le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 
a
 
re
p
o
rt
 
in
 
fu
ll 

a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 
w
it
h
 
B
S
5
8
3
7
:2
0
1
2
 
T
re
e
s
 
in
 

R
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 C

o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 2
0
0
5
 R

e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 m

u
s
t 
b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
. 
  

 G
iv
e
 
a
 
d
e
ta
ile

d
 
d
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
w
o
rk
s
, 
e
.g
. 
c
ro
w
n
 
th
in
n
in
g
, 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
/t
o
p
p
in
g
, 
lif
ti
n
g
, 
fe
lli
n
g
 o
r 
th
e
 r
e
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 
d
e
a
d
 d
y
in
g
 t
re
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 
fo
r 

it
. 
 
D
ig
it
a
l 
p
h
o
to
g
ra
p
h
s
 
o
f 
th
e
 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
tr
e
e
(s
) 

s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
. 
  
 

 A
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
e
n
g
in
e
e
r’
s
 o
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
o
r’
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
rb
o
ri
c
u
lt
u
ri
s
t’
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 i
f 
th
e
 

w
o
rk
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 r
e
la
te
s
 t
o
 s
u
b
s
id
e
n
c
e
 d
a
m
a
g
e
. 

 A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 a
re
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 T
re
e
 O

ff
ic
e
r 
b
e
fo
re
 

s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
. 
 

A
d
o
p
te
d
 T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 2
0
0
1
-2
0
1
1
 P

o
lic
y
 E

N
V
9
:P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
re
e
s
, 

W
o
o
d
la
n
d
s
 a
n
d
 H

e
d
g
e
ro
w
s
 

T
re
e
 P
re
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 O

rd
e
rs
 :
a
 g
u
id
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
a
w
 a
n
d
 g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
s
e
 (
D
C
L
G
) 

 

Page 115



T
a
m
w
o
rt
h
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
  
  
  
  
 P
a
g
e
 1
6
 o
f 
1
6
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

2
2
/0
5
/2
0
1
3
 

   

2
8
 
U
ti
li
ti
e
s
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
 

 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
  

T
h
is
 
is
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 
fo
r 
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 
m
a
jo
r 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

(i
.e
. 

5
0
 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 
o
r 

m
o
re
 
o
r 

1
0
,0
0
0
s
q
.m

. 
c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 
fl
o
o
rs
p
a
c
e
) 
 

 

D
e
ta
ils
 t
o
 d

e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 a

v
a
ila

b
ili
ty
 o

f 
u
ti
lit
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 g

a
s
 

w
a
te
r,
 
e
le
c
tr
ic
it
y
, 
fo
u
l 
d
ra
in
a
g
e
 
a
n
d
 
w
a
te
r 

s
u
p
p
ly
 
a
n
d
/o
r 

u
p
g
ra
d
in
g
 
o
f 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 r
o
u
ti
n
g
 o
f 
s
u
c
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 

 

Page 116


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Write Offs
	Appendix A-F Write Offs

	7 Welfare Benefit Reform Discretionary Payments
	Enc. 1 for Welfare Benefit Reform Discretionary Payments
	Enc. 2 for Welfare Benefit Reform Discretionary Payments
	Enc. 3 for Welfare Benefit Reform Discretionary Payments

	8 2014 Arts and Events Programme
	Enc. 1 for 2014 Arts and Events Programme RA
	Enc. 2 for 2014 Arts and Events Programme

	9 Tamworth Golf Course Future Options- Project Initiation
	Enc. 1 for Tamworth Golf Course Future Options- Project Initiation

	10 Planning Applications - Streamlining Information Requirements and Validation
	Enc. 1 for Planning Applications - Streamlining Information Requirements and Validation


